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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

      The consolidated financial statements included herein have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles and should be read in conjunction with the Company’s 2000 Form 10-K. The statements are unaudited but reflect all
adjustments which, in the opinion of management, are necessary to fairly present the Company’s financial position and results of
operations.
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RANGE RESOURCES CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands except share data)

          
December 31, June 30,

2000 2001

(Unaudited)
Assets
Current assets

Cash and equivalents $ 2,485 $ 2,829
Accounts receivable 33,221 38,774
IPF receivables (Note 4) 20,800 14,000
Unrealized hedging gain (Note 2) — 29,563
Inventory and other 5,580 3,759

62,086 88,925

IPF receivables (Note 4) 28,128 30,385
Oil and gas properties, successful efforts method (Note 15) 1,014,939 1,045,871

Accumulated depletion (443,097) (477,864)

571,842 568,007

Transportation and field assets (Note 2) 33,593 34,580
Accumulated depreciation (12,339) (13,779)

21,254 20,801

Other (Note 2) 5,855 4,049

$ 689,165 $ 712,167

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 26,730 $ 23,382
Accrued liabilities 11,341 13,636
Accrued interest 7,774 7,407
Current portion of long-term debt (Note 6) 14 14

45,859 44,439

Senior debt (Note 6) 89,900 88,800
Non-recourse debt (Note 6) 113,009 99,902
Subordinated notes (Note 6) 162,550 133,340
Trust Preferred (Note 6) 92,640 90,290
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8) — —
Deferred taxes (Note 12) — 11,615
Stockholders’ equity (Notes 9 and 10) 220 8

Preferred stock, $1 par, 10,000,000 shares authorized, $2.03 convertible
preferred, 219,935 and 7,735 issued and outstanding 220 8



Common stock, $.01 par, 100,000,000 shares authorized, 49,187,682 and
51,336,284 issued and outstanding

492 513

Capital in excess of par value 363,625 370,833
Retained earnings (deficit) (178,223) (144,979)
Other comprehensive income (loss) (Note 2) (907) 17,406

185,207 243,781

$ 689,165 $ 712,167

See accompanying notes.
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RANGE RESOURCES CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Unaudited, in thousands except per share data)

                  
Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2000 2001 2000 2001

Revenues
Oil and gas sales $37,876 $54,787 $76,845 $112,880
Transportation and processing 1,519 719 3,514 1,701
IPF income 3,114 2,325 5,040 5,971
Interest and other (1,173) 1,836 (1,224) 3,318

41,336 59,667 84,175 123,870

Expenses
Direct operating 9,017 11,742 18,265 24,346
IPF 1,247 812 2,504 2,022
Exploration 541 1,363 1,420 2,445
General and administrative 2,387 3,455 4,652 6,925
Interest 10,268 7,976 20,605 17,093
Depletion, depreciation and amortization 17,216 18,998 35,321 37,637

40,676 44,346 82,767 90,468

Income before taxes 660 15,321 1,408 33,402
Income taxes (Note 12)

Current (1,093) (51) (1,093) (51)
Deferred — 1,528 — 1,528

(1,093) 1,477 (1,093) 1,477

Income before extraordinary item 1,753 13,844 2,501 31,925
Extraordinary item

Gain on retirement of securities (Note 17) 6,982 895 10,515 1,327

Net income $ 8,735 $14,739 $13,016 $ 33,252

Comprehensive income (Note 2) $ 7,680 $64,172 $11,967 $ 51,565

Earnings per share, basic and diluted (Note 13)
Before extraordinary item $ 0.06 $ 0.27 $ 0.10 $ 0.64

After extraordinary item $ 0.23 $ 0.29 $ 0.36 $ 0.67

See accompanying notes.
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RANGE RESOURCES CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Unaudited, in thousands)

             
Six Months Ended June 30,

2000 2001

Cash flow from operations
Net income $ 13,016 $ 33,252
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided by operations:

Deferred taxes — 2,243
Depletion, depreciation and amortization 35,321 37,637
Writedown of marketable securities — 1,348
Unrealized hedging gains — (3,250)
Adjustment to IPF receivables (125) (2,320)
Amortization of deferred offering costs 841 1,382
Gain on retirement of securities (10,515) (1,948)
(Gain) loss on sale of assets 1,909 (1,066)
Changes in working capital:

Accounts receivable (7,350) (5,586)
Inventory and other (1,569) 906
Accounts payable (11,867) 2,480
Accrued liabilities (1,395) (1,319)

  Net cash provided by operations 18,266 63,759

Cash flow from investing
Oil and gas properties (14,958) (33,306)
IPF investments (2,456) (6,334)
IPF repayments 9,937 13,196
Proceeds from asset sales 22,918 1,031

  Net cash provided by (used in) investing 15,441 (25,413)

Cash flow from financing
Repayment of debt (46,004) (39,208)
Preferred dividends (985) (8)
Issuance of common stock 555 1,214

  Net cash used in financing (46,434) (38,002)

Change in cash (12,727) 344
Cash and equivalents, beginning of period 12,937 2,485

Cash and equivalents, end of period $ 210 $ 2,829

See accompanying notes.
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RANGE RESOURCES CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

      Range Resources Corporation (“Range”) is engaged in the development, acquisition and exploration of oil and gas properties
primarily in the Southwest, Gulf Coast and Appalachian regions of the United States. The Company also provides financing to
small oil and gas producers through a wholly-owned subsidiary, Independent Producer Finance (“IPF”). The Company seeks to
increase its reserves and production principally through development drilling and acquisitions. In 1999, Range and FirstEnergy
Corp. (“FirstEnergy”) contributed their Appalachian oil and gas assets to a joint venture, Great Lakes Energy Partners L.L.C.
(“Great Lakes”). To equalize their interests in the venture, Range transferred $188.3 million of indebtedness to it and FirstEnergy
contributed $2.0 million of cash.



      After a ten-year period of rapid growth and uninterrupted profitability, Range concluded a series of significant acquisitions in
1997 and 1998 which proved disappointing. Due to their poor performance, substantial write-downs were required and the
Company was forced to retrench. Staff was sharply reduced, capital expenditures were cut, assets were sold and exchanges of
common stock for fixed income securities were initiated. Since year-end 1998, parent company bank debt has been reduced by 76%
to $88.8 million. Total debt, including Trust Preferred, has been reduced 43% to $412.3 million. As a result, the Company’s
financial position has stabilized. The Company expects to continue to retire debt with internal cash flow and may exchange
additional stock or equity-linked securities for indebtedness. Stockholders could be materially diluted if a substantial portion of the
fixed income securities are exchanged for stock. While such exchanges reduce stockholders’ proportionate ownership, management
believes they enhance financial flexibility and will ultimately increase the value of the Company’s stock.

      With its financial strength restored, the Company has refocused on increasing production and reserves. Due to reserve revisions
and asset sales, reserves fell in 1999 and 2000. While the Company does not expect to achieve full reserve replacement in 2001,
projects currently underway should position it to accelerate production growth by the end of 2001 and to increase its reserves in
2002.

      The Company believes it has sufficient liquidity and cash flow to meet its obligations. However, a material decline in oil and
gas prices or a reduction in production and reserves would reduce its ability to fund capital expenditures, meet its financial
obligations and reduce leverage. The Company operates in an environment with numerous financial and operating risks, including,
but not limited to, the ability to acquire reserves on an attractive basis, the inherent risks of the search for, development and
production of oil and gas, the ability to sell production at prices which provide a satisfactory return and the highly competitive
nature of the industry. The Company’s ability to expand its reserve base is, in part, dependent on obtaining sufficient capital
through internal cash flow, borrowings or the issuance of debt or equity securities.

(2) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

      The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, all majority-owned subsidiaries and
a pro rata share of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of Great Lakes. Liquid investments with maturities of ninety days or
less are considered cash equivalents. Certain reclassifications have been made to the presentation of prior periods to conform with
current classifications.

Revenue Recognition

      The Company recognizes revenues from the sale of products and services in the period delivered. Revenues at IPF are
recognized in the period received. Although receivables are concentrated in the oil and gas industry, the Company does not view
this concentration as an unusual credit risk. The Company had allowances for doubtful accounts of $1.7 million at December 31,
2000 and June 30, 2001. At the same dates, IPF had valuation allowances of $15.3 million and $14.8 million, respectively.
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Marketable Securities

      The Company has adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 115, “Accounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities.” Pursuant to SFAS No. 115, the Company’s equity securities qualify as available-for-
sale. Such securities are recorded at fair value and unrealized gains and losses are reflected in Stockholders’ equity as a component
of comprehensive income. A decline in the market value of a security below cost deemed other than temporary is charged to
earnings and reflected in the book value of the security. Realized gains and losses are reflected in income. During the first quarter
of 2001, the Company determined that the decline in market value of an investment in an equity security was other than temporary.
A loss of $1.3 million was recorded as a reduction to Interest and other revenues in that period.

Great Lakes

      The Company contributed its Appalachian assets to Great Lakes in 1999, retaining a 50% interest in the venture. Great Lakes’
proved reserves, 85% of which are natural gas, approximated 481 Bcfe at December 31, 2000. In addition, the joint venture owns
4,700 miles of gas gathering and transportation lines and a leasehold position of approximately 1.1 million gross (992,000 net)
acres. Great Lakes has over 1,600 proved drilling locations within existing fields. At year-end, it had a reserve life index of
20 years.

Independent Producer Finance

      IPF acquires dollar denominated royalties in oil and gas properties from smaller producers. The royalties are accounted for as
receivables because the investment is recovered from an agreed-upon share of revenues until a specified rate of return is received.
The portion of payments received relating to the return is recognized as income; remaining receipts reduce receivables. Receivables
classified as current represent the return of capital expected to be received within twelve months. All receivables are evaluated
quarterly and provisions for uncollectible amounts are established. At June 30, 2001, IPF’s valuation allowance totaled



$14.8 million. On certain receivables, income is recorded at rates below those specified due to an assessment of risk. Due to
favorable oil and gas prices over the past 18 months, it appears likely that certain of these receivables will generate all or a greater
than anticipated percentage of contract returns. As a result, $816,000 and $1.9 million increases in receivables were recorded as
additional income for the three and six months ended June 30, 2001, respectively. In the first half of 2001, the book value of the
affected receivables was increased to reflect this. During the quarter and six months, IPF expenses were comprised of $419,000 and
$938,000 of general and administrative costs and $393,000 and $1.1 million of interest, respectively. During the comparable prior
year periods, expenses were comprised of $324,000 and $608,000 million of general and administrative costs and $926,000 and
$1.9 million of interest. IPF recorded reversals of its valuation allowance of $727,000 and $406,000 against its revenues during the
quarters ended June 30, 2000 and 2001, and $125,000 and $441,000 for the six months then ended, respectively.

Oil and Gas Properties

      The Company follows the successful efforts method of accounting. Exploratory drilling costs are capitalized pending
determination of whether a well is successful. Costs which result in discoveries and development costs are capitalized. Geological
and geophysical costs, delay rentals and costs to drill unsuccessful exploratory wells are expensed. Depletion is provided on the
unit-of-production method. Oil is converted to mcfe at the rate of six mcf per barrel. Depletion rates were $1.23 and $1.31 per mcfe
in the quarters ended June 30, 2000 and 2001, and $1.25 and $1.32 for the six months, respectively. Unproved properties had a net
book value of $49.5 million and $37.4 million at December 31, 2000 and June 30, 2001, respectively.

Transportation and Field Assets

      The Company’s gas gathering systems are located in proximity to certain of its principal fields. Depreciation on these systems is
provided on the straight-line method based on estimated useful lives of four to fifteen years. The Company sold its only gas
processing facility in June 2000. See Note 5.

      The Company receives fees for providing certain field services which are recognized as earned. Depreciation on the associated
assets is calculated on the straight-line method based on estimated useful lives ranging from one to five years. Buildings are
depreciated over seven to twenty-five years.
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Security Issuance Costs

      Expenses associated with the issuance of debt securities are capitalized and included in Other assets on the balance sheet. These
costs are generally amortized over the expected life of the related securities. When a security is retired prior to maturity, related
unamortized costs are expensed.

Gas Imbalances

      The Company uses the sales method to account for gas imbalances, recognizing revenue based on cash received rather than gas
produced. At December 31, 2000 and June 30, 2001, gas imbalance liabilities of $318,000 and $114,000 were included in Accrued
liabilities on the balance sheet, respectively.

Comprehensive Income

      The Company follows SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income,” defined as changes in Stockholders’ equity from
nonowner sources including net income, unrealized hedging losses and changes in the fair value of marketable securities. The
following is a calculation of comprehensive income (in thousands):

                   
Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2000 2001 2000 2001

Net income $ 8,735 $14,739 $13,016 $33,252
Add: Change in unrealized
gain

Gross (1,052) 58,806 (1,049) 27,686
Tax effect — (9,373) — (9,373)

Less: Realized gain
Gross (3) — — —
Tax effect — — — —

Comprehensive income $ 7,680 $64,172 $11,967 $51,565

Use of Estimates



      The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect reported assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, as well as disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities. Actual results could differ from the estimates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

      In 2001, SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments,” requiring that derivative instruments be recorded on the
balance sheet as assets or liabilities at fair value was adopted. Changes in fair value are recognized currently in earnings unless
specific criteria are met. In connection with adopting SFAS No. 133 on January 1, 2001, the Company recorded $72.1 million of
Unrealized hedging losses on the balance sheet with an offsetting amount in Other comprehensive income. Due to the decline in oil
and gas prices since year end, this loss had become a $30 million gain by mid year.

      The Company enters into swap agreements to reduce the risk of changes in interest rates. These agreements qualify as fair value
hedges. Accordingly, related income or expense is recorded as an adjustment to interest expense in the period covered. The
Company also enters into contracts to reduce the effect of fluctuations in oil and gas prices. These contracts qualify as cash flow
hedges. Prior to 2001, gains and losses were determined monthly and included in oil and gas revenues in the period the hedged
production was sold. Starting in 2001, gains or losses on open contracts are recorded either in current period income or in Other
comprehensive income. SFAS No. 133 will tend to increase earnings volatility in independent oil companies.

      Interest and other revenues in the Income Statement was increased by $1.0 million and $3.3 million of hedging gains in the
three months and six months ended June 30, 2001, respectively. Unrealized hedging receivables of $29.6 million and Other
comprehensive income of $17.4 million, net of taxes, were recorded on the balance sheet. See Note 7.
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(3) ACQUISITIONS

      All acquisitions have been accounted for as purchases. Purchase prices were allocated to acquired assets based on estimated fair
value at acquisition. Acquisitions have been funded with internal cash flow, bank borrowings and the issuance of debt and equity
securities. The Company purchased various properties for $85,000 and $2.2 million during the six months ended June 30, 2000 and
2001, respectively.

(4) IPF RECEIVABLES

      At December 31, 2000 and June 30, 2001, IPF had net receivables of $48.9 million and $44.4 million, respectively. The
receivables result from the purchase of overriding royalty interests payable from an agreed-upon share of revenues until a specified
return is achieved. The royalties constitute property interests that serve as security for receivables. On certain IPF receivables,
income has been recorded at rates below those specified in the contract based on an assessment of risk. Due to favorable oil and gas
prices over the past 18 months, it now appears likely that some of these receivables will generate a greater proportion of their full
contract return. In the first half of 2001 the book value of the affected receivables was increased and approximately $816,000 and
$1.9 million was recorded as additional income in the three months and six months then ended June 30, 2001, respectively. The
Company estimates that $14.0 million of receivables at June 30, 2001 will be repaid in the next twelve months and has classified
them as current. IPF receivables reflected valuation allowances for uncollectible amounts of $15.3 million and $14.8 million at
December 31, 2000 and June 30, 2001, respectively.

(5) DISPOSITIONS

      In June 2000, the Company sold a gas processing plant for $19.7 million and recorded a $716,000 loss.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

      The following table presents unaudited pro forma operating results as if the sale of the gas processing plant sold in June 2000
had occurred January 1, 2000 (in thousands, except per share data):

         
Pro Forma

Six Months Ended
June 30

2000 2001

Revenues $ 82,526 $123,870
Net income 13,733 33,252
Earnings per share – basic and diluted 0.38 0.67
Total assets 697,792 712,167
Stockholders’ equity 145,077 243,781



Pro forma results have been prepared for comparative purposes only. They do not purport to present actual results that would have
been achieved or to be indicative of future results.
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(6) INDEBTEDNESS

      The Company had the following debt and Trust Preferred outstanding as of the dates shown. Interest rates, excluding the impact
of interest rate hedging, at June 30, 2001 are shown parenthetically:

            
December 31, June 30,

2000 2001

(In thousands)
Senior debt

Parent credit Facility (6.0%) $ 89,900 $ 88,800
Other (6.2%) 14 14

89,914 88,814
Less amounts due within one year (14) (14)

89,900 88,800

Non-recourse debt
Great Lakes credit facility (5.8%) 84,509 77,002
IPF credit facility (6.0%) 28,500 22,900

113,009 99,902

Subordinated debt
8.75% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2007 125,000 100,000
6% Convertible Subordinated Debentures due 2007 37,550 33,340

162,550 133,340

Total debt 365,459 322,042

Trust preferred 92,640 90,290

Total debt and Trust preferred $458,099 $412,332

Interest paid in cash during the three months ended June 30, 2000 and 2001 totaled $7.4 million and $4.9 million, respectively.
Interest paid in cash during the six months ended June 30, 2000 and 2001 totaled $22.1 million and $17.1 million, respectively. The
Company does not capitalize interest expense.

Senior debt

      The Company maintains a $225 million secured revolving bank facility (the “Parent Facility”). The Facility provides for a
borrowing base subject to semi-annual redeterminations in April and October. On July 31, 2001, the borrowing base was
$115 million of which $25.6 million was available. Redeterminations are based on a variety of factors, including the present value
of the banks’ projection of future cash flows. Redeterminations require approval by 75% of the lenders. Interest is payable the
earlier of quarterly or as LIBOR notes mature. The loan matures in February 2003. A commitment fee is paid quarterly on the
undrawn balance at an annual rate of 0.25% to 0.50%. The interest rate on the Facility is LIBOR plus 1.50% to 2.25%, depending
on outstandings. The weighted average interest rate on the Facility was 8.99% and 6.73% for the three months ended June 30, 2000
and 2001, and 8.65% and 7.51% for the six months then ended, respectively.
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Non-recourse debt

      The Company consolidates its proportionate share of borrowings on Great Lakes’ $275 million secured revolving bank facility
(the “Great Lakes Facility”). The Facility is non-recourse to Range and provides for a borrowing base, which is subject to



redeterminations semi-annually in April and October. On July 31, 2001, the borrowing base was $200 million of which
$47.0 million was available. Interest is payable the earlier of quarterly or as LIBOR notes mature. The loan matures in
September 2003. The interest rate on the Facility is LIBOR plus 1.50% to 2.00%, depending on outstandings. A commitment fee is
paid quarterly on the undrawn balance at an annual rate of 0.25% to 0.50%. The average interest rate on the Facility, excluding
interest rate hedges, was 8.57% and 6.69% for the three months ended June 30, 2000 and 2001, and 8.43% and 7.41% for the six
months then ended, respectively. After hedging (see Note 7), the rate was 8.61% and 7.67% for the quarters and 8.45% and 8.03%
for the six months ended June 30, 2000 and 2001, respectively.

      IPF has a $100 million secured revolving credit facility (the “IPF Facility”). The Facility is non-recourse to Range and matures
in January 2004. The borrowing base under the Facility is subject to redeterminations semi-annually in April and October. On
July 31, 2001, the borrowing base was $30.0 million of which $6.2 million was available. The Facility bears interest at LIBOR plus
1.75% to 2.25% depending on outstandings. Interest expense on the Facility is included in IPF expenses in the statements of
income and amounted to $926,000 and $393,000 for the three months, and $1.9 million and $1.1 million for the six months ended
June 30, 2000 and 2001, respectively. A commitment fee is paid quarterly on the undrawn balance at an annual rate of 0.375% to
0.50%. The weighted average interest rate on the Facility was 8.31% and 6.59% for the three months, and 8.27% and 7.44% for the
six months ended June 30, 2000 and 2001, respectively.

Subordinated notes

      The 8.75% Senior Subordinated Notes Due 2007 (the “8.75% Notes”) are redeemable beginning January 15, 2002, in whole or
in part, at a price of 104.375% of principal, declining 1.458% annually each January 15 to par in 2005. The Notes are unsecured
general obligations subordinated to all senior debt (as defined). Interest is payable semi-annually in January and July. During the
three months ended June 30, 2001, the Company repurchased $25 million face amount of the 8.75% Notes in the open market at a
discount. The gain on these repurchases is included in Extraordinary gains on the income statement. The repurchased notes are held
in treasury and may be reissued.

      The 6% Convertible Subordinated Debentures Due 2007 (the “6% Debentures”) are convertible into common stock at the
option of the holder at any time at a price of $19.25 per share, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances. Interest is payable
semi-annually in February and August. The debentures mature in 2007 and are currently redeemable at 103.5% of principal,
declining 0.5% annually each February through 2007. The debentures are unsecured general obligations subordinated to all senior
indebtedness (as defined), including the 8.75% Notes. During the quarters ended June 30, 2000 and 2001, $1.3 million and
$2.6 million of 6% Debentures were retired at a discount in exchange for 295,904 and 340,340 shares of common stock,
respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2000 and 2001, $1.6 million and $4.2 million of 6% Debentures were retired at
a discount in exchange for 385,904 and 532,886 shares of common stock, respectively. Extraordinary gains, net of taxes, of
$583,000 and $365,000 were recorded in the 2000 and 2001 quarters, and $700,000 and $647,000 for the six months ended
June 30, 2000 and 2001, respectively.

Trust preferred

      In 1997, a special purpose affiliate (the “Trust”) issued $120 million of 5 3/4% Trust Convertible Preferred Securities (the
“Trust Preferred”), represented by 2,400,000 Trust Preferred shares priced at $50 each. The Trust Preferred is convertible into
common stock at the holder’s option at any time at a price of $23.50 per share. The Trust invested the proceeds in 5 3/4%
convertible junior subordinated debentures issued by the Company (the “Junior Debentures”), its sole asset. The Junior Debentures
and the Trust Preferred mature in 2027. The Junior Debentures and the Trust Preferred can currently be redeemed in whole or in
part at 104.025% of principal. The redemption price declines annually in November reaching par in 2007.
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      The Company guarantees payments on the Trust Preferred to the extent the Trust has funds available. Such guarantee, when
taken together with Range’s other obligations, provides a full subordinated guarantee of the Trust Preferred. The accounts of the
Trust are included in Range’s consolidated financial statements after eliminations. Distributions on the Trust Preferred are recorded
as interest expense, are deductible for tax purposes and are subject to limitations in the Parent Facility. During the quarters ended
June 30, 2000 and 2001, $11.3 million and $2.4 million of Trust Preferred was acquired at a discount in exchange for 1,479,170 and
230,708 shares of common stock, respectively. During the six months ended June 30, 2000 and 2001, $17.4 million and
$2.4 million of Trust Preferred was acquired at a discount in exchange for 2,425,217 and 230,708 shares of common stock,
respectively. An extraordinary gain, net of tax, of $6.9 million and $619,000 was recorded for the quarters, and $10.5 million and
$619,000 for the six months ended June 30, 2000 and 2001, respectively.

      The debt agreements contain various covenants relating to net worth, working capital maintenance, restrictions on dividends
and financial ratios. The Company was in compliance with all covenants at June 30, 2001. Under the most restrictive covenant,
$4.9 million of dividends or other restricted payments could be paid at June 30, 2001. Under the Parent Facility dividends may not
be paid on the Trust Preferred if certain ratio requirements are not met and common dividends are prohibited.

(7) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES



      The Company’s financial instruments include cash and equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, debt obligations and
commodity and interest rate hedges. The book value of cash and equivalents and accounts receivable and payable are considered to
be representative of fair value because of their short maturity. The book values of borrowings under the Parent Facility, the Great
Lakes Facility, and the IPF Facility are believed to approximate fair value because of their floating rate structure.

      A portion of the Company’s future oil and gas sales is periodically hedged through the use of swap or option contracts. Gains
and losses on these instruments are reflected in the contract month being hedged as an adjustment to oil and gas revenue. The
Company seeks to manage interest rate risk on its credit facilities through the use of swaps. Gains and losses on these swaps are
included as an adjustment to interest expense in the relevant periods.

      The following table sets forth the book and estimated fair values of financial instruments (in thousands):

                   
December 31, 2000 June 30, 2001

Book Fair Book Fair
Value Value Value Value

Assets
Cash and equivalents $ 2,485 $ 2,485 $ 2,829 $ 2,829
Marketable securities 2,028 2,028 1,586 1,586
Commodity swaps — — 31,492 31,492

Total 4,513 4,513 35,907 35,907

Liabilities
Commodity swaps — (72,090) — —
Interest rate swaps — (1,029) (1,455) (1,455)
Long-term debt (365,459) (348,257) (322,042) (311,040)
Trust Preferred (92,640) (53,268) (90,290) (54,174)

Total (458,099) (474,644) (413,787) (366,669)

Net financial instruments $(453,586) $(470,131) $(377,880) $(330,762)

      At June 30, 2001, the Company had hedging contracts covering 43.6 Bcf of gas and 1.4 million barrels of oil at prices ranging
from $3.37 to $5.93 per Mmbtu (averaging $4.18) and $24.15 to $30.50 per barrel (averaging $27.11). Their fair value, represented
by the estimated amount that would be realized or paid upon termination of the contracts, approximated a net gain of $31.5 million.
The contracts expire monthly through December 2003. Gains or losses on hedging are determined as the difference between the
contract price and the reference price, generally closing prices on the New York Mercantile Exchange (“NYMEX”). Transaction
gains and losses are determined monthly and are included in oil and gas revenues in the period the hedged production is sold. Net
losses incurred relating to these derivatives for the quarters ended June 30, 2000 and 2001 totaled $9.6 million and $5.3 million,
and $11.2 million and $28.7 million for the six months then ended, respectively.
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      In June 2000, the Company repriced 4.1 Bcf of gas hedges from an average price of $2.59 to $3.00 per Mmbtu. In exchange, an
average of 22,700 Mmbtu per day from April 2001 through March 2002 was hedged at an average price of $3.20 per Mmbtu.
While payment requirements were affected, under generally accepted accounting principles the $6.0 million of estimated net losses
on the repriced transactions were recorded in the period in which they would have been recorded if no repricing had occurred. A
deferred loss and associated liability of $6.0 million were recorded on the balance sheet at June 30, 2000. At June 30, 2001, only
$1.4 million of the liability remained. The following schedule shows the effect of closed hedge position for the four quarters ended
June 30, 2001 and the open contracts as of that date including the repriced hedges.

               
Hedging Gain (Loss) Exposure

(In thousands)
Impact on Repricing's
Oil & Gas Impact on Impact on

Quarter Ended Revenue Cash Flow Cash Flow

Closed contracts:
September 30, 2000 $(17,668) $ 1,527 $(16,141)
December 31, 2000 (13,996) 51 (13,945)
March 31, 2001 (23,440) 102 (23,338)
June 30, 2001 (5,250) (461) (5,711)



(60,354) 1,219 (59,135)

Open Contracts:
September 30, 2001 7,026 (466) 6,560
December 31, 2001 4,310 (466) 3,852
March 31, 2002 3,548 (455) 3,093
June 30, 2002 4,163 — 4,163
September 30, 2002 3,786 — 3,786
December 31, 2002 3,411 — 3,411
March 31, 2003 1,241 — 1,241
June 30, 2003 1,470 — 1,470
September 30, 2003 1,344 — 1,344
December 31, 2003 1,185 — 1,185

31,484 (1,387) 30,105

Total $(28,870) $ (168) $(29,030)

      Interest rate swaps are accounted for on the accrual basis. Income or expense resulting from these agreements is recorded as an
adjustment to interest expense in the period covered. At June 30, 2001, Great Lakes had nine interest rate swap agreements totaling
$100 million. Two agreements totaling $45 million at LIBOR rates of 7.09% expire in May 2004. Two agreements totaling
$20 million at 6.20% and 6.22% expire in December 2002. Five agreements totaling $35 million at rates of 4.49%, 4.54%, 4.60%,
4.65% and 4.75% expire in June of 2003. The fair value of the swaps at June 30, 2001 was a net loss of $1.5 million based on then
current quotes. The agreements expiring in May 2004 and December 2002 may be terminated at the counterparty’s option in
May 2002 and December 2001, respectively. The value of this option is marked to market each quarter. For the quarter and six
months ended June 30, 2001, the related losses were insignificant.

      The combined fair value of oil and gas and interest rate swaps totaling $29.6 million appear as an Unrealized hedging
receivable on the balance sheet. Hedging activities are conducted with major financial or commodities trading institutions which
management believes are acceptable credit risks. At times, such risks may be concentrated with certain counterparties. The
creditworthiness of these counterparties is subject to continuing review.
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(8) COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

      The Company is involved in various legal actions and claims arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of
management, such litigation and claims are likely to be resolved without material adverse effect on the Company’s financial
position or results of operations. In 1998, a Domain stockholder filed an action alleging that the terms of the Merger were unfair.
Range was alleged to have aided and abetted certain breaches of fiduciary duty by the other defendants. In March 2001, the suit
was dismissed without prejudice.

      In 2000, a royalty owner filed suit asking for class action certification against Great Lakes and the Company in New York,
alleging that gas was sold to affiliates and gas marketers at low prices, inappropriate post production expenses reduced proceeds to
the royalty owners, and that royalty owners’ share of gas was improperly accounted for. The action sought a proper accounting, an
amount equal to the difference in prices paid and the highest obtainable prices, punitive damages and attorneys’ fees. This action is
in a very early stage of development.

(9) STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

      In 1995, the Company issued 1,150,000 shares of $2.03 Convertible Exchangeable Preferred Stock, (the “$2.03 Preferred”) for
$28.8 million. The $2.03 Preferred is convertible into common stock at a conversion price of $9.50. The $2.03 Preferred is
currently redeemable at a price of $25.75 a share, and is exchangeable at the Company’s option for 8.125% Convertible
Subordinated Notes. Through December 31, 2000, $23.2 million of the $2.03 Preferred had been exchanged for 4.6 million shares
of common stock. During the quarter and six months ended June 30, 2001, $12,500 and $5.3 million of the $2.03 Preferred was
exchanged for 1,754 and 748,930 shares of common stock. Only 7,735 shares remained outstanding at June 30, 2001, having a
liquidation preference of $193,375. Gains on exchanges of $2.03 Preferred are not included in net income as it is an equity security.
However, they are included in income available to common shareholders. See Note 13. Subsequent to June 30, 2001, 3,700 shares
of the $2.03 Preferred were exchanged for common stock. Only 4,035 shares now remain outstanding.

      The following is a schedule of changes in outstanding common shares:

           
Six

Year Ended Months Ended
December 31, 2000 June 30, 2001



Beginning Balance 37,901,789 49,187,682
Issuances:

Compensation 289,714 238,628
Stock options exercised 241,637 201,506
Exchanges for 6%
Debentures 2,496,789 532,886

Trust Preferred 3,231,548 230,708
$2.03 Preferred 4,583,993 748,930

Stock Purchase Plan 343,422 196,000
In lieu of dividends 106,597 —
Other (7,807) (56)

Ending Balance 49,187,682 51,336,284

Supplemental disclosures of non-cash investing and financing activities

           
Six Months Ended June 30,

2000 2001

(In thousands)
Common stock issued

Under benefit plans $ 311 $1,196
In exchange for convertible securities $11,312 $9,383
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(10) STOCK OPTION AND PURCHASE PLANS

      The Company has four stock option plans (two of which are currently active) and a stock purchase plan. Under these plans,
incentive and non-qualified options and stock purchase rights can be issued to directors, officers, and employees pursuant to
decisions of the Compensation Committee of the Board. Information with respect to the stock option plans is summarized below:

                      
Domain 1989 Directors' 1999

Plan Plan Plan Plan Total

Outstanding at December 31, 2000 248,965 1,182,893 136,000 665,200 2,233,058
Granted — — 56,000 734,350 790,350
Exercised (106,393) (51,613) — (43,500) (201,506)
Expired/canceled — (149,493) (24,000) (24,187) (210,180)

Outstanding at June 30, 2001 142,572 981,787 168,000 1,331,863 2,611,722

      In 1999, shareholders approved the 1999 Stock Option Plan (the “1999 Plan”) providing for the issuance of options on up to
1.4 million common shares. In May 2001, shareholders approved an increase in the number of options issuable under the Plan to
3.4 million shares. All options issued under the Plan vest 25% per year beginning a year after grant and expire in 10 years. During
the six months ended June 30, 2001, 734,350 options were granted under the Plan at exercise prices ranging from $6.40 to $6.67.
At June 30, 2001, 1.3 million options were outstanding under the Plan at exercise prices of $1.94 to $6.67 a share.

      The Company also maintains the 1989 Stock Option Plan (the “1989 Plan”) which authorizes the issuance of options on up to
3.0 million common shares. No options have been granted under this plan since March 1999. Options issued under the 1989 Plan
vest 30% after one year, 60% after two years and 100% after three years and expire in 5 years. At June 30, 2001, 981,787 options
were outstanding under the Plan at exercise prices of $2.63 to $18.00 a share.

      In 1994, shareholders approved the Outside Directors’ Stock Option Plan (the “Directors’ Plan”). In 2000, Shareholders
approved an increase in the number of options issuable under the Plan to 300,000, extended the term of the options to ten years and
set the vesting period at 25% per year beginning a year after grant. During the six months ended June 30, 2001, 56,000 options
were granted under the Plan at exercise prices of $5.52 to $6.00 a share. At June 30, 2001, 168,000 options were outstanding under
the Plan at exercise prices of $2.81 to $16.88 a share.

      The Domain stock option plan was adopted in an acquisition. Since that time, no further options have been granted under the
Plan. Existing options became exercisable into Range common stock. At June 30, 2001, 142,572 options were outstanding under
the Plan at a price of $3.46 a share.



      In total, 2.6 million options were outstanding at June 30, 2001 at exercise prices of $2.63 to $18.00 a share as follows:

                                 
Range of Average Domain 1989 Directors’ 1999

Exercise Prices Exercise Price Plan Plan Plan Plan Total

$ 0.01  —  $ 4.99 $ 2.52 142,572 394,087 64,000 551,263 1,151,922
5.00  —  9.99 6.75 — 226,550 56,000 780,600 1,063,150

10.00  —  14.99 10.87 — 25,000 24,000 — 49,000
15.00  —  18.00 17.31 — 336,150 24,000 — 360,150

142,572 981,787 168,000 1,331,863 2,624,222
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      In 1997, shareholders approved a Stock Purchase Plan (the “Stock Purchase Plan”) authorizing the sale of up to 900,000 shares
of common stock to officers, directors, key employees and consultants. Under the Plan, the right to purchase shares at prices
ranging from 50% to 85% of market value may be granted. To date, all purchase rights have been granted at 75% of market. In
May 2001, shareholders approved an increase in the number of shares authorized for issuance under the Plan to 1,750,000. From
inception through June 30, 2001, 1,054,319 shares have been sold under the Plan for $4.5 million. At June 30, 2001, rights to
purchase 270,000 shares were outstanding.

(11) BENEFIT PLAN

      The Company maintains a 401(k) Plan for its employees. The Plan permits employees to contribute up to 15% of their salary on
a pre-tax basis. The Company makes discretionary contributions to the Plan annually. In late 2000, the Company contributed
$483,000 of common stock to the Plan.

(12) INCOME TAXES

      The Company follows SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” pursuant to which the liability method is used to
account for taxes. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial
reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and regulations that will be in effect
when the differences are expected to reverse. At December 31, 2000, the Company had a $72.0 million deferred tax asset.
Utilization of this asset was dependent on future taxable income. As significant uncertainty existed regarding the amount and
timing of future taxable income, a full valuation allowance was recorded. Increased oil and gas prices caused the Company to
realize enough taxable income to fully utilize the asset during the six months of 2001. Therefore, the Company provided deferred
taxes on income in the quarter ended June 30, 2001, after the valuation allowance was fully utilized.

      At December 31, 2000, the Company had regular net operating loss carryovers of $191 million and alternative minimum tax
(“AMT”) net operating loss (“NOLs”) carryovers of $171 million that expire between 2001 and 2020. NOLs generated prior to a
change of control are subject to limitations. The Company experienced change of control limitations in 1994, 1995, 1997, and 1998
due to acquisitions. Consequently, the use of $34.6 million of NOLs is limited to $10.6 million per year. Remaining NOLs are not
subject to limitation. At December 31, 2000, the Company had a statutory depletion carryover of $5.6 million and an AMT credit
carryover of $660,000 which are not subject to limitations or expiration.

      The following table sets forth the year of expiration schedule of NOL carryovers:

           
NOL Carryover Amount

Expiration Regular AMT

(in thousands)
2001 $ 1,180 $ 1,180
2002 558 480
2003 488 422
2004 666 136
2005 522 353

Thereafter 187,644 168,902

Total $191,058 $171,473
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(13) EARNINGS PER SHARE

      The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per common share (in thousands except per share
amounts):

                   
Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2000 2001 2000 2001

Numerator:
Income before extraordinary item $ 1,753 $13,844 $ 2,501 $31,925
Gain on retirement of $2.03 Preferred 1,120 3 2,324 532
Preferred dividends (464) (4) (985) (8)

Numerator for earnings per share, before
extraordinary item 2,499 13,843 3,840 32,449
Extraordinary item
   Gain on retirement of securities, net 6,982 895 10,515 1,327

Numerator for earnings per share, basic and
diluted $ 9,481 $14,738 $14,355 $33,776

Denominator:
Weighted average shares, basic 41,005 50,919 40,006 50,554

Dilutive potential common shares
   Stock options 135 233 135 238

Denominator for diluted earnings per share 41,140 51,152 40,141 50,792

Earnings per share, basic and diluted:
Before extraordinary item $ 0.06 $ 0.27 $ 0.10 $ 0.64

After extraordinary item $ 0.23 $ 0.29 $ 0.36 $ 0.67

      During the three months ended June 30, 2000 and 2001, 134,752 and 233,433 stock options were included in the computation
of diluted earnings per share and for the six months then ended, 134,752 and 238,491 stock options were included in such
computation. All remaining stock options, the 6% Debentures, Trust Preferred and the $2.03 Preferred were not included because
their inclusion would have been antidilutive.

      The Company has and will continue to consider exchanging common stock or other equity-linked securities for fixed income
securities. Existing common stockholders may be materially diluted if substantial exchanges are consummated. The extent of
dilution will depend on the number of shares and price at which common stock is issued, the price at which newly issued securities
are convertible into common stock, and the price at which fixed income securities are reacquired.

(14) MAJOR CUSTOMERS

      The Company markets its production on a competitive basis. Gas is sold under various types of contracts ranging from life-of-
the-well to short-term contracts that are cancelable within 30 days. Virtually all gas production is sold under market sensitive
contracts. Oil purchasers may be changed on 30 days notice. The price for oil is generally equal to a posted price set by major
purchasers in the area. The Company sells to oil purchasers on the basis of price and service. For the six months ended June 30,
2001, four customers accounted for 10% or more of oil and gas revenues. Management believes that the loss of any one customer
would not have a material adverse effect.

      From the inception of the joint venture through June 30, 2001, Great Lakes sold approximately 90% of its gas production to
FirstEnergy, at prices based on the close of NYMEX contracts each month plus a basis differential. Effective July 1, 2001, Great
Lakes began selling its gas to several different companies including FirstEnergy. Over the next twelve months, Great Lakes expects
to sell roughly 36% of its gas to FirstEnergy, with the remaining 64% being sold to seven marketing companies. Currently 91% of
Great Lakes gas is sold at prices based on the close of NYMEX contracts each month plus a basis differential. The remainder is
sold at a fixed price.
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(15) OIL AND GAS ACTIVITIES



      The following summarizes selected information with respect to producing activities:

           
Six

Year Ended Months Ended
December 31, June 30,

2000 2001

Oil and gas properties:
Subject to depletion $ 965,416 $1,008,441
Unproved 49,523 37,430

Total 1,014,939 1,045,871
Accumulated depletion (443,097) (477,864)

Net oil and gas properties $ 571,842 $ 568,007

Costs incurred:
Acquisition $ 4,701 $ 6,454(a)
Development 49,006 26,492
Exploration 4,498 2,439

Total costs incurred $ 58,205 $ 35,385

 (a) Includes $2.2 million for oil and gas reserves, the remainder represents acreage purchases.

(16) INVESTMENT IN GREAT LAKES

      The Company owns 50% of Great Lakes and consolidates its proportionate interest in the joint venture’s assets, liabilities,
revenues and expenses. The following table summarizes the interest in Great Lakes consolidated in the Company’s financial
statements:

     
At or for

the period ended
June 30, 2001

(In thousands)
Current assets $ 12,767
Oil and gas properties 149,911
Transportation and field assets 16,997
Other assets 350
Current liabilities 10,134
Long-term debt 77,002
Deferred taxes 3,043
Members’ equity 92,364
Revenues 25,426
Net income 6,206

(17) EXTRAORDINARY ITEM

      During the six months ended June 30, 2001, 763,594 shares of common stock were exchanged for $4.2 million of 6%
Debentures and $2.4 million of Trust Preferred. An extraordinary gain of $1.3 million, net of $715,000 of deferred taxes, was
recorded because these securities were retired at a discount. In addition, 748,930 shares of common stock were exchanged for
$5.3 million of $2.03 Preferred.
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Item 2. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Factors Affecting Financial Condition and Liquidity

Liquidity and Capital Resources

      During the six months ended June 30, 2001, the Company spent $35.4 million on development, exploration and acquisitions.
Debt, Trust Preferred and $2.03 Preferred were reduced by a total of $51.1 million. At June 30, 2001, the Company had
$2.8 million in cash, total assets of $712.2 million and, including the Trust Preferred as debt, a debt to capitalization ratio of 63%.



Available borrowing capacity on the Company’s bank lines at June 30, 2001 was $26.2 million at the parent, a net $23.0 million at
Great Lakes and $7.1 million at IPF. Long-term debt at June 30, 2001 totaled $412.3 million. This included $88.8 million of parent
bank borrowings, a net $77.0 million at Great Lakes and $22.9 million at IPF, as well as $100 million of 8.75% Senior Notes, $33.3
million of 6% Debentures and $90.3 million of Trust Preferred.

      During the six months ended June 30, 2001, 763,594 shares of common stock were exchanged for $4.2 million of 6%
Debentures and $2.4 million of Trust Preferred. A $1.3 million extraordinary gain, after $715,000 deferred taxes, was recorded as
the Debentures and Trust Preferred were acquired at a discount. In addition, 748,930 common shares were exchanged for
$5.3 million of $2.03 Preferred.

      The Company believes its capital resources are adequate to meet its requirements for at least the next twelve months. However,
future cash flows are subject to a number of variables including the level of production and prices as well as various economic
conditions that have historically affected the oil and gas business. There can be no assurance that internal cash flow and other
capital sources will provide sufficient funds to maintain planned capital expenditures.

Cash Flow

      The Company’s principal sources of cash are operating cash flow and bank borrowings. The Company’s cash flow is highly
dependent on oil and gas prices. The Company has entered into hedging agreements covering approximately 70%, 40%, and 20%
of its anticipated production on an mcfe basis from existing proved reserves for the remainder of 2001, 2002, and for 2003,
respectively. The $33.3 million of capital expenditures in the six months ended June 30, 2001 were funded entirely with internal
cash flow. Net cash provided by operations for the six months ended June 30, 2000 and 2001 was $18.7 million and $63.8 million,
respectively. Cash flow from operations increased as higher realized prices and lower interest expense more than offset increasing
direct operating and general and administrative expenses. Net cash used in investing for the six months ended June 30, 2000 and
2001 was $15.0 million and $25.4 million, respectively. The 2000 period included $15.0 million of additions to oil and gas
properties and $2.9 million of IPF investments, more than offset by $10 million of IPF receipts and $23 million in asset sales. The
2001 period included $33.3 million of additions to oil and gas properties and $5.3 million of IPF investments, partially offset by
$12.2 million of IPF receipts and $1.0 million in asset sales. Net cash used in financing for the six months ended June 30, 2000 and
2001 was $46.4 million and $38.0 million, respectively. During the first six months of 2001, recourse debt decreased by
$32.7 million and total debt decreased by $45.8 million. The reduction in debt was the result of applying excess cash flow, proceeds
from asset sales combined with exchanges of common stock.

Capital Requirements

      During the six months ended June 30, 2001, the $33.3 million of capital expenditure was spent primarily on development
projects. This represented 52% of internal cash flow. The Company manages its capital budget with the goal of funding it with
internal cash flow. Development and exploration activities are highly discretionary, and, for the foreseeable future, management
expects such activities to be maintained at levels at or below internal cash flow. Remaining cash flow should be available for debt
reduction.
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Banking

      The Company maintains three separate revolving credit facilities. A $225 million facility is in place at the parent company. At
IPF, a $100 million facility is in place and Great Lakes has a $275 million facility. Each of the facilities is secured by substantially
all of the assets of the borrower. The IPF and Great Lakes facilities are non-recourse to Range. As Great Lakes is a 50% owned
joint venture, half of the borrowings outstanding on its facility are consolidated in Range’s financial statements. Availability under
the facilities is subject to a borrowing base set by the banks which is subject to semi-annual redetermination and in certain other
circumstances. The borrowing bases are dependent on a number of factors, primarily the lenders’ assessment of the present value of
estimated future cash flows. Redeterminations require approval of 75% of the lenders, increases require unanimous approval.

      At July 31, 2001, the Company had availability under each of its facilities. At the parent company, a $115 million borrowing
base was in effect of which $25.6 was available. Borrowings on this facility were increased by $25 million in the second quarter to
fund the repurchase of 8.75% Subordinated Notes. At IPF, a $30 million borrowing base was in effect, of which $6.2 was available.
At Great Lakes, a $200 million borrowing base was in effect, of which $47.0 million was available. As noted above, half of the
Great Lakes borrowings are consolidated by the Company.

Hedging

Oil and Gas Prices

      The Company regularly enters into hedging agreements to reduce the impact of fluctuations in oil and gas prices. The
Company’s current policy is to hedge between 50% and 75% of projected production from existing proved reserves on a rolling 12
to 18 month basis. At June 30, 2001, hedges were in place covering 43.6 Bcf of gas and 1.4 million barrels of oil at prices ranging
from $3.37 to $5.93 per Mmbtu (averaging $4.17) and from $24.24 to $30.50 per barrel (averaging $26.28). Their fair value at



June 30, 2001, the estimated amount that would result from terminating them, was a net gain of $31.5 million. The contracts expire
monthly through December 2003 and cover approximately 70% of anticipated remaining 2001 production, 40% of 2002
production, and 20% of 2003 production. Gains or losses on hedging transactions are determined as the difference between contract
price and a reference price, generally closing NYMEX prices. Hedging gains and losses are settled monthly and are included in oil
and gas revenues in the period the associated production is sold. Net losses relating to oil and gas hedging for the six months ended
June 30, 2000 and 2001 were $11.2 and $28.7 million, respectively.

      In mid 2000, 4.1 Bcf of gas hedges were repriced upwards to $3.00 per Mmbtu. In exchange, an average of 22,700 Mmbtu per
day from April 2001 through March 2002 was hedged at an average price of $3.20 per Mmbtu. While the payment requirements
relating to the repriced hedges was affected, under generally accepted accounting principles the $6.0 million of estimated net losses
deferred were recorded as if no repricing occurred. A deferred loss and associated liability of $6.0 million was recorded on the
balance sheet at June 30, 2000. At June 30, 2001, $1.4 million of the liability remained.

Interest Rates

      At June 30, 2001, Range had $412.3 million of debt (including Trust Preferred) outstanding. Of this amount, $223.6 million
bore interest at fixed rates averaging 7.1%. Bank debt totaling $188.7 million bore interest at floating rates which averaged 6% at
June 30, 2001. The Company enters into hedges to limit the impact of interest rate fluctuations on its floating rate debt. At June 30,
2001, Great Lakes had nine interest rate swap agreements totaling $100 million. Two agreements totaling $45 million at rates of
7.09% expire in May 2004, two agreements of $10 million each at 6.2% expire in December 2002, and five agreements totaling
$35 million at rates of 4.5%, 4.5%, 4.6%, 4.7% and 4.8% expire in June 2003. The fair value of the swaps, based on then current
quotes for equivalent agreements at June 30, 2001, was a net loss of $1.5 million. The 30-day LIBOR rate on June 30, 2001 was
3.86%. A 1% increase or decrease in short-term interest rates on the floating-rate debt outstanding at June 30, 2001 would cost or
save the Company approximately $1.4 million in annual interest expense. The agreements expiring in May 2004 and
December 2002 may be terminated at the counterparty’s option in May 2002 and December 2001, respectively. The values of these
options are marked to market quarterly. In the three months and six months ended June 30, 2001, such losses were insignificant.
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Capital Restructuring Program

      As more fully described in Note 1, the Company took a number of steps beginning in late 1998 to strengthen its financial
position. These steps included the sale of assets and the exchange of common stock for fixed income securities. These initiatives
have helped reduce parent company bank debt to $88.8 million and total debt (including Trust Preferred) to $412.3 million at
June 30, 2001. While the Company believes its financial position has stabilized, debt remains too high. To return to its historical
posture of consistent profitability and growth, the Company believes it should further reduce debt. The Company currently believes
it has sufficient cash flow and liquidity to meet its obligations for at least the next twelve months. However, a significant drop in oil
and gas prices or a reduction in production or reserves would reduce the Company’s ability to fund capital expenditures and meet
its financial obligations.

Inflation and Changes in Prices

      The Company’s revenues, the value of its assets, its ability to obtain bank loans or to obtain additional capital on attractive
terms have been and will continue to be affected by changes in oil and gas prices. Oil and gas prices are subject to significant
fluctuations that are beyond the Company’s ability to control or predict. During the first six months of 2001, the Company received
an average of $26.12 per barrel of oil and $4.04 per mcf of gas after hedging. Although certain of the Company’s costs and
expenses are affected by the general inflation, inflation does not normally have a significant effect on the Company. However,
industry specific inflationary pressure has built up over the past 18 months due to favorable conditions in the oil industry. Should
conditions remain favorable, inflationary pressures specific to the industry may continue.

Results of Operations

      The following table identifies certain unusual items included in net income, and presents net income excluding the effect of
such items. The table should be read in conjunction with the following discussions of results of operations.

                  
Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2000 2001 2000 2001

(In thousands) (In thousands)
Net income as reported $ 8,735 $14,739 $ 13,016 $33,252

Hedging 9,960 5,250 11,522 28,690

Unusual items:



Writedown of marketable securities — — — 1,310
Adjustment to IPF receivables and loss reserve (728) (1,223) (728) (2,320)
Effect of SFAS 133 — (985) — (3,250)
Loss (gain) from sales of assets 1,633 (768) 1,909 (1,066)
Reversal of tax provision (1,101) (51) (1,101) —
Gain on retirement of securities (6,982) (895) (10,515) (1,327)

(7,178) (3,884) (10,435) (6,653)

If above items excluded $11,517 $16,105 $ 14,103 $55,289

Comparison of 2001 to 2000

      Quarters Ended June 30, 2000 and 2001

      Net income for the second quarter of 2001 totaled $14.7 million, compared to $8.7 million for the comparable period in 2000.
Net income excluding the impact of unusual items would have been $16.1 million compared to $11.5 million for the comparable
period in 2000. Production rose to 152.7 Mmcfe per day, a 1% increase from the prior year period. Revenues benefited from a 43%
increase in average prices per mcfe to $3.94. The average prices received for oil increased 15% to $25.32 per barrel and 56% for
gas to $3.86 per mcf. Production expenses increased $2.7 million to $11.7 million as a result of significantly higher production
taxes and workover costs in the Gulf of Mexico. Operating cost per mcfe produced averaged $0.67 in 2000 versus $0.84 in 2001.
Approximately 36% of the increase related to production taxes.
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      Transportation, processing and marketing revenues fell 53% to $719,000. The benefit of higher NGL prices was more than
offset by the impact of the Sterling Plant sale in June 2000. IPF’s revenues decreased to $2.3 million, a 25% decline from the 2000
period. The 2001 period included $816,000 of additional income as certain receivables were increased to reflect their full
contractual rate of return. During the quarter ended June 30, 2001, IPF expenses included $419,000 of administrative costs and
$393,000 of interest. During the comparable 2000 period, IPF expenses included $321,000 of administrative costs and $859,000 of
interest.

      Exploration expense increased $822,000 to $1.4 million, primarily due to additional seismic activity. General and
administrative expenses increased 45% to $3.5 million in the quarter. The increase was primarily due to additional personnel,
occupancy cost and additional costs incurred by now having duplicate administrative functions in both Great Lakes and Range’s
corporate office.

      Interest and other income increased from a loss of $1.2 million to a gain of $1.8 million. The 2001 period included $985,000 of
hedging gains and $768,000 of gains on asset sales. The 2000 period included $1.6 million of losses on asset sales. Interest expense
decreased 22% to $8.0 million primarily as a result of the lower outstandings. Average outstandings on the Parent Facility were
$136 million and $80 million for the three months ended June 30, 2000 and 2001, respectively. The weighted average interest rates,
excluding swaps, were 9.0% and 6.7%, respectively.

      Depletion, depreciation and amortization (“DD&A”) increased 10% from the second quarter of 2000 as lower proved reserves
caused the depletion rate to increase from $1.23 to $1.31 per mcfe. The Company currently expects its DD&A rate for the
remainder of 2001 to approximate $1.32 per mcfe. The high DD&A rate will make it more difficult for the Company to remain
profitable if commodity prices fall sharply.

      Six Month periods ended June 30, 2000 and 2001

      Net income for the six months ended June 30, 2001 totaled $33.3 million, compared to $13.0 million for the comparable period
in 2000. Net income excluding unusual items would have been $55.3 million in 2001 compared to $14.1 million in 2000.
Production increased to 151.9 Mmcfe per day, a 1% increase from the prior year period. Revenues benefited from a 47% increase in
average prices per mcfe to $4.11. The average prices received for oil increased 25% to $26.12 per barrel and for gas increased 56%
to $4.04 per mcf. Production expenses increased $6.1 million to $24.3 million in the quarter as a result of significantly higher
production taxes and increased workover costs. Operating cost per mcfe produced averaged $0.67 in 2000 versus $0.89 in 2001.
Approximately 36% of the increase related to production taxes.

      Transportation, processing and marketing revenues decreased 52% to $1.7 million. The benefit to processing revenues of higher
NGL prices was more than offset by the impact of the Sterling Plant sale in June 2000. IPF’s $6.0 million of revenues rose 18%
over that reported in the 2000 period. The 2001 period included $1.9 million of additional income as certain receivables were
increased to reflect their full contractual rate of return. During the six months ended June 30, 2001, IPF expenses included
$938,000 of administrative costs and $1.1 million of interest. During the comparable period of 2000, IPF expenses included
$609,000 of administrative costs and $1.8 million of interest.



      Exploration expense increased 72% to $2.4 million, primarily due to additional seismic activity. General and administrative
expenses increased 49% to $6.9 million. The increase was primarily due to additional personnel, occupancy cost and additional
costs incurred by now having duplicate administrative functions in both Great Lakes and Range’s corporate office.

      Interest and other income increased from a loss of $1.2 million to $3.3 million. The 2001 period included $3.3 million of
hedging gains and $1.1 million of gains on asset sales, partially offset by a $1.3 million writedown of marketable securities. The
2000 period included $1.9 million of losses on asset sales. Interest expense decreased 17% to $17.1 million primarily as a result of
the lower average outstandings. Average outstandings on the Parent Facility were $140 million and $89 million for the six months
ended June 30, 2000 and 2001, respectively and the average interest rates, excluding swaps, were 8.7% and 7.5%, respectively.

      Depletion, depreciation and amortization increased 7% from the 2000 period as lower proved reserves caused the depletion rate
to increase from $1.25 to $1.32 per mcfe.

22

Table of Contents

Item 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

      The primary objective of the following information is to provide forward-looking quantitative and qualitative information about
the Company’s potential exposure to market risks. The term “market risk” refers to the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in
oil and gas prices and interest rates. The disclosures are not meant to be indicators of expected future losses, but rather indicators of
risks. This forward-looking information provides indicators of how Range views and manages its ongoing market risk exposures.
The Company’s market risk sensitive instruments were entered into for purposes other than trading.

      Commodity Price Risk. Range’s major market risk exposure is to oil and gas pricing. Realized pricing is primarily driven by the
prevailing worldwide price for crude oil and spot market prices applicable to U.S. gas production. Oil and gas prices have been
volatile and unpredictable for many years. The Company periodically enters into hedging arrangements with respect to its oil and
gas production. Pursuant to these swaps, Range receives a fixed price for its production and pays market prices to the counterparty.
This hedging is intended to reduce the impact of price fluctuations. Realized gains or losses are recognized in oil and gas revenues
when the associated production occurs. Starting in 2001, gains or losses on open contracts are recorded either in current period
income or Other comprehensive income. The gains or losses realized as a result of hedging are substantially offset in the cash
market when the commodity is delivered. Range does not hold or issue derivative instruments for trading purposes.

      As of June 30, 2001, Range had oil and gas hedges in place covering 43.6 Bcf of gas and 1.4 million barrels of oil. Their fair
value, represented by the amount that would be realized on termination, was a net gain of approximately $31.5 million at June 30,
2001. These contracts expire monthly through December and cover approximately 70%, 40% and 20% of anticipated production on
an mcfe basis from existing proved reserves for the remainder of 2001, 2002 and 2003, respectively. Gains or losses on hedging
transactions are determined as the difference between the contract price and the reference price, generally closing prices on the
NYMEX. Transaction gains and losses are determined monthly and are included in oil and gas revenues in the period the hedged
production is sold. Net losses incurred relating to these swaps for the six months ended June 30, 2000 and 2001 were $11.2 million
and $28.7 million, respectively.

      In the first six months of 2001, a 10% reduction in oil and gas prices would have reduced revenue by $14.2 million, offset by an
increase in hedging gains of $11.4 million. If oil and gas future prices at June 30, 2001 had declined by 10%, the hedging gain at
that date would have been increased by $18.0 million.

      At June 30, 2001, Range had $412.3 million of debt (including Trust Preferred) outstanding. Of this amount, $223.6 million
bears interest at fixed rates averaging 7.1%. Senior debt and non-recourse debt totaling $188.7 million bears interest at floating
rates which averaged 6.92% for the six months then ended. At June 30, 2001, Great Lakes had nine interest rate swap agreements
totaling $100 million (See Note 7). The fair value of the swaps at June 30, 2001 was a net loss of $1.5 million and is based on then
current quotes for equivalent agreements. A 1% increase or decrease in short-term interest rates on the floating-rate debt
outstanding at June 30, 2001 would cost or save the Company approximately $1.4 million in annual interest expense.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

      The Company is involved in various legal actions and claims arising in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of
management, such litigation and claims are likely to be resolved without material adverse effect on its financial position or results
of operations. In 1998, a Domain stockholder filed suit alleging that the terms of the Merger were unfair. Range was alleged to have
aided and abetted certain breaches of fiduciary duty by the other defendants. On March 14, 2001, the suit was dismissed without



prejudice. In February 2000, a royalty owner filed suit asking for class certification against Great Lakes and the Company in New
York, alleging that gas was sold to affiliates and gas marketers at low prices and inappropriate post production expenses reduced
proceeds to the royalty owners and that the royalty owners’ share of gas was improperly accounted for. The action sought a proper
accounting, an amount equal to the difference in prices paid and the highest obtainable prices, punitive damages and attorneys’
fees. While the outcome is uncertain, Great Lakes believes the suit will be resolved without material adverse effect on its financial
position or result of operations.

Item 2. Changes in Securities and Use of Proceeds
 (a) Not applicable
 (b) Not applicable
 (c) At various times during the quarter and six months ended June 30, 2001, Range issued common stock in exchange for

fixed income securities. The shares of common stock issued in such exchanges were exempt from registration under
Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act of 1933. During the quarter and six months ended June 30, 2001, a total of
$2.6 million and $4.2 million face value of the 6% Debentures were retired in exchange for 332,498 and 520,486 shares
of common stock, $2.4 million and $2.4 million face value of Trust Preferred were exchanged for 230,708 and 230,708
shares of common stock and a total of $12,500 and $5.3 million face value of $2.03 Preferred was retired in exchange for
1,754 and 748,930 shares of common stock, respectively.

 (d) Not applicable.

Item 3. Not applicable
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Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

      On May 24, 2001, the Company held its Annual Meeting of Stockholders. At such meeting Robert E. Aikman, Anthony V.
Dub, V. Richard Eales, Thomas J. Edelman, Allen Finkelson, Alexander P. Lynch, James E. McCormick, and John H. Pinkerton
were reelected as Directors of the Company.

      At the Annual Meeting the shareholders approved the following:

 1. An increase in the Common shares authorized for issuance under the Company’s Stock Option Plan to
3,400,000 shares.

 2. An increase in the Common shares authorized for issuance under the Company’s Stock Purchase Plan to
1,750,000 shares.

               
Results of Voting: Votes For Withheld Abstentions

1. Directors
Robert E. Aikman 45,327,792 1,271,791 0
Anthony V. Dub 45,334,349 1,265,234 0
V. Richard Eales 45,318,442 1,281,141 0
Thomas J. Edelman 45,284,850 1,314,733 0
Allen Finkelson 45,332,949 1,266,634 0
Alexander P. Lynch 45,334,341 1,265,242 0
James E. McCormick 45,327,122 1,272,461 0
John H. Pinkerton 39,866,958 6,732,625 0

2. Increase in number of shares
authorized under the Company 1999
Stock Option Plan to 3,400,000 39,467,173 6,871,375 261,035

3. Increase in authorized shares under
the Company 1997 Stock Purchase
Plan to 1,750,000 42,309,304 4,069,710 220,569

Item 5. Not applicable.

Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K

 (a) Exhibits
 
   The items listed on the accompanying index to exhibits are filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
 
 (b) Reports on Form 8-K – None
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RANGE RESOURCES CORPORATION

 
By: /s/ Eddie M. LeBlanc

Eddie M. LeBlanc
Chief Financial Officer
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SIGNATURES

      Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned. 

August 7, 2001
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EXHIBIT TABLE

           
Sequentially

Exhibit Number Description of Exhibit Numbered Page

4.1 1997 Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to the Company’s Registration Statement
No. 333-40380)

4.2 1997 Stock Purchase Plan – Amendment No. 1 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Registration Statement No. 333-40380)

4.3 1997 Stock Purchase Plan – Amendment No. 2 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Registration Statement No. 333-40380)

4.4 1997 Stock Purchase Plan – Amendment No. 3 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Registration Statement No. 333-40380)

4.5 1997 Stock Purchase Plan – Amendment No. 4 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Registration Statement No. 333-63764)

4.6 Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Option Plan (incorporated by reference to the Company’s
Registration Statement No. 333-63764)

4.7 Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Option Plan – Amendment No. 1 (incorporated by reference
to the Company’s Registration Statement No. 333-63764)

10.1* $225,000,000 Third Amendment to Credit Agreement among Range Resources Corporation, as
Borrower, certain parties, as Lenders, Bank One, Texas, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Chase
Bank of Texas, N.A., as syndication Agent, and Bank of America, N.A., as Documentation
Agent dated September 30, 1999 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s 10-Q dated
August 8, 2000.

10.2* $100,000,000 Second Amendment to Credit Agreement between Range Energy Finance
Corporation, as Borrower, and Credit Lyonnais New York Branch, as Administrative Agent and
Certain Lenders dated December 14, 1999 (incorporated by reference to the Company’s 1999
10K dated March 20, 2000.

10.3* Third Amendment to Credit Agreement Among Great Lakes Energy Partners, L.L.C., as
Borrower and Bank One, Texas, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Chase Bank of Texas, N.A., as
Administrative Agent, Chase Bank of Texas, N.A., as Syndication Agent, Bankers Trust
Company, as Documentation Agent, The Bank of Nova Scotia and Credit Lyonnais New York
Branch, as Managing Agents Banc One Capital Markets, Inc., as Co-Leader Arranger and Chase
Securities Inc., as Co-Lead Arranger, as dated September 30, 1999. (Incorporated by reference as
Exhibit 10.2 of Form 10-Q filed with the commission on November 10, 1999.)

* Filed herewithin.
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                                                                    Exhibit 10.1 
 
                       THIRD AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT 
                       ----------------------------------- 
 
         This Third Amendment to Credit Agreement (this "AMENDMENT") is entered 
into effective August 25, 1998, by and among RANGE RESOURCES CORPORATION 
(formerly Lomak Petroleum, Inc.), a Delaware corporation ("BORROWER"), BANK ONE, 
TEXAS, N.A., as Administrative Agent ("BANK ONE" or "ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT"), 
CHASE BANK OF TEXAS, N.A., as Syndication Agent ("CHASE"), NATIONSBANK, N.A., as 
Documentation Agent ("NATIONSBANK"), and Lenders (as defined in the Credit 
Agreement). 
 
RECITALS: 
- --------- 
 
         A. Borrower and Lenders entered into a Credit Agreement dated February 
14, 1997, as amended by a First Amendment dated September 30, 1997, and by a 
Second Amendment dated May 1, 1998 (as amended, the "CREDIT AGREEMENT"). 
 
         B. Borrower has entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger dated May 
12, 1998, with Domain Energy Corporation, providing for the merger of DEC 
Acquisition, Inc., a wholly owned Subsidiary of Borrower, with and into Domain 
Energy Corporation (the "MERGER"). The Merger will be voted upon by the 
stockholders of Borrower at a meeting scheduled for August 25, 1998. At this 
same meeting, the stockholders of Borrower will also vote on changing Borrower's 
name from Lomak Petroleum, Inc. to Range Resources Corporation. If the name 
change is approved, Borrower intends to cause the names of the majority of its 
Subsidiaries to also be changed. 
 
         C. Pursuant to SECTION 4.03 of the Credit Agreement, Borrower has 
requested, and Lenders have agreed to, contingent upon consummation of the 
Merger, a Special Determination of and increase to the Borrowing Base effective 
upon consummation of the Merger. 
 
         D. Effective August 17, 1998, The Chase Manhattan Bank, as a Lender and 
as Syndication Agent, assigned its interest in the rights and obligations under 
the Credit Agreement to Chase Bank of Texas, N.A. Also, NationsBank of Texas, 
N.A. was merged into NationsBank, N.A., resulting in NationsBank, N.A. being a 
Lender and Documentation Agent under the Credit Agreement. In addition, The 
First National Bank of Chicago has elected not to continue as a Lender under the 
Credit Agreement, and Bankers Trust Company and The Sanwa Bank, Limited have 
agreed to become Lenders under the Credit Agreement. Bankers Trust Company also 
will become Managing Agent under the Credit Agreement. 
 
         E. Borrower and Lenders desire to amend the Credit Agreement as 
hereinafter set forth in order to, among other things, acknowledge the transfer 
from The Chase 
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Manhattan Bank to Chase Bank of Texas, N.A., acknowledge the merger of 
NationsBank of Texas, N.A., acknowledge the withdrawal of The First National 
Bank of Chicago as a Lender, confirm the addition of each of Bankers Trust 
Company and The Sanwa Bank, Limited as a Lender, confirm the revised Commitments 
and Commitment Percentages resulting from these actions, and increase the 
Borrowing Base. 
 
AGREEMENT: 
- ---------- 
 
         In consideration of the premises, the representations, warranties, 
covenants, and agreements contained herein, and other good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, 
Borrower and Lenders agree as follows, effective only upon satisfaction of each 
condition precedent set forth in Section 4.1 below: 
 
ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS. 
- ------------------------ 
 
         1.1 CREDIT AGREEMENT DEFINITIONS. Capitalized terms used but not 
defined in this Amendment have the meanings given such terms in the Credit 
Agreement. 
 
ARTICLE 2 - AMENDMENTS. 
- ----------------------- 
 
         2.1 CHASE TRANSFER. The Credit Agreement is hereby amended to delete 
The Chase Manhattan Bank as a Lender and as Syndication Agent and to substitute 
in its place Chase Bank of Texas, N.A. as a Lender and as Syndication Agent. 
 
         2.2 NATIONSBANK MERGER. The Credit Agreement is hereby amended to 
change NationsBank of Texas, N.A. wherever it appears to NationsBank, N.A. 
 
         2.3 FIRST CHICAGO WITHDRAWAL. The Credit Agreement is hereby amended to 
delete The First National Bank of Chicago as a Lender and to add Bankers Trust 
Company and The Sanwa Bank, Limited as Lenders. The First National Bank of 
Chicago has agreed to enter into an Assignment and Assumption Agreement in the 
form of EXHIBIT A attached to this Amendment for the purpose of assigning its 
undivided interest in the rights and obligations under the Credit Agreement to 
Bankers Trust Company and The Sanwa Bank, Limited. Bank One, Chase, and 
NationsBank will also join in the Assignment and Assumption Agreement to 
evidence their assignment of a portion of their rights and obligations to those 
parties. To the extent of each party's Commitment Percentage, Bankers Trust 
Company and The Sanwa Bank, Limited each agree to assume the obligations of The 
First National Bank of Chicago, Bank One, Chase, and NationsBank under the 
Credit Agreement. Bankers Trust Company and The Sanwa Bank, Limited each ratify 
the Credit Agreement and agree to be bound by its terms. 
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Borrower, Agents, and Lenders consent to the replacement of The First National 
Bank of Chicago by Bankers Trust Company and The Sanwa Bank, Limited. 
 
         2.4 MANAGING AGENT. Bankers Trust Company is hereby designated as 
Managing Agent for Lenders under the Credit Agreement. 
 
         2.5 COMMITMENTS AND NOTES. (a) As of the Effective Date (defined 
below), Lenders agree that their Commitments and Commitment Percentages are as 
shown on SCHEDULE 1 attached to this Amendment. The Addresses for Notices 
attached as SCHEDULE 2 to the Credit Agreement is also replaced by SCHEDULE 2 
attached to this Amendment, and the List of Subsidiaries attached as SCHEDULE 3 
to the Credit Agreement is also replaced by SCHEDULE 3 attached to this 
Amendment. 
 
                  (b) Borrower shall sign and deliver to each respective Lender 
a single promissory note in the form attached to this Amendment as EXHIBIT B. 
Simultaneously with the execution of this Amendment, Administrative Agent shall 
deliver to each Lender the Note payable to that Lender. The definitions of 
"Note" and "Notes" in the Credit Agreement shall mean the notes executed in 
connection with this Amendment, evidencing the Loans, payable by Borrower to 
each respective Lender, and any renewals, extensions, and modifications of those 
notes. 
 
         2.6 AMENDMENTS TO ARTICLE 1 - DEFINITIONS. (a) The definitions of 
Permitted Investments and Restricted Payments appearing in SECTION 1.01 of the 
Credit Agreement are hereby amended in their entirety to read as follows: 
 
                  "PERMITTED INVESTMENTS" means with respect to Borrower and its 
         Subsidiaries: (a) Investments by Borrower in its Subsidiaries 
         (excluding DEFC) or by its Subsidiaries in other Subsidiaries 
         (excluding DEFC) or in Borrower; (b) Investments in (1) direct 
         obligations of the United States or any agency thereof with maturities 
         of one year or less from the date of acquisition; (2) commercial paper 
         of a domestic issuer rated at least "A-1" by Standard & Poor's 
         Corporation or "P-1" by Moody's Investor Service, Inc.; (3) 
         certificates of deposit with maturities of one year or less from the 
         date of acquisition issued by any commercial bank which is a member of 
         the Federal Reserve System and has combined capital and surplus and 
         undivided profits of not less than $1,000,000,000; (4) Capital Stock, 
         obligations, or securities received in settlement of debts (created in 
         the ordinary course of business) owing to Borrower or any Subsidiary; 
         and (5) Oil and Gas Hedge Transactions permitted by SECTION 7.03(i); 
         and (c) Investments in Capital Stock of publicly traded companies, 
         PROVIDED, THAT, the aggregate cost of all Investments which are 
         outstanding pursuant to this clause (c) at any time shall not exceed an 
         amount equal to 10% of the Borrowing Base in effect at such time. 
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                  "RESTRICTED PAYMENT" means (a) any Distribution by Borrower or 
         any Subsidiary of Borrower to any Person other than Borrower or another 
         wholly-owned Subsidiary of Borrower, (b) any Distribution by Borrower 
         or any subsidiary of Borrower to DEFC, (c) the issuance of a Guarantee 
         by Borrower or a Subsidiary of Borrower with respect to any Debt or 
         other obligation of Borrower or any Subsidiary (excluding (i) any 
         Guarantee by a Subsidiary with respect to any Debt or other obligation 
         of Borrower or any Subsidiary of Borrower incurred in connection with 
         Borrower's March 1997 issuance of senior subordinated notes, or any 
         renewal, amendment, refinancing, rearrangement, modification, or 
         restatement thereof on terms and conditions similar in all material 
         respects to the notes issued pursuant to such offering and (ii) the 
         DEFC Guarantee), and (d) the retirement, redemption, or prepayment 
         prior to the scheduled maturity by Borrower or any Subsidiary of 
         Borrower of its Subordinated Debt. 
 
         (b) SECTION 1.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to add the 
following defined terms: 
 
                  "DEFC" means Domain Energy Finance Corporation, a Delaware 
         corporation. 
 
                  "DEFC GUARANTEE" means a Guarantee by Borrower of up to 
         $50,000,000 in the aggregate of DEFC's Debt or other obligations owed 
         to DEFC's lender effective only in the event of a failure of title to 
         an interest (i) acquired by DEFC from a third party to whom DEFC has 
         provided financing and (ii) considered by DEFC's lender for purposes of 
         determining DEFC's borrowing base. 
 
                  "EFFECTIVE DATE" means the effective date of the Merger. 
 
                  "MANAGING AGENT" means Bankers Trust Company, in its capacity 
         as Managing Agent for Lenders. 
 
                  "MERGER" means the merger of DEC Acquisition, Inc., a wholly 
         owned Subsidiary of Borrower, with and into Domain Energy Corporation, 
         as contemplated by the Merger Agreement. 
 
                  "MERGER AGREEMENT" means the Agreement and Plan of Merger 
         dated May 12, 1998, among Lomak Petroleum, Inc., DEC Acquisition, Inc., 
         and Domain Energy Corporation, providing for the merger of DEC 
         Acquisition, Inc., a wholly owned Subsidiary of Borrower, with and into 
         Domain Energy Corporation. 
 
 
                            THIRD AMENDMENT - Page 4 



   5 
 
         2.7 AMENDMENT TO ARTICLE 2 - AMOUNT AND TERMS OF COMMITMENTS. SECTION 
2.06 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety to read: 
 
                  "2.06. USE OF PROCEEDS. The proceeds of the Loans made on or 
         after the Effective Date shall be used (a) to refinance indebtedness 
         existing as of the Effective Date of Borrower or any Subsidiary of 
         Borrower excluding DEFC; (b) for payment of capital expenditures, 
         drilling costs, and other expenses incurred by Borrower and its 
         Subsidiaries excluding DEFC in the further development, exploration, 
         and production of Borrower's Oil and Gas Properties; (c) for Borrower 
         and its Subsidiaries excluding DEFC to purchase additional oil and gas 
         properties; (d) for working capital and general corporate purposes, but 
         only to the extent that the use of proceeds for these purposes would be 
         permitted under the terms of this Agreement; (e) to fund reimbursement 
         obligations with respect to Letters of Credit; (f) for Permitted 
         Investments, but excluding Capital Stock of publicly traded companies; 
         and (g) for Restricted Payments permitted under this Agreement." 
 
         2.8 AMENDMENT TO ARTICLE 5 - COLLATERAL. SECTION 5.02 of the Credit 
Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety to read: 
 
                  "5.02. GUARANTIES. Payment and performance of the Obligations 
         will be fully guaranteed by each of Borrower's Subsidiaries, excluding 
         DEFC, pursuant to a Guaranty Agreement executed by such Subsidiaries, 
         substantially in the form of attached EXHIBIT C." 
 
         2.9 AMENDMENTS TO ARTICLE 7 - REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND 
COVENANTS. (a) SECTION 7.01 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to add the 
following warranty and representation: 
 
                  "(v) YEAR 2000 PROBLEM." Borrower and its Subsidiaries have 
         reviewed the areas within their business and operations which could be 
         adversely affected by, and have developed or are developing a program 
         to address on a timely basis, the risk that certain computer 
         applications used by Borrower and its Subsidiaries may be unable to 
         recognize and perform properly date-sensitive functions involving dates 
         after December 31, 1999 (the "YEAR 2000 PROBLEM"). The Year 2000 
         Problem is not reasonably expected to result in a Material Adverse 
         Effect." 
 
                  (b) SECTION 7.03(b) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended 
in its entirety to read: 
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                  "(b) OTHER DEBT." Create, incur, assume or suffer to exist, or 
         permit any Subsidiary to create, incur, assume or suffer to exist, any 
         Debt except: 
 
                           (1)(i) Debt under this Agreement; (ii) Subordinated 
                  Debt incurred by Borrower as a result of the exchange of 
                  preferred stock issued in Borrower's November 1995 preferred 
                  stock offering; (iii) Subordinated Debt in existence on the 
                  Effective Date and Subordinated Debt subsequently incurred by 
                  Borrower, the terms and amount of which are acceptable to 
                  Required Lenders; (iv) Debt under any Oil and Gas Hedge 
                  Transaction permitted by SECTION 7.03(j) below; (v) Debt 
                  incurred in accordance with the Borrower's March 1997 issuance 
                  of senior subordinated notes; (vi) Debt under Capital Leases 
                  not to exceed $10,000,000; (vii) Debt associated with bonds or 
                  surety obligations required in the ordinary course of business 
                  by any Governmental Authority in connection with the operation 
                  of Borrower's Oil and Gas Properties; (viii) Debt of Borrower 
                  and its Subsidiaries existing on the Effective Date which is 
                  reflected in the financial statements described in SECTION 
                  7.01(a) or otherwise disclosed to Administrative Agent in 
                  writing, and any renewals or extensions (but not increases) 
                  thereof; (ix) accounts payable (for the deferred purchase 
                  price of property or services) from time to time incurred in 
                  the ordinary course of business which, if greater than 90 days 
                  past the invoice or billing date, are being contested in good 
                  faith by appropriate proceedings if reserves adequate under 
                  GAAP shall have been established therefor; (x) Debt of 
                  Borrower arising under any Guarantee by Borrower of a 
                  Subsidiary's obligations with respect to gas purchase 
                  agreements or other contracts for the purchase of crude oil or 
                  natural gas excluding such obligations of DEFC; and (xi) Debt 
                  of DEFC with respect to which there is no recourse for 
                  repayment to Borrower or any other Subsidiary of Borrower; and 
 
                           (2) Debt in addition to that permitted in SECTION 
                  7.03(b)(1) not to exceed $20,000,000 in the aggregate." 
 
         (c) SECTION 7.03(f) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended in its 
entirety to read: 
 
                  "(f) ADVANCES AND INVESTMENTS. Make or permit any Subsidiary 
         to make Advances to any Person or Investments in any Person; PROVIDED, 
         THAT, Borrower and its Subsidiaries may (i) make Advances to or 
         Investments in any wholly owned 
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         Subsidiary of Borrower excluding DEFC, (ii) make Advances in addition 
         to those described in clause (i) preceding which do not exceed 
         $5,000,000 in the aggregate in any calendar year and $15,000,000 in the 
         aggregate during the Commitment Period, and (iii) make Permitted 
         Investments." 
 
         (d) SECTION 7.03(g) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended in its 
entirety to read: 
 
                  "(g) RESTRICTED PAYMENTS. Make any Restricted Payment; 
         provided, that, so long as no Default or Event of Default exists and no 
         Default or Event of Default will result from the Restricted Payment, 
         Restricted Payments may be made in an aggregate amount (measured 
         cumulatively from June 30, 1998) not to exceed the sum of (i) 
         $25,000,000, plus (ii) 50% of the Net Cash Proceeds to Borrower from 
         all common equity offerings completed by Borrower after the Effective 
         Date, plus (ii) 50% of Borrower's Consolidated Net Income earned after 
         June 30, 1998 (for purposes of this SECTION 7.03(g) only, Consolidated 
         Net Income shall exclude non-cash impairments of long-lived assets as 
         prescribed under Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 
         121)." 
 
         (e) SECTION 7.03 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended to add 
Section 7.03(p) which reads: 
 
                  "(p) RESTRICTIONS WITH RESPECT TO OBLIGATIONS OF DEFC. Issue a 
         Guarantee with respect to any Debt or other obligation of DEFC or 
         otherwise become liable, directly or indirectly, for any such Debt or 
         other obligation, with the exception that Borrower may issue the DEFC 
         Guarantee; or make any Advance to, Investment in, or Distribution to 
         DEFC other than as may be permitted under SECTION 7.03(f) and SECTION 
         7.03(g) above." 
 
         (f) SECTION 7.04(a) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended in its 
entirety to read: 
 
                  "(a) CONSOLIDATED TANGIBLE NET WORTH. A minimum Consolidated 
         Tangible Net Worth as of any date which is not less than the sum of (i) 
         $175,000,000, plus (ii) 50% of the net proceeds to Borrower from the 
         issuance of equity securities on or after the Effective Date." 
 
         2.10 AMENDMENTS TO ARTICLE 8 - DEFAULT. (a) SECTION 8.01(g) of the 
Credit Agreement is hereby amended in its entirety to read: 
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                  "(g) Borrower's or any Subsidiary's (excluding DEFC) voluntary 
         bankruptcy filing, its liquidation or termination of existence, its 
         merger or consolidation with another where Borrower is not the 
         surviving entity, its insolvency, its forfeiture of right to do 
         business, its appointment of a custodian, trustee, or receiver for any 
         part of its property, or its assignment for the benefit of creditors." 
 
         (b) SECTION 8.01(h) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended in its 
entirety to read: 
 
                  "(h) The commencement by a third party of any proceeding under 
         any bankruptcy or insolvency law against Borrower or any Subsidiary 
         (excluding DEFC) if the proceeding has not been dismissed within 60 
         days after its commencement." 
 
         2.11 AMENDMENTS TO SCHEDULES AND EXHIBITS. The Credit Agreement is 
hereby amended to replace the following Schedules and Exhibits to the Credit 
Agreement with the corresponding Schedules and Exhibits attached to this 
Amendment: 
 
                  Schedule 1 - Commitments 
                  Schedule 2 - Addresses for Notices 
                  Schedule 3 - List of Subsidiaries 
                  Exhibit A - Assignment and Assumption Agreement 
                  Exhibit B - Note 
                  Exhibit C - Guaranty Agreement 
 
         2.12 NAME CHANGES. Lenders acknowledge that Borrower has changed its 
name from Lomak Petroleum, Inc. to Range Resources Corporation and that Borrower 
will cause substantially all of its Subsidiaries to change their names. Borrower 
agrees that it will, and will cause all its Subsidiaries to, execute all 
amendments to the Loan Documents reasonably requested by Administrative Agent to 
evidence the name changes. 
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ARTICLE 3 - BORROWING BASE DETERMINATION. 
- ---------------------------------------- 
 
         3.1 PERIODIC DETERMINATION OF BORROWING BASE. Pursuant to SECTIONS 4.01 
and 4.02 of the Credit Agreement and effective only upon satisfaction of the 
conditions precedent set out in ARTICLE 4 below, the Borrowing Base will 
increase to and remain at $385,000,000 until the next Periodic Determination or 
Special Determination. In consideration for the increase in the Borrowing Base 
from $325,000,000 to $385,000,000, Borrower agrees to pay to Administrative 
Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Lenders (excluding The First National Bank 
of Chicago) and allocated in accordance with the Commitment Percentages shown on 
attached SCHEDULE 1, a fee equal to 1/8 of 1.0% of $60,000,000, or $75,000. 
 
ARTICLE 4 - CONDITIONS PRECEDENT. 
- -------------------------------- 
 
         4.1 CONDITIONS PRECEDENT. The effectiveness of this Amendment is 
subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions precedent, unless 
specifically waived in writing by Administrative Agent: 
 
                  (a) CLOSING DELIVERIES. Administrative Agent shall have 
received the following documents, instruments, agreements, and other 
information, each of which shall be in form and substance and executed in such 
counterparts as shall be acceptable to Administrative Agent and Required Lenders 
and each of which shall, unless otherwise indicated, be dated the Effective 
Date: 
 
                           (i)  this Amendment; 
 
                           (ii) a Note payable to the order of each Lender in 
the amount of such Lender's Commitment, duly executed by Borrower; 
 
                           (iii) a Guaranty Agreement duly executed by each of 
Borrower's Subsidiaries who have not previously executed a guaranty of the 
Obligations, excluding DEFC; 
 
                           (iv) a certificate executed by an Authorized Officer 
of Borrower stating that (A) the representations and warranties of Borrower 
contained in this Agreement and the other Loan Documents are true and correct in 
all respects, (B) no Default or Event of Default has occurred which is 
continuing, and (C) all conditions set forth in this SECTION 4.1(a) and in 
SECTION 6.02 of the Credit Agreement have been satisfied; 
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                           (v) such resolutions, certificates and other 
documents relating to the existence of the Loan Parties, the corporate, 
partnership, or limited liability company authority for the execution, delivery 
and performance of this Agreement, the Notes, the other Loan Documents, and 
certain other matters relevant hereto, in form and substance satisfactory to 
Administrative Agent, which resolutions, certificates and documents include 
resolutions of the directors of each Loan Party authorizing the execution, 
delivery, and performance of the Loan Documents and certificates of incumbency 
for each Loan Party; 
 
                           (vi) all documents required by Administrative Agent 
to evidence that the Merger has occurred on or before August 25, 1998; 
 
                           (vii) satisfactory evidence of the consummation of 
the Merger and a certificate from an Authorized Officer certifying that the 
Merger has been consummated; and 
 
                           (viii) copies of all financial statements, reports, 
notices, and proxy statements sent by Borrower to its shareholders and all 
information filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission with respect to 
the Merger. 
 
                  (b) NO MATERIAL ADVERSE EFFECT. No event or condition shall 
have occurred which is reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
                  (c) NO LEGAL PROHIBITION. The transactions contemplated by 
this Amendment and the Merger Agreement shall be permitted by applicable law and 
regulation and shall not subject Agents, any Lender, Borrower, or any Subsidiary 
to any material adverse change in their assets, liabilities, financial 
condition, or prospects. 
 
                  (d) NO LITIGATION. No litigation, arbitration, or similar 
proceeding shall be pending or threatened against Borrower or any Subsidiary 
which calls into question the validity or enforceability of the Credit Agreement 
(as amended hereby), the other Loan Documents, or the Merger Agreement. 
 
                  (e) NO DEFAULT. No Default or Event of Default shall have 
occurred and be continuing. 
 
                  (f) OTHER MATTERS. All matters related to this Amendment, the 
other Loan Documents, Borrower, its Subsidiaries, and the Merger shall be 
acceptable to Administrative Agent and each Lender in their discretion, and 
Borrower shall have delivered to Administrative Agent and each Lender such 
evidence as they shall request 
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to substantiate any matters related to the Credit Agreement (as amended hereby), 
the other Loan Documents, Borrower, its Subsidiaries, and the Merger as 
Administrative Agent or any Lender shall request. 
 
                  (g) CLOSING FEES. Borrower shall have paid to Agents and 
         Lenders the fee described in SECTION 4.1 above. 
 
ARTICLE 5 - RATIFICATIONS, REPRESENTATIONS, AND COVENANTS. 
- --------------------------------------------------------- 
 
         5.1 RATIFICATIONS. The terms and provisions set forth in this Amendment 
shall modify and supersede all inconsistent terms and provisions set forth in 
the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents, and, except as expressly 
modified and superseded by this Amendment, the terms and provisions of the 
Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents are ratified and confirmed and 
shall continue in full force and effect. Borrower and Lenders agree that the 
Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents, as amended hereby, shall continue 
to be legal, valid, binding, and enforceable in accordance with their respective 
terms. 
 
         5.2 REPRESENTATIONS AND COVENANTS. Borrower hereby represents and 
warrants to Lenders that (a) the execution, delivery, and performance of this 
Amendment and any and all other Loan Documents executed or delivered in 
connection herewith have been authorized by all requisite corporate action on 
the part of Borrower and will not violate the Articles of Incorporation or 
Bylaws of Borrower; (b) the representations and warranties contained in the 
Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, and any other Loan Documents are true and 
correct on and as of the date hereof, as though made on and as of such date; (c) 
no Default or Event of Default under the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, 
has occurred and is continuing; and (d) Borrower is in full compliance with all 
covenants and agreements contained in the Credit Agreement and the other Loan 
Documents, as amended hereby. 
 
ARTICLE 6 - MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 
- ------------------------------------ 
 
         6.1 NO WAIVER. Except as specifically provided in this Amendment, 
nothing contained in this Amendment shall be construed as a waiver by Lenders of 
any covenant or provision of the Credit Agreement, the other Loan Documents, 
this Amendment, or of any other contract or instrument between Borrower and 
Lenders, and the failure of Lenders at any time or times hereafter to require 
strict performance by Borrower of any provision thereof shall not waive, affect, 
or diminish any right of Lenders to thereafter demand strict compliance 
therewith. Lenders hereby reserve all rights granted under the 
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Credit Agreement, the other Loan Documents, this Amendment, and any other 
contract or instrument between Borrower and Lenders. 
 
         6.2 SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. All representations and 
warranties made in the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Documents, including, 
without limitation, any document furnished in connection with this Amendment, 
shall survive the execution and delivery of this Amendment and the other Loan 
Documents, and no investigation by Agents or any Lender shall affect the 
representations and warranties or the right of Agents or any Lender to rely upon 
them. 
 
         6.3 REFERENCE TO CREDIT AGREEMENT. Each of the Credit Agreement and the 
other Loan Documents, and any and all other agreements, documents, or 
instruments now or hereafter executed and delivered pursuant to the terms hereof 
or pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement, as amended hereby, are hereby 
amended so that any reference in the Credit Agreement and such other Loan 
Documents to the Credit Agreement shall mean a reference to the Credit Agreement 
as amended hereby. 
 
         6.4 EXPENSES OF AGENT. As provided in the Credit Agreement, Borrower 
agrees to pay on demand all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by 
Administrative Agent in connection with the preparation, negotiation, and 
execution of this Amendment and the other Loan Documents executed pursuant 
hereto and any and all amendments, modifications, and supplements thereto, 
including, without limitation, the costs and fees of Administrative Agent's 
legal counsel, and all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by Lenders in 
connection with the enforcements or preservation of any rights under the Credit 
Agreement, as amended hereby, or any other Loan Documents, including, without 
limitation, the reasonable costs and fees of Administrative Agent's legal 
counsel. 
 
         6.5 SEVERABILITY. Any provisions of this Amendment held by a court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable shall not impair or 
invalidate the remainder of this Amendment and the effect thereof shall be 
confined to the provisions so held to be invalid or unenforceable. 
 
         6.6 SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. This Amendment is binding upon and shall 
inure to the benefit of Lenders and Borrower and their respective successors and 
assigns, except that Borrower may not assign or transfer any of its rights or 
obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of Lenders. 
 
         6.7 COUNTERPARTS. This Amendment may be executed in one or more 
counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original, 
but all of which when taken together shall constitute one and the same 
instrument. 
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         6.8 EFFECT OF WAIVER. No consent or waiver, express or implied, by 
Administrative Agent or any Lender to or for any breach of or deviation from any 
covenant or condition by Borrower shall be deemed a consent to or waiver of any 
other breach of the same or any other covenant, condition, or duty. 
 
         6.9 HEADINGS. The headings, captions, and arrangements used in this 
Amendment are for convenience only and shall not affect the interpretation of 
this Amendment. 
 
         6.10 APPLICABLE LAW. THIS AMENDMENT AND ALL OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS 
EXECUTED PURSUANT HERETO SHALL BE DEEMED TO HAVE BEEN MADE AND TO BE PERFORMABLE 
IN AND SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE 
STATE OF TEXAS UNLESS THE LAWS GOVERNING NATIONAL BANKS SHALL HAVE APPLICATION. 
 
         6.11 FINAL AGREEMENT. THE CREDIT AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN 
DOCUMENTS, EACH AS AMENDED HEREBY, REPRESENT THE ENTIRE AGREEMENT OF THE PARTIES 
WITH RESPECT TO THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF ON THE DATE THIS AMENDMENT IS 
EXECUTED. THE CREDIT AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS, AS AMENDED HEREBY, 
MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS, OR SUBSEQUENT 
ORAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES. THERE ARE NO UNWRITTEN AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE 
PARTIES. NO MODIFICATION, RESCISSION, WAIVER, RELEASE, OR AMENDMENT OF ANY 
PROVISION OF THIS AMENDMENT SHALL BE MADE EXCEPT BY A WRITTEN AGREEMENT SIGNED 
BY BORROWER AND LENDERS. 
 
                               BORROWER: 
                               -------- 
 
                               RANGE RESOURCES CORPORATION 
 
                               By:________________________________ 
                                   Thomas W. Stoelk, 
                                   Senior Vice President - 
                                   Finance and Administration 
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                               AGENTS: 
                               ------ 
 
                               BANK ONE, TEXAS, N.A., 
                                 as Administrative Agent and a Lender 
 
                               By:________________________________ 
                                   Brad Bartek, Senior Vice President 
 
                               CHASE BANK OF TEXAS, N.A., 
                                 as Syndication Agent and a Lender 
 
                               By:________________________________ 
                                        Lee E. Beckelman, 
                                        Vice President 
 
                               NATIONSBANK, N.A., 
                                 as Documentation Agent and a Lender 
 
                               By:______________________________ 
                                   J. Scott Fowler, Vice President 
 
                               BANKERS TRUST COMPANY 
 
                               By:______________________________ 
                               Name:____________________________ 
                               Title:___________________________ 
 
 
                               OTHER LENDERS: 
                               ------------- 
 
                               PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION 
 
                               By:_______________________________ 
                               Name:____________________________ 
                               Title:_____________________________ 
 
                               BANKBOSTON, N.A. 
 
                               By:______________________________ 
                               Name:____________________________ 
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                               Title:_____________________________ 
 
                               CIBC INC. 
 
                               By:______________________________ 
                               Name:____________________________ 
                               Title:_____________________________ 
 
                               WELLS FARGO BANK (TEXAS), N.A. 
 
                               By:______________________________ 
                                   Charles D. Kirkham, Vice President 
 
                               CREDIT LYONNAIS 
 
                               By:______________________________ 
                               Name:____________________________ 
                               Title:_____________________________ 
 
                               ABN AMRO BANK N.V. 
                               By:      ABN AMRO North America, Inc. 
 
                               By: _________________________ 
                               Name:_______________________ 
                               Title:________________________ 
 
                               By: _________________________ 
                               Name:_______________________ 
                               Title:________________________ 
 
                               BANK OF SCOTLAND 
 
                               By:______________________________ 
                               Name:____________________________ 
                               Title:_____________________________ 
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                               THE SANWA BANK, LIMITED 
 
                               By:______________________________ 
                               Name:____________________________ 
                               Title:_____________________________ 
 
 
SCHEDULES AND EXHIBITS 
Schedule 1 - Commitments 
Schedule 2 - Addresses for Notices 
Schedule 3 - List of Subsidiaries 
Exhibit A - Assignment and Assumption Agreement 
Exhibit B - Note 
Exhibit C - Guaranty Agreement 
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                                   SCHEDULE 1 
                                   ---------- 
 
                                   COMMITMENTS 
 
 
- ---------------------------------- ------------------- ------------------- 
                                                          COMMITMENT 
LENDER                                 COMMITMENT         PERCENTAGE 
- ---------------------------------- ------------------- ------------------- 
Bank One, Texas, N.A.                  $45,000,000          11.25% 
- ---------------------------------- ------------------- ------------------- 
NationsBank, N.A.                      $45,000,000          11.25% 
- ---------------------------------- ------------------- ------------------- 
Chase Bank of Texas, N.A.              $45,000,000          11.25% 
- ---------------------------------- ------------------- ------------------- 
Bankers Trust Company                  $37,000,000           9.25% 
- ---------------------------------- ------------------- ------------------- 
PNC Bank, National Association         $35,000,000           8.75% 
- ---------------------------------- ------------------- ------------------- 
BankBoston, N.A.                       $35,000,000           8.75% 
- ---------------------------------- ------------------- ------------------- 
CIBC Inc.                              $35,000,000           8.75% 
- ---------------------------------- ------------------- ------------------- 
Wells Fargo Bank (Texas), N.A.         $35,000,000           8.75% 
- ---------------------------------- ------------------- ------------------- 
Credit Lyonnais                        $35,000,000           8.75% 
- ---------------------------------- ------------------- ------------------- 
ABN AMRO Bank N.V.                     $20,000,000           5.00% 
- ---------------------------------- ------------------- ------------------- 
Bank of Scotland                       $18,000,000           4.50% 
- ---------------------------------- ------------------- ------------------- 
The Sanwa Bank, Limited                $15,000,000           3.75% 
- ---------------------------------- ------------------- ------------------- 
Total Commitment                      $400,000,000         100.00% 
- ---------------------------------- ------------------- ------------------- 
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                                                                    Exhibit 10.2 
 
                      SECOND AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
         THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT (the "AMENDMENT") is entered 
into effective as of May 1, 2001, among Range Energy Finance Corporation, a 
Delaware corporation ("BORROWER"), Compass Bank, an Alabama state chartered 
Bank, as Collateral Agent (in such capacity, "COLLATERAL AGENT"), Credit 
Lyonnais New York Branch, as Administrative Agent (in such capacity, 
"ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT"), and the LENDERS (herein so called) named on SCHEDULE 2 
(as amended and supplemented from time to time) of the Credit Agreement (as 
hereinafter defined). 
 
                                 R E C I T A L S 
                                 --------------- 
 
         A. Borrower, Lenders, Collateral Agent and Administrative Agent entered 
into that certain Credit Agreement dated as of December 14, 1999 (as modified 
and amended pursuant to that certain First Amendment to Credit Agreement dated 
as of May 19, 2000, the "CREDIT AGREEMENT"). Unless otherwise indicated herein, 
all capitalized and undefined terms used herein shall have the same meanings as 
set forth for such terms in the Credit Agreement, and all Section references are 
to Sections in the Credit Agreement. 
 
         B. Borrower has requested that the Lenders modify and amend certain 
terms and provisions of the Credit Agreement to (i) extend the 
Stated-Termination Date from December 14, 2002 to January 1, 2004, and (ii) 
increase the amount of Subordinated Debt which may be repaid from time to time 
pursuant to Section 9.2(b)(iii)(x) of the Credit Agreement. 
 
          C. The Lenders are willing to so amend the Credit Agreement, as 
requested, but only upon the condition that Borrower and the Lenders shall have 
executed and delivered this Amendment and that Borrower shall have fully 
satisfied the terms and conditions hereof. 
 
         NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and 
valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby 
acknowledged, Borrower, Collateral Agent, Administrative Agent and the Lenders 
hereby agree, as follows: 
 
PARAGRAPH 1. AMENDMENTS TO CREDIT AGREEMENT. The Credit Agreement is hereby 
amended, as follows: 
 
         1.1      AMENDMENT TO SECTION 1.1. The definition of the term 
                  "Stated-Termination Date" in Section 1.1 is hereby amended, in 
                  its entirety, to read as follows: 
 
                  STATED-TERMINATION DATE means January 1, 2004. 
 
         1.3      AMENDMENT TO SECTION 9.2. SECTION 9.2 is amended, by replacing 
                  each reference to the amount "$1,500,000" in subsection 
                  (b)(iii)(x) thereof with the amount "$3,000,000." 
 
PARAGRAPH 2. AMENDMENT EFFECTIVE DATE. This Amendment shall be binding upon all 
parties to the Loan Documents on the last day upon which counterparts of this 
Amendment shall have been executed and delivered to Administrative Agent by 
Borrower, Collateral Agent, Administrative Agent, and the Lenders or when 
Administrative Agent shall have received telecopied, telexed, or other evidence 
satisfactory to it that all such parties have executed and are delivering to 
Administrative Agent counterparts thereof, and upon payment of all fees and 
expenses set forth in the separate letter agreement of even effective date 
herewith between Borrower and Administrative Agent. 
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Upon satisfaction of the foregoing conditions, this Amendment shall be deemed 
effective on and as of the date first above written (the "AMENDMENT EFFECTIVE 
DATE"). 
 
PARAGRAPH 3. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. As a material inducement to Lenders 
to execute and deliver this Amendment, Borrower hereby represents and warrants 
to Lenders (with the knowledge and intent that Lenders are relying upon the same 
in entering into this Amendment) the following: (a) the representations and 
warranties in the Credit Agreement and in all other Loan Documents are true and 
correct on the date hereof in all material respects, as though made on the date 
hereof; and (b) except for matters being modified by this Amendment, no Default 
or Potential Default exists under the Loan Documents. 
 
PARAGRAPH 4. ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF CURRENT BORROWING BASE. The parties hereto 
acknowledge, agree and reaffirm that the Borrowing Base in effect from and after 
the date hereof until the next determination thereof pursuant to SECTION 2.6 of 
the Credit Agreement shall be $30,000,000. 
 
PARAGRAPH 5. MISCELLANEOUS. 
 
         5.1 EFFECT ON LOAN DOCUMENTS. The Credit Agreement and all related Loan 
Documents shall remain unchanged and in full force and effect, except as 
provided in this Amendment, and are hereby ratified and confirmed. On and after 
the Amendment Effective Date, all references to the "Credit Agreement" shall be 
to the Credit Agreement as herein amended. The execution, delivery, and 
effectiveness of this Amendment shall not, except as expressly provided herein, 
operate as a waiver of any Rights of the Lenders under the Credit Agreement or 
any Loan Documents, nor constitute a waiver under the Credit Agreement or any 
other provision of the Loan Documents. 
 
         5.2 REFERENCE TO MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. This Amendment and the other 
documents delivered pursuant to this Amendment are part of the Loan Documents 
referred to in the Credit Agreement, and the provisions relating to Loan 
Documents set forth in SECTION 14 are incorporated herein by reference the same 
as if set forth herein verbatim. 
 
         5.3 COSTS AND EXPENSES. Borrower agrees to pay promptly the reasonable 
fees and expenses of counsel to Administrative Agent for services rendered in 
connection with the preparation, negotiation, reproduction, execution, and 
delivery of this Amendment. 
 
         5.4 COUNTERPARTS. This Amendment may be executed in a number of 
identical counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original for all 
purposes, and all of which constitute, collectively, one agreement; but, in 
making proof of this Amendment, it shall not be necessary to produce or account 
for more than one such counterpart. It is not necessary that all parties execute 
the same counterpart so long as identical counterparts are executed by Borrower, 
each Lender, Collateral Agent and Administrative Agent. 
 
         5.5 THIS WRITTEN AGREEMENT REPRESENTS THE FINAL AGREEMENT AMONG THE 
PARTIES AND MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS, OR 
SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENT OF THE PARTIES. THERE ARE NO UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS 
AMONG THE PARTIES. 
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         IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Amendment in 
multiple counterparts effective as of the Amendment Effective Date. 
 
 
                                     RANGE ENERGY FINANCE CORPORATION, as 
                                     Borrower 
 
 
                                     By: 
                                        ---------------------------------------- 
                                     Name: 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
                                     Title: 
                                           ------------------------------------- 
 
                                     CREDIT LYONNAIS NEW YORK BRANCH, 
                                     as Administrative Agent and as a Lender 
 
 
                                     By: 
                                        ---------------------------------------- 
                                     Name: 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
                                     Title: 
                                           ------------------------------------- 
 
                                     COMPASS BANK, as Collateral Agent and as a 
                                     Lender 
 
 
                                     By: 
                                        ---------------------------------------- 
                                     Name: 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
                                     Title: 
                                           ------------------------------------- 
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                                                                    Exhibit 10.3 
 
                            RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
                                      AMONG 
 
                GREAT LAKES ENERGY PARTNERS, L.L.C., AS BORROWER 
 
                                       AND 
 
                                  BANK ONE, NA 
                        AND THE INSTITUTIONS NAMED HEREIN 
                                   AS LENDERS 
 
                                       AND 
                                  BANK ONE, NA, 
                             AS ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT 
 
                            THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK, 
                              AS SYNDICATION AGENT, 
 
                             BANKERS TRUST COMPANY, 
                             AS DOCUMENTATION AGENT 
 
                             THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA 
                      AND CREDIT LYONNAIS NEW YORK BRANCH, 
                               AS MANAGING AGENTS 
 
                         BANC ONE CAPITAL MARKETS, INC., 
                               AS CO-LEAD ARRANGER 
 
                                       AND 
 
                             CHASE SECURITIES INC., 
                               AS CO-LEAD ARRANGER 
 
 
                                 MARCH 30, 2001 
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                            RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
         THIS RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT (hereinafter referred to as the 
"Agreement") executed as of the 30th day of March, 2001, by and among GREAT 
LAKES ENERGY PARTNERS, L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company (hereinafter 
referred to as "Borrower") and BANK ONE, NA ((successor by merger to Bank One, 
Texas, N.A.) ("Bank One"), THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK ("Chase"), BANKERS TRUST 
COMPANY ("BT"), THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA ("Scotiabank"), BANK OF SCOTLAND 
("BOS"), CREDIT LYONNAIS NEW YORK BRANCH ("CL") and FORTIS CAPITAL CORP. 
("Fortis") and each of the financial institutions which is a party hereto (as 
evidenced by the signature pages to this Agreement) or which may from time to 
time become a party hereto pursuant to the provisions of Section 28 hereof or 
any successor or assignee thereof (hereinafter collectively referred to as 
"Lenders", and individually, "Lender"), Bank One, as Administrative Agent, 
Chase, as Syndication Agent, BT, as Documentation Agent and CL and Scotiabank as 
Managing Agents. 
 
                              W I T N E S S E T H: 
 
         WHEREAS, Borrower, Lenders and Agents entered into a Credit Agreeement 
dated as of September 30, 1999 (as amended, restated and renewed from 
time-to-time, the "Credit Agreement") pursuant to which the Lenders agreed to 
make a revolving loan to the Borrower in amounts up to $275,000,000; and 
 
         WHEREAS, Borrower, Lenders and the Agents entered into a First 
Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of May 15, 2000 (the "First Amendment") 
and a Second Amendment to Credit Agreement dated as of October 18, 2000 (the 
"Second Amendment"); and 
 
         WHEREAS, Borrower, Lenders and Agents have agreed to restate the Credit 
Agreement to make certain amendments thereto as set forth herein. 
 
         NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements 
herein contained, the parties hereby agree as follows: 
 
         1. Definitions. When used herein the terms "Administrative Agent", 
"Agreement", "Bank One", "Borrower", "BT", "Chase", "Documentation Agent", 
"Lender", "Lenders", and "Syndication Agent" shall have the meanings indicated 
above. When used herein the following terms shall have the following meanings: 
 
                  ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT means Bank One, NA or any successor 
         Administrative Agent. 
 
                  ADVANCE OR ADVANCES means a loan or loans hereunder. 
 
                  AFFILIATE means any Person which, directly or indirectly, 
         controls, is controlled by or is under common control with the relevant 
         Person. For the purposes of this definition, "control" (including, with 
         correlative meanings, the terms "controlled by" and "under 
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         common control with"), as used with respect to any Person, shall mean a 
         member of the board of directors, a partner or an officer of such 
         Person, or any other Person with possession, directly or indirectly, of 
         the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and 
         policies of such Person, through the ownership (of record, as trustee, 
         or by proxy) of voting shares, partnership interests or voting rights, 
         through a management contract or otherwise. Any Person owning or 
         controlling, directly or indirectly, ten percent or more of the voting 
         shares, partnership interests or voting rights, or other equity 
         interest of another Person shall be deemed to be an Affiliate of such 
         Person. 
 
                  AGENTS means the Administrative Agent, the Syndication Agent 
         and the Documentation Agent. 
 
                  ALTERNATE BASE RATE shall mean, as of any date, a rate of 
         interest per annum equal to the higher of (i) the Corporate Base Rate 
         for such date, and (ii) the sum of the Federal Funds Effective Rate for 
         such date plus one-half of one percent (.50%) per annum. 
 
                  ASSIGNMENT AND ACCEPTANCE means a document substantially in 
         the form of Exhibit "E" hereto. 
 
                  BASE RATE shall mean, as of any date, the sum of the Alternate 
         Base Rate plus the Base Rate Margin. 
 
                  BASE RATE LOANS shall mean any loan during any period which 
         bears interest based upon the Alternate Base Rate or which would bear 
         interest based upon the Alternate Base Rate if the Maximum Rate ceiling 
         was not in effect at that particular time. 
 
                  BASE RATE MARGIN shall be: 
 
                           (i) three-quarters of one percent (.75%) per annum 
                  whenever the Borrowing Base Usage is equal to or greater than 
                  90%; 
 
                           (ii) five-eighths of one percent (.625%) per annum 
                  whenever the Borrowing Base Usage is equal to or greater than 
                  75%, but less than 90%; 
 
                           (iii) one-half of one percent (.50%) per annum 
                  whenever the Borrowing Base Usage is equal to or greater than 
                  50% but less than 75%; or 
 
                           (iv) one-quarter of one percent (.25%) per annum 
                  whenever the Borrowing Base Usage is less than 50%. 
 
                  BORROWING BASE means the value assigned by the Lenders from 
         time to time to the Oil and Gas Properties pursuant to Section 7 
         hereof. Until the next determination of the Borrowing Base pursuant to 
         Section 7(b) hereof, the Borrowing Base shall be $200,000,000. 
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                  BORROWING BASE ASSETS shall mean, as of any date, (i) Oil and 
         Gas Properties either (A) given economic value in the most recent 
         engineering report provided to the Lenders pursuant to Section 6 
         hereof, or (B) other material proved producing Oil and Gas Properties, 
         and (ii) gas pipelines and gas gathering systems which are owned by the 
         Borrower and its subsidiaries. 
 
                  BORROWING BASE USAGE shall mean, as of any date, all amounts 
         outstanding on the Loan plus all outstanding Letters of Credit, divided 
         by the Borrowing Base. 
 
                  BORROWING DATE means the date elected by Borrower pursuant to 
         Section 2(b) hereof for an Advance on the Loan. 
 
                  BUSINESS DAY shall mean (i) with respect to any borrowing, 
         payment or note selection of Eurodollar Loans, a day (other than 
         Saturdays or Sundays) on which banks are legally open for business in 
         Dallas, Texas and New York, New York and on which dealings in United 
         States dollars are carried on in the London interbank market, and (ii) 
         for all other purposes a day (other than Saturdays and Sundays) on 
         which banks are legally open for business in Dallas, Texas. 
 
                  CHANGE OF CONTROL shall occur if Marbel HoldCo, Inc. and Range 
         HoldCo, Inc. or their Affiliates cease to beneficially own and control 
         at least sixty-six and two-thirds (66-2/3%) of the membership interests 
         of Borrower. 
 
                  COMMITMENT shall mean (A) for all Lenders, the LESSER of (i) 
         $275,000,000 or (ii) the Borrowing Base, as reduced or increased from 
         time to time pursuant to Sections 2 and 7 hereof, and (B) as to any 
         Lender, its obligation to make Advances hereunder on the Loans and 
         purchase participations in Letters of Credit issued hereunder by the 
         Administrative Agent in amounts not exceeding, in the aggregate, an 
         amount equal to such Lender's Commitment Percentage times the total 
         Commitment as of any date. The Commitment of each Lender hereunder 
         shall be adjusted from time to time to reflect assignments made by such 
         Lender pursuant to Section 28 hereof. Each reduction in the Commitment 
         shall result in a Pro Rata reduction in each Lender's Commitment. 
 
                  COMMITMENT PERCENTAGE shall mean, for each Lender, the 
         percentage derived by dividing its Commitment at the time of the 
         determination by the Commitment of all Lenders at the time of 
         determination. The Commitment Percentage of each Lender hereunder shall 
         be adjusted from time to time to reflect assignments made by such 
         Lender pursuant to Section 28 hereof. 
 
                  CONSOLIDATED CURRENT ASSETS means the total of the 
         consolidated current assets determined in accordance with GAAP, plus, 
         as of any date, the unused availability on the Commitment, less any 
         amount required to be included in Consolidated Current Assets as a 
         result of the application of FASB Statement 133. 
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                  CONSOLIDATED CURRENT LIABILITIES means the total of 
         consolidated current obligations as determined in accordance with GAAP, 
         excluding therefrom, as of any date, current maturities due on the 
         Loans, less any amount required to be included in Consolidated Current 
         Liabilities as a result of application of FASB Statement 133. 
 
                  CONSOLIDATED EBITDAX shall mean Consolidated Net Income 
         (excluding gains and losses from asset sales, extraordinary and 
         non-recurring gains and losses and non-recurring formation costs) plus 
         the sum of (i) income tax expense (but excluding income tax expense 
         relating to the sales or other disposition of assets, including capital 
         stock, the gains and losses from which are excluded in the 
         determination of Consolidated Net Income), plus (ii) Consolidated 
         Interest Expense, plus (iii) depreciation, depletion and amortization 
         expense, plus (iv) exploration expenses. 
 
                  CONSOLIDATED INTEREST EXPENSE shall mean the aggregate amount 
         of cash and non-cash interest expense (including capitalized interest) 
         of Borrower as determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with 
         GAAP in respect of all indebtedness, excluding (i) accrued and unpaid 
         interest to intercompany indebtedness and (ii) amortization of deferred 
         financing costs. 
 
                  CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME shall mean Borrower's consolidated net 
         income after income taxes calculated in accordance with GAAP, but 
         excluding any non-cash gains or losses as a result of the application 
         of FASB Statement 133. 
 
                  CONSOLIDATED TOTAL DEBT means, as of any date, without 
         duplication, (i) all obligations for borrowed money or for the purchase 
         price of property, (ii) all obligations evidenced by bonds, debentures, 
         notes, or other similar instruments, (iii) all other indebtedness 
         (including obligations under capital leases, other than usual and 
         customary oil and gas leases) on which interest charges are customarily 
         paid or accrued, (iv) all guarantees, (v) the unfunded or unreimbursed 
         portion of all letters of credit, (vi) any indebtedness or other 
         obligation secured by a Lien on assets, whether or not assumed, and 
         (vii) all liability as a general partner of a partnership for 
         obligations of that partnership of the nature described in (i) through 
         (vii) preceding, but excluding any liabilities required to be included 
         as balance sheet liabilities as a result of the application of FASB 
         Statement 133. 
 
                  CORPORATE BASE RATE means a rate per annum equal to the 
         Corporate Base Rate announced by Administrative Agent from time to 
         time, changing when and as said Corporate Base Rate changes. 
 
                  DEFAULT means all the events specified in Section 14 hereof, 
         regardless of whether there shall have occurred any passage of time or 
         giving of notice, or both, that would be necessary in order to 
         constitute such event as an Event of Default. 
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                  DEFAULT RATE shall mean a default rate of interest determined 
         in accordance with Section 4(e) hereof. 
 
                  DEFAULTING LENDER is used herein as defined in Section 3(f) 
         hereof. 
 
                  DOCUMENTATION AGENT means Bankers Trust Company or any 
         successor Documentation Agent. 
 
                  EFFECTIVE DATE means the date of this Agreement. 
 
                  ELIGIBLE ASSIGNEE means any of (i) a Lender or any Affiliate 
         of a Lender; (ii) a commercial bank organized under the laws of the 
         United States, or any state thereof, and having a combined capital and 
         surplus of at least $100,000,000; (iii) a commercial bank organized 
         under the laws of any other country which is a member of the 
         Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, or a political 
         subdivision of any such country, and having a combined capital and 
         surplus of at least $100,000,000.00, provided that such bank is acting 
         through a branch or agency located in the United States; (iv) a Person 
         that is primarily engaged in the business of commercial lending and 
         that (A) is a subsidiary of a Lender, (B) a subsidiary of a Person of 
         which a Lender is a subsidiary, or (C) a Person of which a Lender is a 
         subsidiary; (v) any other entity (other than a natural person) which is 
         an "accredited investor" (as defined in Regulation D under the 
         Securities Act) which extends credit or buys loans as one of its 
         businesses, including, but not limited to, insurance companies, mutual 
         funds, and lease financing companies; and (vi) with respect to any 
         Lender that is a fund that invests in loans, any other fund that 
         invests in loans and is managed by the same investment advisor of such 
         Lender or by an Affiliate of such investment advisor (and treating all 
         such funds so managed as a single Eligible Assignee); provided, 
         however, that any Affiliate of Borrower that acquires an interest in 
         any of the Commitment Loans shall not be entitled to vote as a Lender. 
 
                  ENGINEERED VALUE is used herein as defined in Section 6 
         hereof. 
 
                  ENVIRONMENTAL LAWS means the Comprehensive Environmental 
         Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended by the 
         Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986, 42 
         U.S.C.A.ss.9601, ET SEQ., the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 
         as amended by the Hazardous Solid Waste Amendment of 1984, 42 
         U.S.C.A.ss.6901, ET SEQ., the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C.A.ss.1251, et 
         seq., the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C.A.ss.1251, ET SEQ., the Toxic 
         Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C.A.ss.2601, ET SEQ., The Oil Pollution 
         Act of 1990, 33 U.S.G.ss.2701, ET SEQ., and all other laws, statutes, 
         codes, acts, ordinances, orders, judgments, decrees, injunctions, 
         rules, regulations, orders, permits and restrictions of any federal, 
         state, county, municipal and other governments, departments, 
         commissions, boards, agencies, courts, authorities, officials and 
         officers, domestic or foreign, relating to oil pollution, air 
         pollution, water pollution, noise control and/or the handling, 
         discharge, disposal or recovery of on-site or off-site asbestos, 
         radioactive materials, spilled or leaked petroleum products, 
         distillates or 
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         fractions and industrial solid waste or "hazardous substances" as 
         defined by 42 U.S.C. ss. 9601, ET SEQ., as amended, as each of the 
         foregoing may be amended from time to time. 
 
                  ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITY means any claim, demand, obligation, 
         cause of action, order, violation, damage, injury, judgment, penalty or 
         fine, cost of enforcement, cost of remedial action or any other costs 
         or expense whatsoever, including reasonable attorneys' fees and 
         disbursements, resulting from the violation or alleged violation of any 
         Environmental Law or the release of any substance into the environment 
         which is required to be remediated by a regulatory agency or 
         governmental authority or the imposition of any Environmental Lien (as 
         hereinafter defined) which could reasonably be expected to individually 
         or in the aggregate have a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
                  ENVIRONMENTAL LIEN means a Lien in favor of any court, 
         governmental agency or instrumentality or any other Person (i) for any 
         Environmental Liability or (ii) for damages arising from or cost 
         incurred by such court or governmental agency or instrumentality or 
         other person in response to a release or threatened release of asbestos 
         or "hazardous substance" into the environment, the imposition of which 
         Lien could reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
                  ERISA means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 
         1974, as amended. 
 
                  EURODOLLAR BASE RATE shall mean, with respect to any 
         Eurodollar Loan for the relevant Interest Period, the rate determined 
         by the Administrative Agent to be the rate at which the Administrative 
         Agent offers to place deposits in U.S. dollars with first-class banks 
         in the London interbank market at approximately 11:00 a.m. (London 
         time) two (2) Business Days prior to the first date of such Interest 
         Period, in the approximate amount of the Administrative Agent's 
         relevant Eurodollar Loan and having a maturity equal to such Interest 
         Period. 
 
                  EURODOLLAR LOANS mean any Advance during any period which 
         bears interest at the Eurodollar Rate, or which would bear interest at 
         such rate if the Maximum Rate ceiling was not in effect at a particular 
         time. 
 
                  EURODOLLAR MARGIN shall be: 
 
                           (i) two percent (2%) per annum whenever the Borrowing 
                  Base Usage is equal to or greater than 90%; 
 
                           (ii) one and seven-eighths percent (1.875%) per annum 
                  whenever the Borrowing Base Usage is equal to or greater than 
                  75%, but less than 90%; 
 
                           (iii) one and three-quarters percent (1.75%) per 
                  annum whenever the Borrowing Base Usage is equal to or greater 
                  than 50%, but less than 75%; or 
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                           (iv) one and one-half percent (1.50%) per annum 
                  whenever the Borrowing Base Usage is less than 50%. 
 
                  EURODOLLAR RATE means, with respect to a Eurodollar Loan for 
         the relevant Interest Period, the sum of (i) the quotient of (A) the 
         Eurodollar Base Rate applicable to such Interest Period, divided by (B) 
         one minus the Reserve Requirement (expressed as a decimal) applicable 
         to such Interest Period, plus the Eurodollar Margin. The Eurodollar 
         Rate shall be rounded to the next higher multiple of 1/16th of one 
         percent if the rate is not such a multiple. 
 
                  FEDERAL FUNDS EFFECTIVE RATE shall mean, for any day, an 
         interest rate per annum equal to the weighted average of the rates on 
         overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal 
         Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers on such day, as 
         published for such day (or, if such day is not a Business Day, for the 
         immediately preceding Business Day) by the Federal Reserve Bank of New 
         York, or, if such rate is not so published for any day which is a 
         Business Day, the average of the quotations at approximately 10:00 a.m. 
         (Dallas, Texas time) on such day on such transactions received by the 
         Administrative Agent from three (3) Federal funds brokers of recognized 
         standing selected by the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion. 
 
                  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS means balance sheets, income statements, 
         statements of cash flow and appropriate footnotes and schedules, 
         prepared in accordance with GAAP. 
 
                  GAAP means generally accepted accounting principles, 
         consistently applied. 
 
                  GUARANTORS means all Subsidiaries of Borrower. 
 
                  GUARANTIES means unlimited guaranties of the Guarantors in the 
         form of Exhibit "C" hereto. 
 
                  INTEREST PAYMENT DATE shall mean the last day of each calendar 
         month in the case of Base Rate Loans and, in the case of Eurodollar 
         Loans, the last day of the applicable Interest Period, and if such 
         Interest Period is longer than three (3) months, at three-month 
         intervals following the first day of such Interest Periods. 
 
                  INTEREST PERIOD shall mean with respect to any Eurodollar Loan 
         (i) initially, the period commencing on the date such Eurodollar Loan 
         is made and ending one (1), two (2), three (3), six (6), nine (9) or 
         twelve (12) months thereafter as selected by the Borrower pursuant to 
         Section 4(a)(ii), and (ii) thereafter, each period commencing on the 
         day following the last day of the next preceding Interest Period 
         applicable to such Eurodollar Loan and ending one (1), two (2), three 
         (3), six (6), nine (9) or twelve (12) months thereafter, as selected by 
         the Borrower pursuant to Section 4(a)(ii); provided, however, that (i) 
         if any Interest Period would otherwise expire on a day which is not a 
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         Business Day, such Interest Period shall expire on the next succeeding 
         Business Day unless the result of such extension would be to extend 
         such Interest Period into the next calendar month, in which case such 
         Interest Period shall end on the immediately preceding Business Day, 
         (ii) if any Interest Period begins on the last Business Day of a 
         calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically 
         corresponding day in the calendar month at the end of such Interest 
         Period) such Interest Period shall end on the last Business Day of a 
         calendar month, and (iii) any Interest Period which would otherwise 
         expire after the Maturity Date shall end on such Maturity Date. 
 
                  LETTERS OF CREDIT is used herein as defined in Section 2(c) 
         hereof. 
 
                  LIEN means any mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, security 
         interest, assignment, encumbrance or lien (statutory or otherwise) of 
         every kind and character. 
 
                  LOANS means an Advance or Advances made under the Commitment. 
 
                  LOAN DOCUMENTS means this Agreement, the Notes, the Security 
         Instruments and all other documents executed in connection with the 
         transaction described in this Agreement. 
 
                  MAJORITY LENDERS means Lenders holding 66-2/3% or more of the 
         Commitments or if the Commitments have been terminated, Lenders holding 
         66-2/3% of the outstanding Loans. 
 
                  MANAGING AGENT means the Bank of Nova Scotia and Credit 
         Lyonnais New York Branch and any successor Managing Agent. 
 
                  MATERIAL ADVERSE EFFECT shall mean a material adverse effect 
         on (i) the assets or properties, liabilities, financial condition, 
         business, operations, affairs or circumstances of the Borrower, (ii) 
         the ability of the Borrower to carry out its businesses as of the date 
         of this Agreement or as proposed at the date of this Agreement to be 
         conducted, (iii) the ability of Borrower to perform fully and on a 
         timely basis its obligations under any of the Loan Documents, or (iv) 
         the validity or enforceability of any of the Loan Documents or the 
         rights and remedies of the Administrative Agent or the Lenders 
         thereunder. 
 
                  MATURITY DATE shall mean October 1, 2003. 
 
                  MAXIMUM RATE means at any particular time in question, the 
         maximum non-usurious rate of interest which under applicable law may 
         then be charged on the Note. If such Maximum Rate changes after the 
         date hereof, the Maximum Rate shall be automatically increased or 
         decreased, as the case may be, without notice to Borrower from time to 
         time as the effective date of each change in such Maximum Rate. 
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                  NOTES means the Notes described in Section 3 hereof, 
         substantially in the form of Exhibit "B" hereto issued or to be issued 
         hereunder to each Lender, respectively, to evidence the indebtedness to 
         such Lender arising by reason of the Advances on the Loan, together 
         with all modifications, renewals and extensions thereof or any part 
         thereof. 
 
                  OIL AND GAS PROPERTIES means all oil, gas and mineral 
         properties and interests, related personal properties (excluding gas 
         pipelines and gas gathering systems), in which Borrower grants to the 
         Lenders a first and prior lien and security interest pursuant to 
         Section 6 hereof. 
 
                  OTHER FINANCING is used herein as defined in Section 15(l) 
         hereof. 
 
                  PAYOR is used herein as defined in Section 3(h)hereof. 
 
                  PERMITTED LIENS shall mean (i) royalties, overriding 
         royalties, reversionary interests, production payments and similar 
         burdens; (ii) sales contracts or other arrangements for the sale of 
         production of oil, gas or associated liquid or gaseous hydrocarbons 
         which would not (when considered cumulatively with the matters 
         discussed in clause (i) above) deprive Borrower of any material right 
         in respect of Borrower's assets or properties (except for rights 
         customarily granted with respect to such contracts and arrangements); 
         (iii) statutory Liens for taxes or other assessments that are not yet 
         delinquent (or that, if delinquent, are being contested in good faith 
         by appropriate proceedings, levy and execution thereon having been 
         stayed and continue to be stayed and for which Borrower has set aside 
         on its books adequate reserves in accordance with GAAP); (iv) 
         easements, rights of way, servitudes, permits, surface leases and other 
         rights in respect to surface operations, pipelines, grazing, logging, 
         canals, ditches, reservoirs or the like, conditions, covenants and 
         other restrictions, and easements of streets, alleys, highways, 
         pipelines, telephone lines, power lines, railways and other easements 
         and rights of way on, over or in respect of Borrower's assets or 
         properties and that do not individually or in the aggregate, cause a 
         Material Adverse Effect; (v) materialmen's, mechanic's, repairman's, 
         employee's, warehousemen's, landlord's, carrier's, pipeline's, 
         contractor's, sub-contractor's, operator's, non-operator's (arising 
         under operating or joint operating agreements), and other Liens 
         (including any financing statements filed in respect thereof) 
         incidental to obligations incurred by Borrower in connection with the 
         construction, maintenance, development, transportation, storage or 
         operation of Borrower's assets or properties to the extent not 
         delinquent (or which, if delinquent, are being contested in good faith 
         by appropriate proceedings and for which Borrower has set aside on its 
         books adequate reserves in accordance with GAAP); (vi) all contracts, 
         agreements and instruments, and all defects and irregularities and 
         other matters affecting Borrower's assets and properties which were in 
         existence at the time Borrower's assets and properties were originally 
         acquired by Borrower and all routine operational agreements entered 
         into in the ordinary course of business, which contracts, agreements, 
         instruments, defects, irregularities and other matters and routine 
         operational agreements are not such as to, individually or in the 
         aggregate, interfere materially with the operation, 
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         value or use of Borrower's assets and properties, considered in the 
         aggregate; (vii) liens in connection with workmen's compensation, 
         unemployment insurance or other social security, old age pension or 
         public liability obligations; (viii) legal or equitable encumbrances 
         deemed to exist by reason of the existence of any litigation or other 
         legal proceeding or arising out of a judgment or award with respect to 
         which an appeal is being prosecuted in good faith and levy and 
         execution thereon have been stayed and continue to be stayed; (ix) 
         rights reserved to or vested in any municipality, governmental, 
         statutory or other public authority to control or regulate Borrower's 
         assets and properties in any manner, and all applicable laws, rules and 
         orders from any governmental authority; (x) landlord's liens; (xi) 
         Liens incurred pursuant to the Security Instruments; and (xii) Liens 
         existing at the date of this Agreement which have been disclosed to 
         Lenders in Schedule "1" hereto. 
 
                  PERSON means an individual, a corporation, a partnership, an 
         association, a trust or any other entity or organization, including a 
         government or political subdivision or an agency or instrumentality 
         thereof. 
 
                  PLAN means any plan subject to Title IV of ERISA and 
         maintained by Borrower, or any such plan to which Borrower is required 
         to contribute on behalf of its employees. 
 
                  PRE-APPROVED CONTRACTS as used herein shall mean any contracts 
         or agreements entered into in connection with any Rate Management 
         Transaction designed (i) to hedge, forward, sell or swap crude oil or 
         natural gas or otherwise sell up to 80% of the Borrower's anticipated 
         production from proved, developed producing reserves of crude oil, 
         and/or 80% of the Borrower's anticipated production from proved, 
         developed producing reserves of natural gas, during the period from the 
         immediately preceding settlement date (or the commencement of the term 
         of such hedge transactions if there is no prior settlement date) to 
         such settlement date, and (ii) with one or more of the counterparties 
         to the hedging agreement listed on Exhibit "F" hereto. 
 
                  PRO RATA OR PRO RATA PART means for each Lender, (i) for all 
         purposes where no Loan is outstanding, such Lender's Commitment 
         Percentage and (ii) otherwise, the proportion which the portion of the 
         outstanding Loans owed to such Lender bears to the aggregate 
         outstanding Loans owed to all Lenders at the time in question. 
 
                  RATE MANAGEMENT TRANSACTION means any transaction (including 
         an agreement with respect thereto) now existing or hereafter entered 
         into between Borrower and Administrative Agent or the Lenders which is 
         a rate swap, basis swap, forward rate transaction, commodity swap, 
         commodity option, equity or equity index swap, equity or equity index 
         option, bond option, interest rate option, forward exchange 
         transaction, cap transaction, floor transaction, collar transaction, 
         forward transaction, currency swap transaction, cross-currency rate 
         swap transaction, currency option or any other similar transaction 
         (including any option with respect to any of these transactions) or any 
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         combination thereof, whether linked to one or more interest rates, 
         foreign currencies, commodity prices, equity prices or other financial 
         measures. 
 
                  REGULATION D shall mean Regulation D of the Board of Governors 
         of the Federal Reserve System as from time to time in effect and any 
         successor thereto and other regulation or official interpretation of 
         said Board of Governors relating to reserve requirements applicable to 
         member banks of the Federal Reserve System. 
 
                  REIMBURSEMENT OBLIGATIONS means, at any time, the obligations 
         of the Borrower in respect of all Letters of Credit then outstanding to 
         reimburse amounts paid by any Lender in respect of any drawing or 
         drawings under a Letter of Credit. 
 
                  RELEASE PRICE is used herein as defined in Section 12(r) 
         hereof. 
 
                  REQUIRED LENDERS means Lenders holding 75% or more of the 
         Commitments or if the Commitments have been terminated, Lenders holding 
         75% of the outstanding Loans. 
 
                  REQUIRED PAYMENT is used herein as defined in Section 3(h) 
         hereof. 
 
                  RESERVE REQUIREMENT means, with respect to any Interest 
         Period, the maximum aggregate reserve requirement (including all basic, 
         supplemental, marginal and other reserves) which is imposed under 
         Regulation D or Eurocurrency liabilities. 
 
                  SECURITY INSTRUMENTS is used collectively herein to mean this 
         Agreement, all Deeds of Trust, Mortgages, Security Agreements, 
         Assignments of Production and Financing Statements and other collateral 
         documents covering the Oil and Gas Properties and related personal 
         property, equipment, oil and gas inventory and proceeds of the 
         foregoing, all such documents to be in form and substance satisfactory 
         to Administrative Agent. 
 
                  SUBSIDIARY means any corporation or other entity of which 
         securities or other ownership interests having ordinary voting power to 
         elect a majority of the board of directors or other persons performing 
         similar functions are at the time directly or indirectly owned by 
         Borrower or another subsidiary. 
 
                  SYNDICATION AGENT means The Chase Manahattan Bank or any 
         successor Syndication Agent. 
 
                  TOTAL OUTSTANDINGS means, as of any date, the sum of (i) the 
         total principal balance outstanding on the Notes, plus (ii) the total 
         face amount of all outstanding Letters of Credit, plus (iii) the total 
         amount of all unpaid Reimbursement Obligations. 
 
                  TRANCHE means a set of Eurodollar Loans made by the Lenders at 
         the same time and for the same Interest Period. 
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                  UNSCHEDULED REDETERMINATIONS means a redetermination of the 
         Borrowing Base made at any time other than on the dates set for the 
         regular semi-annual redetermination of the Borrowing Base which are 
         made (A) at the request of Borrower (but only one between Borrowing 
         Base redeterminations) (B) at the request of Majority Lenders (but only 
         once between Borrowing Base redeterminations), provided, however, that 
         Majority Lenders may require an Unscheduled Redetermination at any time 
         it appears to Administrative Agent or Majority Lenders, in the exercise 
         of their reasonable discretion, that either (i) there has been a 
         material decrease in the value of the Oil and Gas Properties, or (ii) 
         an event has occurred which is reasonably expected to have a Material 
         Adverse Effect. 
 
                  UNUSED COMMITMENT FEE RATE shall be: 
 
                           (i) one-half of one percent (.50%) per annum whenever 
                  the Borrowing Base Usage is equal to or greater than 75%; 
 
                           (ii) three-eighths of one percent (.375%) per annum 
                  whenever the Borrowing Base Usage is equal to or greater than 
                  50% but less than 75% and 
 
                           (iii) one-fourth of one percent (.25%) per annum 
                  whenever the Borrowing Base Usage is less than 50%. 
 
         2.       Commitments of the Lenders. 
 
                  (a) TERMS OF COMMITMENT. On the terms and conditions 
         hereinafter set forth, each Lender agrees severally to make Advances to 
         the Borrower from time to time during the period beginning on the 
         Effective Date and ending on the Maturity Date in such amounts as the 
         Borrower may request up to an amount not to exceed, in the aggregate 
         principal amount outstanding at any time, the Commitment less Total 
         Outstandings. The obligation of the Borrower hereunder shall be 
         evidenced by this Agreement and the Notes issued in connection 
         herewith, said Notes to be as described in Section 3 hereof. 
         Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, no Advance shall 
         be required to be made hereunder if any Default or Event of Default (as 
         hereinafter defined) has occurred and is continuing. Each Advance under 
         the Commitment shall be an aggregate amount of at least $1,000,000 or 
         any whole multiples of $100,000 in excess thereof. Irrespective of the 
         face amount of the Note or Notes, the Lenders shall never have the 
         obligation to Advance any amount or amounts in excess of the Commitment 
         or to increase the Commitment. 
 
                  (b) PROCEDURE FOR BORROWING. Whenever the Borrower desires an 
         Advance hereunder, it shall give Administrative Agent telegraphic, 
         telex, facsimile or telephonic notice ("Notice of Borrowing") of such 
         requested Advance, which in the case of telephonic notice, shall be 
         promptly confirmed in writing. Each Notice of Borrowing 
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         shall be in the form of Exhibit "A" attached hereto and shall be 
         received by Administrative Agent not later than 12:00 noon Dallas, 
         Texas time, (i) one Business Day prior to the Borrowing Date in the 
         case of the Base Rate Loan, or (ii) three Business Days prior to any 
         proposed Borrowing Date in the case of Eurodollar Loans. Each Notice of 
         Borrowing shall specify (i) the Borrowing Date (which shall be a 
         Business Day), (ii) the principal amount to be borrowed, (iii) the 
         portion of the Advance constituting Base Rate Loans and/or Eurodollar 
         Loans, (iv) if any portion of the proposed Advance is to constitute 
         Eurodollar Loans, the initial Interest Period selected by Borrower 
         pursuant to Section 4 hereof to be applicable thereto, and (v) the date 
         upon which such Advance is required. Upon receipt of such Notice, 
         Administrative Agent shall advise each Lender thereof; provided, that 
         if the Lenders have received at least one (1) day's notice of such 
         Advance prior to funding of a Base Rate Loan, or at least three (3) 
         days' notice of each Advance prior to funding in the case of a 
         Eurodollar Loan, each Lender shall provide Administrative Agent at its 
         office at 1717 Main Street, Dallas, Texas 75201, not later than 1:00 
         p.m., Dallas, Texas time, on the Borrowing Date, in immediately 
         available funds, its pro rata share of the requested Advance, but the 
         aggregate of all such fundings by each Lender shall never exceed such 
         Lender's Commitment. Not later than 2:00 p.m., Dallas, Texas time, on 
         the Borrowing Date, Administrative Agent shall make available to the 
         Borrower at the same office, in like funds, the aggregate amount of 
         such requested Advance. Neither Administrative Agent nor any Lender 
         shall incur any liability to the Borrower in acting upon any Notice 
         referred to above which Administrative Agent or such Lender believes in 
         good faith to have been given by a duly authorized officer or other 
         person authorized to borrow on behalf of Borrower or for otherwise 
         acting in good faith under this Section 2(b). Upon funding of Advances 
         by Lenders in accordance with this Agreement, pursuant to any such 
         Notice, the Borrower shall have effected Advances hereunder. 
 
                  (c) LETTERS OF CREDIT. On the terms and conditions hereinafter 
         set forth, the Administrative Agent shall from time to time during the 
         period beginning on the Effective Date and ending on the Maturity Date 
         upon request of Borrower issue standby and/or commercial Letters of 
         Credit for the account of Borrower (the "Letters of Credit") in such 
         face amounts as Borrower may request, but not to exceed in the 
         aggregate face amount at any time outstanding the sum of Twenty Million 
         Dollars ($20,000,000.00). The face amount of all Letters of Credit 
         issued and outstanding hereunder shall be considered as Advances on the 
         Commitment for Borrowing Base purposes and all payments made by the 
         Administrative Agent on such Letters of Credit shall be considered as 
         Advances under the Notes. Each Letter of Credit issued for the account 
         of Borrower hereunder shall (i) be in favor of such beneficiaries as 
         specifically requested by Borrower, (ii) have an expiration date not 
         exceeding the earlier of (a) one year or (b) the Maturity Date, and 
         (iii) contain such other terms and provisions as may be required by 
         issuing Lender. Each Lender (other than Administrative Agent) agrees 
         that, upon issuance of any Letter of Credit hereunder, it shall 
         automatically acquire a participation in the Administrative Agent's 
         liability under such Letter of Credit in an amount equal to such 
         Lender's Commitment Percentage of such liability, and each Lender 
         (other than 
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         Administrative Agent) thereby shall absolutely, unconditionally and 
         irrevocably assume, as primary obligor and not as surety, and shall be 
         unconditionally obligated to Administrative Agent to pay and discharge 
         when due, its Commitment Percentage of Administrative Agent's liability 
         under such Letter of Credit. The Borrower hereby unconditionally agrees 
         to pay and reimburse the Administrative Agent for the amount of each 
         demand for payment under any Letter of Credit that is in substantial 
         compliance with the provisions of any such Letter of Credit at or prior 
         to the date on which payment is to be made by the Administrative Agent 
         to the beneficiary thereunder, without presentment, demand, protest or 
         other formalities of any kind. Upon receipt from any beneficiary of any 
         Letter of Credit of any demand for payment under such Letter of Credit, 
         the Administrative Agent shall promptly notify the Borrower of the 
         demand and the date upon which such payment is to be made by the 
         Administrative Agent to such beneficiary in respect of such demand. 
         Forthwith upon receipt of such notice from the Administrative Agent, 
         Borrower shall advise the Administrative Agent whether or not it 
         intends to borrow hereunder to finance its obligations to reimburse the 
         Administrative Agent, and if so, submit a Notice of Borrowing as 
         provided in Section 2(b) hereof. If Borrower fails to so advise 
         Administrative Agent and thereafter fails to reimburse Administrative 
         Agent, the Administrative Agent shall notify each Lender of the demand 
         and the failure of the Borrower to reimburse the Administrative Agent, 
         and each Lender shall reimburse the Administrative Agent for its 
         Commitment Percentage of each such draw paid by the Administrative 
         Agent and unreimbursed by the Borrower. All such amounts paid by 
         Administrative Agent and/or reimbursed by the Lenders shall be treated 
         as an Advance or Advances under the Commitment, which Advances shall be 
         immediately due and payable and shall bear interest at the Maximum 
         Rate. 
 
                  (d) PROCEDURE FOR OBTAINING LETTERS OF CREDIT. The amount and 
         date of issuance, renewal, extension or reissuance of a Letter of 
         Credit pursuant to the Commitments shall be designated by Borrower's 
         written request delivered to Administrative Agent at least three (3) 
         Business Days prior to the date of such issuance, renewal, extension or 
         reissuance. Concurrently with or promptly following the delivery of the 
         request for a Letter of Credit, Borrower shall execute and deliver to 
         the Administrative Agent an application and agreement with respect to 
         the Letters of Credit, said application and agreement to be in the form 
         used by the Administrative Agent. The Administrative Agent shall not be 
         obligated to issue, renew, extend or reissue such Letters of Credit if 
         (A) the amount thereon when added to the face amount of the outstanding 
         Letters of Credit plus any Reimbursement Obligations exceeds Twenty 
         Million Dollars ($20,000,000.00) or (B) the amount thereof when added 
         to the Total Outstandings would exceed the Commitment. Borrower agrees 
         to pay the Administrative Agent for the benefit of the Lenders 
         commissions for issuing the Letters of Credit (calculated separately 
         for each Letter of Credit) in an amount equal to the Eurodollar Margin 
         multiplied by the maximum face amount of the Letter of Credit. Borrower 
         further agrees to pay Administrative Agent for its own account an 
         additional fronting fee equal to one-quarter of one percent (.25%) per 
         annum multiplied times the maximum face amount of each Letter of 
         Credit. Such commissions shall be payable prior to the issuance 
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         of each Letter of Credit and thereafter on each anniversary date of 
         such issuance while such Letter of Credit is outstanding. Such 
         commissions and fronting fee will be calculated based on the basis of a 
         year consisting of 360 days. 
 
                  (e) VOLUNTARY REDUCTION OF COMMITMENT. The Borrower may at any 
         time, or from time to time, upon not less than three (3) Business Days' 
         prior written notice to Administrative Agent, reduce or terminate the 
         Commitment; provided, however, that (i) each reduction in the 
         Commitment must be in the amount of $1,000,000 or more, in increments 
         of $1,000,000 and (ii) each reduction must be accompanied by a 
         prepayment of the Notes in the amount by which the outstanding 
         principal balance of the Notes exceeds the Commitment as reduced 
         pursuant to this Section 2. 
 
                  (f) SEVERAL OBLIGATIONS. The obligations of the Lenders under 
         the Commitments are several and not joint. The failure of any Lender to 
         make an Advance required to be made by it shall not relieve any other 
         Lender of its obligation to make its Advance, and no Lender shall be 
         responsible for the failure of any other Lender to make the Advance to 
         be made by such other Lender. No Lender shall be required to lend 
         hereunder any amount in excess of its legal lending limit. 
 
                  (g) TYPE AND NUMBER OF ADVANCES. Any Advance under the 
         Commitment may be a Base Rate Loan or a Eurodollar Loan, or a 
         combination thereof, as selected by the Borrower pursuant to Section 4 
         hereof. The total number of Tranches which may be outstanding at any 
         time shall never exceed eight (8). 
 
         3. NOTES EVIDENCING LOANS. The loans described above in Section 2 shall 
be evidenced by promissory notes of Borrower as follows: 
 
                  (a) FORM OF NOTES. The Loans shall be evidenced by a Note or 
         Notes in the aggregate face amount of $275,000,000, and shall be in the 
         form of Exhibit "B" hereto with appropriate insertions (each a "Note"). 
         Notwithstanding the face amount of the Notes, the actual principal 
         amount due from the Borrower to Lenders on account of the Notes, as of 
         any date of computation, shall be the sum of Advances then and 
         theretofore made on account thereof, less all principal payments 
         actually received by Lenders in collected funds with respect thereto. 
         Although the Notes may be dated as of the Effective Date, interest in 
         respect thereof shall be payable only for the period during which the 
         loans evidenced thereby are outstanding and, although the stated amount 
         of the Notes may be higher, the Notes shall be enforceable, with 
         respect to Borrower's obligation to pay the principal amount thereof, 
         only to the extent of the unpaid principal amount of the Loans. 
         Irrespective of the face amount of the Notes, no Lender shall ever be 
         obligated to advance on the Commitment any amount in excess of its 
         Commitment then in effect. 
 
                  (b) ISSUANCE OF ADDITIONAL NOTES. At the Effective Date there 
         shall be outstanding Notes in the aggregate face amount of 
         $275,000,000. From time to time new Notes may issued to other Lenders 
         as such Lenders become parties to this Agreement. 
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         Upon request from Administrative Agent, the Borrower shall execute and 
         deliver to Administrative Agent any such new or additional Notes. From 
         time to time as new Notes are issued the Administrative Agent shall 
         require that each Lender exchange its Note(s) for newly issued Note(s) 
         to better reflect the extent of each Lender's Commitments hereunder. 
 
                  (c) INTEREST RATES. The unpaid principal balance of the Notes 
         shall bear interest from time to time as set forth in Section 4 hereof. 
 
                  (d) PAYMENT OF INTEREST. Interest on the Notes shall be 
         payable on each Interest Payment Date. 
 
                  (e) PAYMENT OF PRINCIPAL. Principal of the Note or Notes shall 
         be due and payable to the Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit 
         of the Lenders on the Maturity Date unless earlier due in whole or in 
         part as a result of an acceleration of the amount due or pursuant to 
         the mandatory prepayment provisions of Section 9(b) hereof. 
 
                  (f) PAYMENT TO LENDERS. Each Lender's Pro Rata Part of payment 
         or prepayment of the Loans shall be directed by wire transfer to such 
         Lender by the Administrative Agent at the address provided to the 
         Administrative Agent for such Lender for payments no later than 2:00 
         p.m., Dallas, Texas, time on the Business Day such payments or 
         prepayments are deemed hereunder to have been received by 
         Administrative Agent; provided, however, in the event that any Lender 
         shall have failed to make an Advance as contemplated under Section 2 
         hereof (a "Defaulting Lender") and the Administrative Agent or another 
         Lender or Lenders shall have made such Advance, payment received by 
         Administrative Agent for the account of such Defaulting Lender or 
         Lenders shall not be distributed to such Defaulting Lender or Lenders 
         until such Advance or Advances shall have been repaid in full to the 
         Lender or Lenders who funded such Advance or Advances. Any payment or 
         prepayment received by Administrative Agent at any time after 12:00 
         noon, Dallas, Texas, time on a Business Day shall be deemed to have 
         been received on the next Business Day. Interest shall cease to accrue 
         on any principal as of the end of the day preceding the Business Day on 
         which any such payment or prepayment is deemed hereunder to have been 
         received by Administrative Agent. If Administrative Agent fails to 
         transfer any principal amount to any Lender as provided above, then 
         Administrative Agent shall promptly direct such principal amount by 
         wire transfer to such Lender together with interest thereon with 
         respect of the period commencing on the date one (1) day after such 
         amount was made available to the Administrative Agent until the date 
         the Administrative Agent pays such principal amount to the Lender at 
         the rate applicable to such portion of the applicable loan. 
 
                  (g) SHARING OF PAYMENTS, ETC. If any Lender shall obtain any 
         payment (whether voluntary, involuntary, or otherwise) on account of 
         the Loans, (including, without limitation, any set-off) which is in 
         excess of its Pro Rata Part of payments on either of the Loans, as the 
         case may be, obtained by all Lenders, such Lender shall 
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         purchase from the other Lenders such participation as shall be 
         necessary to cause such purchasing Lender to share the excess payment 
         pro rata with each of them; provided that, if all or any portion of 
         such excess payment is thereafter recovered from such purchasing 
         Lender, the purchase shall be rescinded and the purchase price restored 
         to the extent of the recovery. The Borrower agrees that any Lender so 
         purchasing a participation from another Lender pursuant to this Section 
         may, to the fullest extent permitted by law, exercise all of its rights 
         of payment (including the right of offset) with respect to such 
         participation as fully as if such Lender were the direct creditor of 
         the Borrower in the amount of such participation. 
 
                  (h) NON-RECEIPT OF FUNDS BY THE ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT. Unless 
         the Administrative Agent shall have been notified by a Lender or the 
         Borrower (the "Payor") prior to the date on which such Lender is to 
         make payment to the Administrative Agent of the proceeds of a Loan to 
         be made by it hereunder or the Borrower is to make a payment to the 
         Administrative Agent for the account of one or more of the Lenders, as 
         the case may be (such payment being herein called the "Required 
         Payment"), which notice shall be effective upon receipt, that the Payor 
         does not intend to make the Required Payment to the Administrative 
         Agent, the Administrative Agent may assume that the Required Payment 
         has been made and may, in reliance upon such assumption (but shall not 
         be required to), make the amount thereof available to the intended 
         recipient on such date and, if the Payor has not in fact made the 
         Required Payment to the Administrative Agent, the recipient of such 
         payment shall, on demand, pay to the Administrative Agent the amount 
         made available to it together with interest thereon in respect of the 
         period commencing on the date such amount was made available by the 
         Administrative Agent until the date the Administrative Agent recovers 
         such amount at the rate applicable to such portion of the applicable 
         Loan. 
 
         4.       INTEREST RATES. 
 
                  (a)      OPTIONS. 
 
                           (i) BASE RATE LOANS. On all Base Rate Loans the 
                  Borrower agrees to pay interest on the Notes calculated on the 
                  basis of the actual days elapsed in a year consisting of 360 
                  days with respect to the unpaid principal amount of each Base 
                  Rate Loan from the date the proceeds thereof are made 
                  available to Borrower until maturity (whether by acceleration 
                  or otherwise), at a varying rate per annum equal to the lesser 
                  of (i) the Maximum Rate (defined herein), or (ii) the sum of 
                  the Base Rate plus the Base Rate Margin. Subject to the 
                  provisions of this Agreement as to prepayment, the principal 
                  of the Notes representing Base Rate Loans shall be payable as 
                  specified in Section 3(d) hereof and the interest in respect 
                  of each Base Rate Loan shall be payable on each Interest 
                  Payment Date. Past due principal and, to the extent permitted 
                  by law, past due interest in respect to each Base Rate Loan, 
                  shall bear interest, payable on demand, at a rate per annum 
                  equal to the Maximum Rate. 
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                           (ii) EURODOLLAR LOANS. On all Eurodollar Loans the 
                  Borrower agrees to pay interest calculated on the basis of a 
                  year consisting of 360 days with respect to the unpaid 
                  principal amount of each Eurodollar Loan from the date the 
                  proceeds thereof are made available to Borrower until maturity 
                  (whether by acceleration or otherwise), at a varying rate per 
                  annum equal to the lesser of (i) the Maximum Rate, or (ii) the 
                  Eurodollar Rate plus the Eurodollar Margin. Subject to the 
                  provisions of this Agreement with respect to prepayment, the 
                  principal of the Notes shall be payable as specified in 
                  Section 3(d) hereof and the interest with respect to each 
                  Eurodollar Loan shall be payable on each Interest Payment 
                  Date. Past due principal and, to the extent permitted by law, 
                  past due interest shall bear interest, payable on demand, at a 
                  rate per annum equal to the Maximum Rate. Upon three (3) 
                  Business Days' written notice prior to the making by the 
                  Lenders of any Eurodollar Loan (in the case of the initial 
                  Interest Period therefor) or the expiration date of each 
                  succeeding Interest Period (in the case of subsequent Interest 
                  Periods therefor), Borrower shall have the option, subject to 
                  compliance by Borrower with all of the provisions of this 
                  Agreement, as long as no Event of Default exists, to specify 
                  whether the Interest Period commencing on any such date shall 
                  be a one (1), two (2), three (3), six (6) or nine (9) month 
                  period. If Administrative Agent shall not have received timely 
                  notice of a designation of such Interest Period as herein 
                  provided, Borrower shall be deemed to have elected to convert 
                  all maturing Eurodollar Loans to Base Rate Loans. 
 
                  (b) INTEREST RATE DETERMINATION. The Administrative Agent 
         shall determine each interest rate applicable to the Loans hereunder. 
         The Administrative Agent shall give prompt notice to the Borrower and 
         the Lenders of each rate of interest so determined and its 
         determination thereof shall be conclusive absent error. 
 
                  (c) CONVERSION OPTION. Borrower may elect from time to time 
         (i) to convert all or any part of its Eurodollar Loans to Base Rate 
         Loans by giving Administrative Agent irrevocable notice of such 
         election in writing prior to 10:00 a.m. (Dallas, Texas time) on the 
         conversion date and such conversion shall be made on the requested 
         conversion date, provided that any such conversion of a Eurodollar Loan 
         shall only be made on the last day of the Eurodollar Interest Period 
         with respect thereof, (ii) to convert all or any part of its Base Rate 
         Loans to Eurodollar Loans by giving the Administrative Agent 
         irrevocable written notice of such election three (3) Business Days 
         prior to the proposed conversion and such conversion shall be made on 
         the requested conversion date or, if such requested conversion date is 
         not a Business Day, on the next succeeding Business Day. Any such 
         conversion shall not be deemed to be a prepayment of any of the loans 
         for purposes of this Agreement on the Notes. 
 
                  (d) RECOUPMENT. If at any time the applicable rate of interest 
         selected pursuant to Sections 4(a)(i) or 4(a)(ii) above shall exceed 
         the Maximum Rate, thereby 
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         causing the interest on the Notes to be limited to the Maximum Rate, 
         then any subsequent reduction in the interest rate so selected or 
         subsequently selected shall not reduce the rate of interest on the 
         Notes below the Maximum Rate until the total amount of interest accrued 
         on the Note equals the amount of interest which would have accrued on 
         the Notes if the rate or rates selected pursuant to Sections 4(a)(i) or 
         (ii), as the case may be, had at all times been in effect. 
 
                  (e) INTEREST RATES APPLICABLE AFTER DEFAULT. Notwithstanding 
         anything to the contrary contained in this Section 4, during the 
         continuance of a Default or an Event of Default the Majority Lenders 
         may, at their option, by notice from Administrative Agent to the 
         Borrower (which notice may be revoked at the option of the Majority 
         Lenders notwithstanding the provisions of Section 15 hereof, which 
         requires all Lenders to consent to changes in interest rates) declare 
         that no Advance may be made as, converted into, or continued as a 
         Eurodollar Loan. During the continuance of an Event of Default, the 
         Majority Lenders, may, at their option, by notice from Administrative 
         Agent to the Borrower (which notice may be revoked at the option of 
         Majority Lenders notwithstanding the provisions of Section 15 hereof, 
         which requires all Lenders to consent to changes in interest rates) 
         declare that (i) each Eurodollar Loan shall bear interest for the 
         remainder of the applicable Interest Period at the rate otherwise 
         applicable to such Interest Period plus two percent (2%) per annum and 
         (ii) each Base Rate Loan shall bear interest at the rate otherwise 
         applicable to such Interest Period plus two percent (2%), provided 
         that, during the continuance of an Event of Default under Section 14(f) 
         or 14(g), the interest rate set forth in clauses (i) and (ii) above 
         shall be applicable to all outstanding Loans without any election or 
         action on the part of the Administrative Agent or any Lender. 
 
         5.       SPECIAL PROVISIONS RELATING TO LOANS. 
 
                  (a) UNAVAILABILITY OF FUNDS OR INADEQUACY OF PRICING. In the 
         event that, in connection with any proposed Eurodollar Loan, the 
         Administrative Agent determines, which determination shall, absent 
         manifest error, be final, conclusive and binding upon all parties, due 
         to changes in circumstances since the date hereof, adequate and fair 
         means do not exist for determining the Eurodollar Rate or such rate 
         will not accurately reflect the costs to the Lenders of funding 
         Eurodollar Loan for such Eurodollar Interest Period, the Administrative 
         Agent shall give notice of such determination to the Borrower and the 
         Lenders, whereupon, until the Administrative Agent notifies the 
         Borrower and the Lenders that the circumstances giving rise to such 
         suspension no longer exist, the obligations of the Lenders to make, 
         continue or convert a Loan into a Eurodollar Loan shall be suspended, 
         and all loans to Borrower shall be Base Rate Loans during the period of 
         suspension. 
 
                  (b) CHANGE IN LAWS. If at any time any new law or any change 
         in existing laws or in the interpretation of any new or existing laws 
         shall make it unlawful for any Lender to make or continue to maintain 
         or fund a Eurodollar Loan hereunder, then such 
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         Lender shall promptly notify Borrower in writing and such Lender's 
         obligation to make, continue or convert Loans into Eurodollar Loans 
         under this Agreement shall be suspended until it is no longer unlawful 
         for such Lender to make or maintain Eurodollar Loans. Upon receipt of 
         such notice, Borrower shall either repay the outstanding Eurodollar 
         Loan owed to the Lenders, without penalty, on the last day of the 
         current Interest Periods (or, if any Lender may not lawfully continue 
         to maintain and fund such Eurodollar Loan, immediately), or Borrower 
         may convert such Eurodollar Loan at such appropriate time to Base Rate 
         Loan. 
 
                  (c) INCREASED COST OR REDUCED RETURN. 
 
                           (i) If, after the date hereof, the adoption of any 
                  applicable law, rule, or regulation, or any change in any 
                  applicable law, rule, or regulation, or any change in the 
                  interpretation or administration thereof by any governmental 
                  authority, central bank, or comparable agency charged with the 
                  interpretation or administration thereof, or compliance by any 
                  Lender with any request or directive (whether or not having 
                  the force of law) of any such governmental authority, central 
                  bank, or comparable agency: 
 
                                    (A) shall subject such Lender to any tax, 
                           duty, or other charge with respect to any Eurodollar 
                           Loan, its Notes, or its obligation to make Eurodollar 
                           Loans, or change the basis of taxation of any amounts 
                           payable to such Lender under this Agreement or its 
                           Notes in respect of any Eurodollar Loan (other than 
                           franchise taxes and taxes imposed on the overall net 
                           income of such Lender); 
 
                                    (B) shall impose, modify, or deem applicable 
                           any reserve, special deposit, assessment, or similar 
                           requirement (other than reserve requirements, if any, 
                           taken into account in the determination of the 
                           Eurodollar Rate) relating to any extensions of credit 
                           or other assets of, or any deposits with or other 
                           liabilities or commitments of, such Lender, including 
                           the Commitment of such Lender hereunder; or 
 
                                    (C) shall impose on such Lender or on the 
                           London interbank market any other condition affecting 
                           this Agreement or its Notes or any of such extensions 
                           of credit or liabilities or commitments; 
 
                  and the result of any of the foregoing is to increase the cost 
                  to such Lender of making, converting into, continuing, or 
                  maintaining any Eurodollar Loan or to reduce any sum received 
                  or receivable by such Lender under this Agreement or its Notes 
                  with respect to any Eurodollar Loan, then Borrower shall pay 
                  to such Lender on demand such amount or amounts as will 
                  compensate such Lender for such increased cost or reduction. 
                  If any Lender requests compensation by Borrower under this 
                  Section 5(c), Borrower may, by notice to such Lender (with a 
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                  copy to Administrative Agent), suspend the obligation of such 
                  Lender to make or continue Eurodollar Loans, or to convert all 
                  or part of the Base Rate Loan owing to such Lender to a 
                  Eurodollar Loan, until the event or condition giving rise to 
                  such request ceases to be in effect (in which case the 
                  provisions of Section 5(c) shall be applicable); PROVIDED that 
                  such suspension shall not affect the right of such Lender to 
                  receive the compensation so requested. 
 
                           (ii) If, after the date hereof, any Lender shall have 
                  determined that the adoption of any applicable law, rule, or 
                  regulation regarding capital adequacy or any change therein or 
                  in the interpretation or administration thereof by any 
                  governmental authority, central bank, or comparable agency 
                  charged with the interpretation or administration thereof, or 
                  any request or directive regarding capital adequacy (whether 
                  or not having the force of law) of any such governmental 
                  authority, central bank, or comparable agency, has or would 
                  have the effect of reducing the rate of return on the capital 
                  of such Lender or any corporation controlling such Lender as a 
                  consequence of such Lender's obligations hereunder to a level 
                  below that which such Lender or such corporation could have 
                  achieved but for such adoption, change, request, or directive 
                  (taking into consideration its policies with respect to 
                  capital adequacy), then from time to time upon demand Borrower 
                  shall pay to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as 
                  will compensate such Lender for such reduction. 
 
                           (iii) Each Lender shall promptly notify Borrower and 
                  Administrative Agent of any event of which it has knowledge, 
                  occurring after the date hereof, which will entitle such 
                  Lender to compensation pursuant to this Section 5(c) and will 
                  designate a separate lending office, if applicable, if such 
                  designation will avoid the need for, or reduce the amount of, 
                  such compensation and will not, in the judgment of such 
                  Lender, be otherwise disadvantageous to it. Any Lender 
                  claiming compensation under this Section 5(c) shall furnish to 
                  Borrower and Administrative Agent a statement setting forth 
                  the additional amount or amounts to be paid to it hereunder 
                  which shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error. In 
                  determining such amount, such Lender may use any reasonable 
                  averaging and attribution methods. 
 
                           (iv) Any Lender giving notice to the Borrower through 
                  the Administrative Agent, pursuant to Sections 3(k) or 5(c) 
                  shall give to the Borrower a statement signed by an officer of 
                  such Lender setting forth in reasonable detail the basis for, 
                  and the calculation of such additional cost, reduced payments 
                  or capital requirements, as the case may be, and the 
                  additional amounts required to compensate such Lender 
                  therefor. 
 
                           (v) Within five (5) Business Days after receipt by 
                  the Borrower of any notice referred to in Sections 3(k) or 
                  5(c), the Borrower shall pay to the Administrative Agent for 
                  the account of the Lender issuing such notice such 
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                  additional amounts as are required to compensate such Lender 
                  for the increased cost, reduce payments or increase capital 
                  requirements identified therein, as the case may be. 
 
                  (d) DISCRETION OF LENDER AS TO MANNER OF FUNDING. 
         Notwithstanding any provisions of this Agreement to the contrary, each 
         Lender shall be entitled to fund and maintain its funding of all or any 
         part of its Loan in any manner it sees fit, it being understood, 
         however, that for the purposes of this Agreement all determinations 
         hereunder shall be made as if each Lender had actually funded and 
         maintained each Eurodollar Loan through the purchase of deposits having 
         a maturity corresponding to the last day of the Eurodollar Interest 
         Period applicable to such Eurodollar Loan and bearing an interest rate 
         to the applicable interest rate for such Eurodollar Period. 
 
                  (e) BREAKAGE FEES. Without duplication under any other 
         provision hereof, if any Lender incurs any loss, cost or expense 
         including, without limitation, any loss of profit and loss, cost, 
         expense or premium reasonably incurred by reason of the liquidation or 
         re-employment of deposits or other funds acquired by such Lender to 
         fund or maintain any Eurodollar Loan or the relending or reinvesting of 
         such deposits or amounts paid or prepaid to the Lenders as a result of 
         any of the following events other than any such occurrence as a result 
         in the change of circumstances described in Sections 5(a) and (b): 
 
                           (i) any payment, prepayment or conversion of a 
                  Eurodollar Loan on a date other than the last day of its 
                  Eurodollar Interest Period (whether by acceleration, 
                  prepayment or otherwise); 
 
                           (ii) any failure to make a principal payment of a 
                  Eurodollar Loan on the due date thereof; or 
 
                           (iii) any failure by the Borrower to borrow, 
                  continue, prepay or convert to a Eurodollar Loan on the dates 
                  specified in a notice given pursuant to Section 2(c) or 4(c) 
                  hereof; 
 
         then the Borrower shall pay to such Lender such amount as will 
         reimburse such Lender for such loss, cost or expense. If any Lender 
         makes such a claim for compensation, it shall furnish to Borrower and 
         Administrative Agent a statement setting forth the amount of such loss, 
         cost or expense in reasonable detail (including an explanation of the 
         basis for and the computation of such loss, cost or expense) and the 
         amounts shown on such statement shall be conclusive and binding absent 
         manifest error. 
 
         6. COLLATERAL SECURITY. To secure the performance by Borrower and the 
Guarantors of their respective obligations hereunder, and under the Notes, the 
Guaranties and Security Instruments, whether now or hereafter incurred, matured 
or unmatured, direct or contingent, joint or several, or joint and several, 
including extensions, modifications, renewals and increases thereof, and 
substitutions therefore, Borrower and each Guarantor have heretofore granted and 
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assigned to Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit of the Lenders a first 
and prior Lien on certain of its Oil and Gas Properties, certain related 
equipment, oil and gas inventory, stock and membership interest in Borrower's 
subsidiaries, and proceeds of the foregoing. The Oil and Gas Properties 
heretofore or hereafter mortgaged to the Administrative Agent shall represent 
not less than 80% of the Engineered Value (as hereinafter defined) of Borrower's 
and Guarantors' Oil and Gas Properties as of the Effective Date. All Rate 
Management Agreements shall be secured by the Collateral and repaid on a pari 
passu basis with the indebtedness and obligations of the Borrower and the 
Guarantors under the Loan Documents. All Oil and Gas Properties and other 
collateral in which Borrower and the Guarantors herewith grant or hereafter 
grants to Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit of the Lenders a first 
and prior Lien (to the satisfaction of the Administrative Agent) in accordance 
with this Section 6, as such properties and interests are from time to time 
constituted, are hereinafter collectively called the "Collateral". 
 
         The granting and assigning of such security interests and Liens by 
Borrower and the Guarantors shall be pursuant to Security Instruments in form 
and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent. Concurrently 
with the delivery of each of the Security Instruments or within a reasonable 
time thereafter, Borrower and the Guarantors shall furnish to the Administrative 
Agent mortgage and title opinions and other title information satisfactory to 
Administrative Agent with respect to the title and Lien status of Borrower's and 
Guarantors' interests in not less than 80% of the Engineered Value of the Oil 
and Gas Properties covered by the Security Instruments as Administrative Agent 
shall have designated. "Engineered Value" for this purpose shall mean future net 
revenues discounted at the discount rate being used by the Administrative Agent 
as of the date of any such determination utilizing the pricing parameters used 
in the engineering report furnished to the Administrative Agent for the ratable 
benefit of the Lenders, pursuant to Sections 7 and 12 hereof. Borrower and the 
Guarantors will cause to be executed and delivered to the Administrative Agent, 
in the future, additional Security Instruments if the Administrative Agent 
reasonably deems such are necessary to insure perfection or maintenance of 
Lenders' security interests and Liens in the Oil and Gas Properties or any part 
thereof. 
 
         7.       BORROWING BASE. 
 
                  (a) INITIAL BORROWING BASE AND MONTHLY COMMITMENT REDUCTION. 
         At the Effective Date, the Borrowing Base shall be $200,000,000. 
 
                  (b) SUBSEQUENT DETERMINATIONS OF BORROWING BASE. Subsequent 
         determinations of the Borrowing Base shall be made by the Lenders at 
         least semi-annually on April 1 and October 1 of each year beginning 
         October 1, 2001 or as Unscheduled Redeterminations. The Borrower shall 
         furnish to the Lenders as soon as possible but in any event no later 
         than March 1 of each year, beginning March 1, 2002, with (i) an 
         engineering report in form and substance satisfactory to the 
         Administrative Agent prepared by Wright & Company or another 
         independent petroleum engineering firm acceptable to Administrative 
         Agent covering at least 80% of the Oil and Gas 
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         Properties and (ii) an engineering report in form and substance 
         acceptable to Administrative Agent prepared by Borrower's in-house 
         engineering staff covering the remaining 20% of the Oil and Gas 
         Properties, both of said engineering reports to utilize economic and 
         pricing parameters used by Administrative Agent as established from 
         time to time, together with such other information concerning the value 
         of the Oil and Gas Properties as the Administrative Agent shall deem 
         necessary to determine the value of the Oil and Gas Properties. Each 
         such engineering report required to be furnished by March 1 of each 
         year shall be dated as of December 31 of the preceding year. By 
         September 1 of each year, or within thirty (30) days after either (i) 
         receipt of notice from Administrative Agent that the Lenders require an 
         Unscheduled Redetermination, or (ii) the Borrower gives notice to 
         Administrative Agent of its desire to have an Unscheduled 
         Redetermination performed, the Borrower shall furnish to the Lenders an 
         engineering report in form and substance satisfactory to Administrative 
         Agent prepared by Borrower's in-house engineering staff valuing all of 
         the Oil and Gas Properties utilizing economic and pricing parameters 
         used by the Administrative Agent as established from time to time, 
         together with such other information, reports and data concerning the 
         value of the Oil and Gas Properties as Administrative Agent shall deem 
         reasonably necessary to determine the value of such Oil and Gas 
         Properties. Each such engineering report required to furnished by 
         September 1 of each year, shall be dated as of the preceding June 30. 
         Administrative Agent shall by notice to the Borrower no later than 
         April 1 and October 1 of each year, or within a reasonable time 
         thereafter (herein called the "Determination Date"), notify the 
         Borrower of the designation by the Lenders of the new Borrowing Base 
         for the period beginning on such Determination Date and continuing 
         until, but not including, the next Determination Date. If an 
         Unscheduled Redetermination is made by the Lenders, the Administrative 
         Agent shall notify the Borrower within a reasonable time after receipt 
         of all requested information of the new Borrowing Base, and such new 
         Borrowing Base shall continue until the next Determination Date. If the 
         Borrower does not furnish all such information, reports and data by any 
         date specified in this Section 7(b), unless such failure is of no fault 
         of the Borrower, the Lenders may nonetheless designate the Borrowing 
         Base at such amount which the Lenders in their discretion determine and 
         may redesignate the Borrowing Base from time to time thereafter until 
         the Lenders receive all such information, reports and data, whereupon 
         the Lenders shall designate a new Borrowing Base as described above. 
         The procedure for determining the Borrowing Base at each 
         redetermination shall be that the Agents shall determine the Borrowing 
         Base and submit the same to the Lenders. If, at any time, the Agents 
         cannot otherwise agree upon the Borrowing Base to be recommended, the 
         Borrowing Base to be recommended by the Agents shall be determined 
         based upon the weighted arithmetic average of the amounts proposed by 
         each Agent. Said proposals to be weighted according to each Agent's 
         Commitment. Increases in the Borrowing Base will require approval of 
         all Lenders, but all other changes to the Borrowing Base will be 
         subject to approval by Required Lenders. If any redetermined Borrowing 
         Base is not approved by the required percentage of Lenders within 
         twenty (20) days after it is submitted to the Lenders by the Agents, 
         the Administrative Agent shall notify each of the Lenders that the 
         proposed Borrowing Base has not been approved 
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         and each Lender will submit within ten (10) days thereafter its 
         proposed Borrowing Base. The redetermined Borrowing Base shall be then 
         determined based upon the weighted arithmetic average of the proposed 
         amounts submitted by each Lender, said proposals to be weighted 
         according to each Lender's Commitment. Each Lender shall determine the 
         amount of its proposed Borrowing Base based upon the loan collateral 
         value which such Lender in its discretion (using such methodology, 
         assumptions and discounts rates as such Lender customarily uses in 
         assigning collateral value to oil and gas properties, oil and gas 
         gathering systems, gas processing and plant operations) assigns to such 
         Oil and Gas Properties of the Borrower at the time in question and 
         based upon such other credit factors consistently applied (including, 
         without limitation, the assets, liabilities, cash flow, business, 
         properties, prospects, management and ownership of the Borrower and its 
         affiliates) as such Lender customarily considers in evaluating similar 
         oil and gas credits, but such Lender in its discretion shall not be 
         required to give any additional positive value to any Oil and Gas 
         Property over the current economic and pricing parameters used by such 
         Lender for such Determination Date which additional value is derived 
         directly from a hedging, forward sale or swap agreement covering such 
         Oil and Gas Property as of the date of such determination. If at any 
         time any of the Oil and Gas Properties are sold, the Borrowing Base 
         then in effect shall automatically be reduced by a sum equal to the 
         amount of prepayment required to be made pursuant to Section 12(r) 
         hereof. The Borrowing Base shall be additionally reduced from time to 
         time pursuant to the provisions of Section 2(e) hereof. It is expressly 
         understood that the Lenders have no obligation to designate the 
         Borrowing Base at any particular amount, except in the exercise of 
         their discretion, whether in relation to the Commitment or otherwise. 
         Provided, however, that the Lenders shall not have the obligation to 
         designate a Borrowing Base in an amount in excess of the Commitment. 
 
         8.       FEES. 
 
                  (a) UNUSED COMMITMENT FEE. The Borrower shall pay to 
         Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit of the Lenders an unused 
         commitment fee (the "Unused Commitment Fee") equivalent to the Unused 
         Commitment Fee Rate times the daily average of the unadvanced amount of 
         the Commitment. Such Unused Commitment Fee shall be calculated on the 
         basis of a year consisting of 360 days. The Unused Commitment Fee shall 
         be payable in arrears on the last Business Day of each calendar quarter 
         beginning March 31, 2001 with the final fee payment due on the Maturity 
         Date for any period then ending for which the Unused Commitment Fee 
         shall not have been theretofore paid. In the event the Commitment 
         terminates on any date prior to the end of any such monthly period, the 
         Borrower shall pay to the Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit 
         of the Lenders, on the date of such termination, the total Unused 
         Commitment Fee due for the period in which such termination occurs. 
 
                  (b) THE LETTER OF CREDIT FEE. Borrower shall pay to the 
         Administrative Agent the Letter of Credit fees required above in 
         Section 2(d). 
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                  (c) AGENCY FEES. The Borrower shall pay to the Administrative 
         Agent certain fees for acting as Administrative Agent hereunder in 
         amounts to be negotiated between the Borrower and the Administrative 
         Agent. 
 
         9.       PREPAYMENTS. 
 
                  (a) VOLUNTARY PREPAYMENTS. Subject to the provisions of 
         Section 5(g) hereof, the Borrower may at any time and from time to 
         time, without penalty or premium, prepay the Notes, in whole or in 
         part. Each such prepayment shall be made on at least three (3) Business 
         Days' notice to Administrative Agent in the case of Eurodollar Loans 
         and not later than 11:00 a.m., Dallas, Texas time, in the case of Base 
         Rate Loans and shall be in a minimum amount of (i) $500,000 or any 
         whole multiples of $100,000 in excess thereof (or the unpaid balance of 
         the Notes, whichever is less), for Base Rate Loans, and (ii) $1,000,000 
         or any whole multiple of $100,000 in excess thereof (or the unpaid 
         balance of the Notes, whichever is less), on Eurodollars Loans, plus 
         accrued interest thereon to the date of prepayment. 
 
                  (b) MANDATORY PREPAYMENTS. 
 
                           (i) BORROWING BASE DEFICIENCY. In the event the Total 
                  Outstandings ever exceed the Borrowing Base as determined by 
                  Lenders pursuant to Section 7(b) hereof, the Borrower shall 
                  either (A) within ninety (90) days after notification from the 
                  Administrative Agent, by instruments reasonably satisfactory 
                  in form and substance to the Lender, provide the 
                  Administrative Agent with collateral with value and quality in 
                  amounts satisfactory to all of the Lenders in their discretion 
                  in order to increase the Borrowing Base by an amount at least 
                  equal to such excess, or (B) prepay, without premium or 
                  penalty, the principal amount of the Notes in an amount, of 
                  50% of such excess plus accrued interest thereon to the date 
                  of prepayment within ninety (90) days after such notification, 
                  and the remaining amount of such excess plus accrued interest 
                  thereon within one hundred eighty (180) days after such 
                  notification. If the Total Outstandings ever exceed the 
                  Commitment as a result of a Monthly Commitment Reduction or 
                  any other required reduction in the Commitment, then in such 
                  event, Borrower shall immediately prepay the principal amount 
                  of the Notes in an amount at least equal to such excess plus 
                  accrued interest to the date of prepayment. 
 
                           (ii) SALE OF ASSETS AND/OR EQUITY. The prepayments 
                  required to be made pursuant to the provisions of Sections 
                  12(r) and 12(w) hereof. 
 
         10. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. In order to induce the Lenders to 
enter into this Agreement, the Borrower hereby represents and warrants to the 
Lenders (which representations and warranties will survive the delivery of the 
Notes) that: 
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                  (a) CREATION AND EXISTENCE. Borrower and Oceana Exploration 
         Company, L.C. are both limited liability companies duly organized, 
         validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the 
         jurisdiction in which they were formed and are duly qualified in all 
         jurisdictions wherein failure to qualify may result in a Material 
         Adverse Effect. Ohio Intrastate Gas Transmission Company is a 
         corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under 
         the laws of the jurisdiction in which is was formed and is duly 
         qualified in all jurisdictions wherein failure to qualify may result in 
         a Material Adverse Effect. Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries has 
         all power and authority to own their respective properties and assets 
         and to transact the business in which they are engaged. 
 
                  (b) POWER AND AUTHORITY. Borrower is duly authorized and 
         empowered to create and issue the Notes; and Borrower and each of its 
         Subsidiaries is duly authorized and empowered to execute, deliver and 
         perform their respective Loan Documents, including this Agreement; and 
         all action on Borrower's part requisite for the due creation and 
         issuance of the Notes on Borrower's and each Subsidiary's part for the 
         due execution, delivery and performance of their respective Loan 
         Documents, including this Agreement, has been duly and effectively 
         taken. 
 
                  (c) BINDING OBLIGATIONS. This Agreement does, and the Notes 
         and other Loan Documents upon their creation, issuance, execution and 
         delivery will, constitute valid and binding obligations of Borrower, 
         enforceable in accordance with their respective terms (except that 
         enforcement may be subject to any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, or 
         similar debtor relief laws now or hereafter in effect and relating to 
         or affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights generally). The 
         Guaranties, upon their execution and delivery will constitute valid and 
         binding obligations of the Guarantors, enforceable in accordance with 
         their respective terms (except that enforcement may be subject to any 
         applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, or similar debtor relief laws now or 
         hereafter in effect and relating to or affecting the enforcement of 
         creditors' rights generally). 
 
                  (d) NO LEGAL BAR OR RESULTANT LIEN. The Notes and the Loan 
         Documents, including this Agreement, do not and will not, to the best 
         of the Borrower's knowledge violate any provisions of any contract, 
         agreement, law, regulation, order, injunction, judgment, decree or writ 
         to which Borrower or any Subsidiary is subject, or result in the 
         creation or imposition of any lien or other encumbrance upon any assets 
         or properties of Borrower or any Subsidiary, other than those 
         contemplated by this Agreement. 
 
                  (e) NO CONSENT. The execution, delivery and performance by 
         Borrower of the Notes and the Loan Documents, including this Agreement, 
         and the execution, delivery and performance by the Guarantors of their 
         respective Guaranties, do not require the consent or approval of any 
         other person or entity, including without limitation any regulatory 
         authority or governmental body of the United States or any state 
         thereof or any political subdivision of the United States or any state 
         thereof except for consents required for federal, state and, in some 
         instances, private leases, right of ways and other 
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         conveyances or encumbrances of oil and gas leases, which consents have 
         been obtained by the Borrower or its Subsidiaries, as the case may be. 
 
                  (f) FINANCIAL CONDITION. No change from the December 31, 2000 
         Financial Statements furnished by Borrower to the Agents has occurred 
         which is reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, except 
         as disclosed to the Lenders in Schedule "2" attached hereto. 
 
                  (g) LIABILITIES. Neither Borrower nor any Subsidiary has any 
         material liability, direct or contingent, except as disclosed to the 
         Lenders in the Financial Statements and on Schedule "3" attached 
         hereto. No unusual or unduly burdensome restrictions, restraint, or 
         hazard exists by contract, law or governmental regulation or otherwise 
         relative to the business, assets or properties of Borrower or any 
         Subsidiary which is reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse 
         Effect. 
 
                  (h) LITIGATION. Except as described in the Financial 
         Statements, or as otherwise disclosed to the Lenders in Schedule "4" 
         attached hereto, there is no litigation, legal or administrative 
         proceeding, investigation or other action of any nature pending or, to 
         the knowledge of the officers of Borrower threatened against or 
         affecting Borrower or any Subsidiary which involves the possibility of 
         any judgment or liability not fully covered by insurance, and which is 
         reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
                  (i) TITLES, ETC. Borrower and each Subsidiary has good and 
         defensible title to their respective assets, including without 
         limitation, the Oil and Gas Properties, free and clear of all liens or 
         other encumbrances except Permitted Liens. 
 
                  (j) DEFAULTS. Neither Borrower nor any Subsidiary is in 
         default and no event or circumstance has occurred which, but for the 
         passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, would constitute a 
         default under any loan or credit agreement, indenture, mortgage, deed 
         of trust, security agreement or other agreement or instrument to which 
         Borrower or any Subsidiary is a party in any respect that would be 
         reasonably expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. No Default or 
         Event of Default hereunder has occurred and is continuing. 
 
                  (k) CASUALTIES; TAKING OF PROPERTIES. Since the dates of the 
         pro forma financial statements of the Borrower delivered to Lenders, 
         neither the business nor the assets or properties of Borrower or any 
         Subsidiary has been affected (to the extent it is reasonably likely to 
         cause a Material Adverse Effect), as a result of any fire, explosion, 
         earthquake, flood, drought, windstorm, accident, strike or other labor 
         disturbance, embargo, requisition or taking of property or cancellation 
         of contracts, permits or concessions by any domestic or foreign 
         government or any agency thereof, riot, activities of armed forces or 
         acts of God or of any public enemy. 
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                  (l) USE OF PROCEEDS; MARGIN STOCK. The proceeds of the 
         Commitment may be used by the Borrower for the purposes of (i) working 
         capital, (ii) Letters of Credit, and (iii) general corporate purposes. 
         Borrower is not engaged principally or as one of its important 
         activities in the business of extending credit for the purpose of 
         purchasing or carrying any "margin stock " as defined in Regulation U 
         of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (12 C.F.R. Part 
         221), or for the purpose of reducing or retiring any indebtedness which 
         was originally incurred to purchase or carry a margin stock or for any 
         other purpose which might constitute this transaction a "purpose 
         credit" within the meaning of said Regulation U. 
 
                  Neither Borrower, any Subsidiary nor any other Person or 
         entity acting on behalf of Borrower or any Subsidiary has taken or will 
         take any action which might cause the loans hereunder or any of the 
         Loan Documents, including this Agreement, to violate Regulation U or 
         any other regulation of the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve 
         System or to violate the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 or any rule or 
         regulation thereunder, in each case as now in effect or as the same may 
         hereafter be in effect. 
 
                  (m) LOCATION OF BUSINESS AND OFFICES. The principal place of 
         business and chief executive offices of the Borrower is located at the 
         address stated in Section 17 hereof. The principal place of business 
         and chief executive office of each of the Subsidiaries is located at 
         the addresses shown on Schedule "5" hereto. 
 
                  (n) COMPLIANCE WITH THE LAW. To the best of Borrower's 
         knowledge, neither Borrower or any Subsidiary: 
 
                           (i) is in violation of any law, judgment, decree, 
                  order, ordinance, or governmental rule or regulation to which 
                  Borrower, or any of its assets or properties are subject; or 
 
                           (ii) has failed to obtain any license, permit, 
                  franchise or other governmental authorization necessary to the 
                  ownership of any of its assets or properties or the conduct of 
                  its business; 
 
         which violation or failure is reasonably expected to have a Material 
         Adverse Effect. 
 
                  (o) NO MATERIAL MISSTATEMENTS. No information, exhibit or 
         report furnished by Borrower to the Lenders in connection with the 
         negotiation of this Agreement or in the preparation of the offering 
         memo contained any material misstatement of fact or omitted to state a 
         material fact or any fact necessary to make the statement contained 
         therein not materially misleading. 
 
                  (p) NOT A UTILITY. Borrower is not an entity engaged in the 
         State of Texas in the (i) generation, transmission, or distribution and 
         sale of electric power; (ii) transportation, distribution and sale 
         through a local distribution system of natural or other 
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         gas for domestic, commercial, industrial, or other use; (iii) provision 
         of telephone or telegraph service to others; (iv) production, 
         transmission, or distribution and sale of steam or water; (v) operation 
         of a railroad; or (vii) provision of sewer service to others. 
 
                  (q) ERISA. Borrower and each Subsidiary is in compliance in 
         all material respects with the applicable provisions of ERISA, and no 
         "reportable event", as such term is defined in Section 403 of ERISA, 
         has occurred with respect to any Plan of Borrower or any Subsidiary. 
 
                  (r) PUBLIC UTILITY HOLDING COMPANY ACT. Borrower is not a 
         "holding company", or "subsidiary company" of a "holding company", or 
         an "affiliate" of a "holding company" or of a "subsidiary company" of a 
         "holding company", or a "public utility" subject to the registration 
         requirements of the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935, as 
         amended. 
 
                  (s) SUBSIDIARIES. Ohio Intrastate Gas Transmission Company, 
         Oceana Exploration Company, L.C. and Great Lakes Gas Transport LLC are 
         the only Subsidiaries of Borrower as of the Effective Date. Borrower is 
         owned by the parties shown on Schedule "6" hereto. 
 
                  (t) ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS. Except as disclosed on Schedule 
         "7", neither Borrower nor any Subsidiary (i) has received notice or 
         otherwise learned of any Environmental Liability which would be 
         reasonably likely to individually or in the aggregate have a Material 
         Adverse Effect arising in connection with (A) any non-compliance with 
         or violation of the requirements of any Environmental Law or (B) the 
         release or threatened release of any toxic or hazardous waste into the 
         environment, (ii) has received notice of any threatened or actual 
         liability in connection with the release or notice of any threatened 
         release of any toxic or hazardous waste into the environment which 
         would be reasonably likely to individually or in the aggregate have a 
         Material Adverse Effect or (iii) has received notice or otherwise 
         learned of any federal or state investigation evaluating whether any 
         remedial action is needed to respond to a release or threatened release 
         of any toxic or hazardous waste into the environment for which Borrower 
         or any Subsidiary is or may be liable which may reasonably be expected 
         to result in a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
                  (u) LIENS. Except (i) as disclosed on Schedule "1" hereto and 
         (ii) for Permitted Liens, the assets and properties of the Borrower and 
         each Subsidiary are free and clear of all liens and encumbrances. 
 
                  (v) ASSETS. All assets, including, but not limited to the 
         Collateral indicated in the Borrower's pro forma financial statement or 
         other information furnished to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders 
         are to be owned by Borrower and its Subsidiaries are, in fact, owned by 
         Borrower or one of its Subsidiaries as of the Effective Date. 
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         11.      CONDITIONS OF LENDING. 
 
                  (a) The effectiveness of this Agreement, and the obligation to 
         make the initial Advance or issue any initial Letter of Credit under 
         the Commitment shall be subject to satisfaction of the following 
         conditions precedent: 
 
                           (i) EXECUTION AND DELIVERY. The Borrower has executed 
                  and delivered the Agreement, the Notes and other required Loan 
                  Documents, all in form and substance satisfactory to the 
                  Administrative Agent; 
 
                           (ii) RESOLUTIONS. The Administrative Agent shall have 
                  received appropriate certified resolutions of Borrower and 
                  each Guarantor; 
 
                           (iii) GOOD STANDING. The Administrative Agent shall 
                  have received evidence of existence and good standing for 
                  Borrower and each Guarantor; 
 
                           (iv) INCUMBENCY. The Administrative Agent shall have 
                  received a signed certificate of Borrower and each Guarantor, 
                  certifying the names of the officers of Borrower and each 
                  Guarantor authorized to sign loan documents on behalf of 
                  Borrower and each Guarantor, together with the true signatures 
                  of each such officer. The Administrative Agent may 
                  conclusively rely on such certificate until the Administrative 
                  Agent receives a further certificate of Borrower or any 
                  Guarantor canceling or amending the prior certificate and 
                  submitting signatures of the officers named in such further 
                  certificate; 
 
                           (v) CORPORATE AND LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY 
                  DOCUMENTS. The Administrative Agent shall have received copies 
                  of (i) the Certificates of Formation of Borrower and any 
                  limited liability company Subsidiary and all amendments 
                  thereto, certified by the Secretary of State of the State of 
                  its organization, and a copy of the Limited Liability Company 
                  Agreements of Borrower and any limited liability company 
                  Subsidiary and all amendments thereto, certified by one or 
                  more officers of Borrower as being true, correct and complete 
                  and (ii) Articles of Incorporation of any corporate Subsidiary 
                  and all amendments thereto, certified by the Secretary of 
                  State of the State of its organization, and a copy of the 
                  Bylaws of such Subsidiaries, and all amendments thereto, 
                  certified by one or more officers of such Subsidiary as being 
                  true, correct and complete; 
 
                           (vi) PAYMENT OF CLOSING FEE. The Administrative Agent 
                  shall have received for the benefit of the Lenders a closing 
                  fee equal to one-eighth of one percent of each Lender's 
                  Commitment hereunder. 
 
                           (vii) REPRESENTATION AND WARRANTIES. The 
                  representations and warranties of Borrower under this 
                  Agreement are true and correct in all material 
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                  respects as of such date, as if then made (except to the 
                  extent that such representations and warranties related solely 
                  to an earlier date); 
 
                           (viii) NO EVENT OF DEFAULT. No Event of Default shall 
                  have occurred and be continuing nor shall any event have 
                  occurred or failed to occur which, with the passage of time or 
                  service of notice, or both, would constitute an Event of 
                  Default; 
 
                           (ix) OTHER DOCUMENTS. Administrative Agent shall have 
                  received such other instruments and documents incidental and 
                  appropriate to the transaction provided for herein as 
                  Administrative Agent or its counsel may reasonably request, 
                  and all such documents shall be in form and substance 
                  reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent; and 
 
                           (x) LEGAL MATTERS SATISFACTORY. All legal matters 
                  incident to the consummation of the transactions contemplated 
                  hereby shall be reasonably satisfactory to special counsel for 
                  Administrative Agent retained at the expense of the Borrower. 
 
                  (b) The obligation of the Lenders to make any Advance or issue 
         any Letter of Credit under the Commitment (including the initial 
         Advance) shall be subject to the following additional conditions 
         precedent that, at the date of making each such Advance and after 
         giving effect thereto: 
 
                           (i) REPRESENTATION AND WARRANTIES. The 
                  representations and warranties of Borrower under this 
                  Agreement are true and correct in all material respects as of 
                  such date, as if then made (except to the extent that such 
                  representations and warranties related solely to an earlier 
                  date); 
 
                           (ii) NO EVENT OF DEFAULT. No Event of Default shall 
                  have occurred and be continuing nor shall any event have 
                  occurred or failed to occur which, with the passage of time or 
                  service of notice, or both, would constitute an Event of 
                  Default; 
 
                           (iii) OTHER DOCUMENTS. Administrative Agent shall 
                  have received such other instruments and documents incidental 
                  and appropriate to the transaction provided for herein as 
                  Administrative Agent or its counsel may reasonably request, 
                  and all such documents shall be in form and substance 
                  reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent; and 
 
                           (iv) LEGAL MATTERS SATISFACTORY. All legal matters 
                  incident to the consummation of the transactions contemplated 
                  hereby shall be reasonably satisfactory to special counsel for 
                  Administrative Agent retained at the expense of Borrower. 
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         12. AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS. A deviation from the provisions of this 
Section 12 shall not constitute an Event of Default under this Agreement if such 
deviation is consented to in writing by Majority Lenders prior to the date of 
deviation. The Borrower will at all times comply with the covenants contained in 
this Section 12 from the date hereof and for so long as the Commitments are in 
existence or any amount is owed to the Administrative Agent or the Lenders under 
this Agreement or the other Loan Documents. 
 
                  (a) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND REPORTS. Borrower shall promptly 
         furnish to the Administrative Agent from time to time upon request such 
         information regarding the business and affairs and financial condition 
         of Borrower, as the Administrative Agent may reasonably request, and 
         will furnish to the Administrative Agent: 
 
                           (i) ANNUAL AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. As soon as 
                  available, and in any event within ninety (90) days after the 
                  close of each fiscal year beginning with the fiscal year ended 
                  December 31, 2001, the annual audited consolidated and 
                  consolidating Financial Statements of Borrower, prepared in 
                  accordance with GAAP accompanied by an unqualified opinion 
                  rendered by an independent accounting firm reasonably 
                  acceptable to the Administrative Agent; 
 
                           (ii) QUARTERLY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. As soon as 
                  available, and in any event within forty-five (45) days after 
                  the end of each fiscal quarter of each year, beginning with 
                  the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2001, the quarterly 
                  unaudited, consolidated and consolidating Financial Statements 
                  of Borrower prepared in accordance with GAAP; 
 
                           (iii) REPORT ON PROPERTIES. As soon as available and 
                  in any event on or before March 1 and September 1 of each 
                  calendar year, and at such other times as any Lender, in 
                  accordance with Section 7 hereof, may request, the engineering 
                  reports required to be furnished to the Administrative Agent 
                  under such Section 7 on the Oil and Gas Properties; 
 
                           (iv) ADDITIONAL INFORMATION. Promptly upon request of 
                  the Administrative Agent from time to time any additional 
                  financial information or other information that the 
                  Administrative Agent may reasonably request. 
 
         All such reports, information, balance sheets and Financial Statements 
         referred to in Subsection 12(a) above shall be in such detail as the 
         Administrative Agent may reasonably request and shall be prepared in a 
         manner consistent with the Financial Statements. 
 
                  (b) CERTIFICATES OF COMPLIANCE. Concurrently with the 
         furnishing of the annual audited Financial Statements pursuant to 
         Subsection 12(a)(i) hereof and the quarterly unaudited Financial 
         Statements pursuant to Subsection 12(a)(ii) hereof for the months 
         coinciding with the end of each calendar quarter, Borrower will furnish 
         or cause 
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         to be furnished to the Administrative Agent a certificate in the form 
         of Exhibit "D" attached hereto, signed by the President, Chief 
         Financial Officer, Treasurer or Controller of Borrower, (i) stating 
         that Borrower has fulfilled in all material respects its obligations 
         under the Notes and the Loan Documents, including this Agreement, and 
         that all representations and warranties made herein and therein 
         continue (except to the extent they relate solely to an earlier date) 
         to be true and correct in all material respects (or specifying the 
         nature of any change), or if a Default has occurred, specifying the 
         Default and the nature and status thereof; (ii) to the extent requested 
         from time to time by the Administrative Agent, specifically affirming 
         compliance of Borrower in all material respects with any of its 
         representations (except to the extent they relate solely to an earlier 
         date) or obligations under said instruments; (iii) setting forth the 
         computation, in reasonable detail as of the end of each period covered 
         by such certificate, of compliance with Sections 13(b) and (c); and 
         (iv) containing or accompanied by such financial or other details, 
         information and material as the Administrative Agent may reasonably 
         request to evidence such compliance. 
 
                  (c) ACCOUNTANTS' CERTIFICATE. Concurrently with the furnishing 
         of the annual audited Financial Statement pursuant to Section 12(a)(i) 
         hereof, Borrower will furnish a statement from the firm of independent 
         public accountants which prepared such Financial Statement to the 
         effect that nothing has come to their attention to cause them to 
         believe that there existed on the date of such statements any Event of 
         Default and specifically calculating Borrower's compliance with 
         Sections 13(b) and (c) of this Agreement. 
 
                  (d) TAXES AND OTHER LIENS. The Borrower will pay and 
         discharge, and will cause each Subsidiary to pay and discharge, 
         promptly all taxes, assessments and governmental charges or levies 
         imposed upon the Borrower or any Subsidiary, or upon the income or any 
         assets or property of Borrower or any Subsidiary, as well as all claims 
         of any kind (including claims for labor, materials, supplies and rent) 
         which, if unpaid, might become a Lien or other encumbrance upon any or 
         all of the assets or property of Borrower or any Subsidiary and which 
         could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; 
         provided, however, that neither Borrower nor any Subsidiary shall be 
         required to pay any such tax, assessment, charge, levy or claim if the 
         amount, applicability or validity thereof shall currently be contested 
         in good faith by appropriate proceedings diligently conducted, levy and 
         execution thereon have been stayed and continue to be stayed and if 
         Borrower or such Subsidiary shall have set up adequate reserves 
         therefor, if required, under GAAP. 
 
                  (e) COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS. Borrower will observe and comply, 
         and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to observe and comply, in all 
         material respects, with all applicable laws, statutes, codes, acts, 
         ordinances, orders, judgments, decrees, injunctions, rules, 
         regulations, orders and restrictions relating to environmental 
         standards or controls or to energy regulations of all federal, state, 
         county, municipal and other governments, departments, commissions, 
         boards, agencies, courts, authorities, officials and officers, domestic 
         or foreign. 
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                  (f) FURTHER ASSURANCES. The Borrower will cure promptly any 
         defects in the creation and issuance of the Notes and the execution and 
         delivery of the Notes and the Loan Documents, including this Agreement. 
         The Borrower will cause the Guarantors to promptly cure any defects in 
         the issuance of the Guaranties. The Borrower at its sole expense will 
         promptly execute and deliver, and will cause its Subsidiaries to 
         execute and deliver, to Administrative Agent upon its reasonable 
         request all such other and further documents, agreements and 
         instruments in compliance with or accomplishment of the covenants and 
         agreements in this Agreement, or to correct any omissions in the Notes 
         or more fully to state the obligations set out herein. The Borrower 
         shall cause each existing Subsidiary and each new Subsidiary to execute 
         and deliver Guaranties to Administrative Agent. The Borrower shall and 
         shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to pledge to Administrative Agent, 
         for the ratable benefit of the Lenders, as security for the obligations 
         under the Loan Documents, any interest in a Subsidiary. 
 
                  (g) PERFORMANCE OF OBLIGATIONS. The Borrower will pay the 
         Notes and other obligations incurred by it hereunder according to the 
         reading, tenor and effect thereof and hereof; and Borrower will, and 
         will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, do and perform every act and 
         discharge all of the obligations provided to be performed and 
         discharged by the Borrower under the Loan Documents, including this 
         Agreement, at the time or times and in the manner specified. 
 
                  (h) INSURANCE. The Borrower and each Subsidiary will have in 
         force as of the Effective Date and will continue to maintain insurance 
         with financially sound and reputable insurers with respect to its 
         assets against such liabilities, fires, casualties, risks and 
         contingencies and in such types and amounts as is customary in the case 
         of persons engaged in the same or similar businesses and similarly 
         situated. Upon request of the Administrative Agent, the Borrower will 
         furnish or cause to be furnished to the Administrative Agent from time 
         to time a summary of the insurance coverage of Borrower and each 
         Subsidiary in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative 
         Agent, and, if requested, will furnish the Administrative Agent copies 
         of the applicable policies. Upon demand by Administrative Agent any 
         insurance policies covering any such property shall be endorsed (i) to 
         provide that such policies may not be canceled, reduced or affected in 
         any manner for any reason without fifteen (15) days prior notice to 
         Administrative Agent, (ii) to provide for insurance against fire, 
         casualty and other hazards normally insured against, in the amount of 
         the full value (less a reasonable deductible not to exceed amounts 
         customary in the industry for similarly situated business and 
         properties) of the property insured, and (iii) to provide for such 
         other matters as the Administrative Agent may reasonably require. The 
         Borrower shall at all times maintain, and shall cause each Subsidiary 
         to maintain, adequate insurance with respect to all of its assets, 
         including but not limited to, the Oil and Gas Properties or any 
         collateral against its liability for injury to persons or property, 
         which insurance shall be by financially sound and reputable insurers 
         and shall without limitation provide the following coverages: 
         comprehensive general liability (including coverage for damage to 
         underground resources and equipment, damage caused by blowouts or 
         cratering, damage 
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         caused by explosion, damage to underground minerals or resources caused 
         by saline substances, broad form property damage coverage, broad form 
         coverage for contractually assumed liabilities and broad form coverage 
         for acts of independent contractors), worker's compensation and 
         automobile liability. The Borrower shall at all times maintain, and 
         shall cause each Subsidiary owning Oil and Gas Properties, to maintain 
         cost of control of well insurance with respect to the Oil and Gas 
         Properties which shall insure the Borrower and such Subsidiary against 
         seepage and pollution expense; redrilling expense; and cost of control 
         of well; fires, blowouts, etc., if deemed economical in the reasonable 
         discretion of the Borrower and such Subsidiary. Additionally, the 
         Borrower shall at all times maintain, and cause its Subsidiaries to 
         maintain, adequate insurance with respect to all of its other assets 
         and wells in accordance with prudent business practices. 
 
                  (i) ACCOUNTS AND RECORDS. Borrower will keep books, records 
         and accounts and will cause each Subsidiary to keep books, records and 
         accounts, in which full, true and correct entries will be made of all 
         dealings or transactions in relation to its business and activities, 
         prepared in a manner consistent with prior years, subject to changes 
         suggested by Borrower's or any Subsidiary's auditors. 
 
                  (j) RIGHT OF INSPECTION. Borrower will permit, and will cause 
         each Subsidiary to permit, any officer, employee or agent of the 
         Lenders to examine Borrower's or any Subsidiary's books, records and 
         accounts, and take copies and extracts therefrom, all at such 
         reasonable times during normal business hours and as often as the 
         Lenders may reasonably request. The Lenders will use best efforts to 
         keep all Confidential Information (as herein defined) confidential and 
         will not disclose or reveal the Confidential Information or any part 
         thereof other than (i) as required by law, and (ii) to the Lenders', 
         and the Lenders' subsidiaries', Affiliates, officers, employees, legal 
         counsel and regulatory authorities or advisors to whom it is necessary 
         to reveal such information for the purpose of effectuating the 
         agreements and undertakings specified herein or as otherwise required 
         in connection with the enforcement of the Lenders' and the 
         Administrative Agent's rights and remedies under the Notes, this 
         Agreement and the other Loan Documents. As used herein, "Confidential 
         Information" means information about the Borrower or any Subsidiary 
         furnished by the Borrower or any Subsidiary to the Lenders, but does 
         not include information (i) which was publicly known, or otherwise 
         known to the Lenders (except not in violation of any confidentiality 
         agreement), at the time of the disclosure, (ii) which subsequently 
         becomes publicly known through no act or omission by the Lenders 
         (except not in violation of any confidentiality agreement), or (iii) 
         which otherwise becomes known to the Lenders, other than through 
         disclosure by the Borrower. 
 
                  (k) NOTICE OF CERTAIN EVENTS. The Borrower shall, and shall 
         cause each Subsidiary to, promptly notify the Administrative Agent if 
         Borrower or any Subsidiary learns of the occurrence of (i) any event 
         which constitutes an Event of Default together with a detailed 
         statement by Borrower of the steps being taken to cure such Event of 
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         Default; (ii) any legal, judicial or regulatory proceedings affecting 
         Borrower or any Subsidiary, or any of the assets or properties of 
         Borrower or any Subsidiary which, if adversely determined, could 
         reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; (iii) any 
         dispute between Borrower, any Subsidiary and any governmental or 
         regulatory body or any other Person or entity which, if adversely 
         determined, might reasonably be expected to cause a Material Adverse 
         Effect; (iv) any other matter which in Borrower's reasonable opinion 
         could have a Material Adverse Effect. 
 
                  (l) ERISA INFORMATION AND COMPLIANCE. The Borrower will, and 
         will cause each Subsidiary to, promptly furnish to the Administrative 
         Agent immediately upon becoming aware of the occurrence of any 
         "reportable event", as such term is defined in Section 4043 of ERISA, 
         or of any "prohibited transaction", as such term is defined in Section 
         4975 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, in connection 
         with any Plan or any trust created thereunder, a written notice signed 
         by the chief financial officer of Borrower or such Subsidiary 
         specifying the nature thereof, what action Borrower or any such 
         Subsidiary is taking or proposes to take with respect thereto, and, 
         when known, any action taken by the Internal Revenue Service with 
         respect thereto. 
 
                  (m) ENVIRONMENTAL REPORTS AND NOTICES. The Borrower will, and 
         will cause each Subsidiary to, deliver to the Administrative Agent (i) 
         promptly upon its becoming available, one copy of each report sent by 
         Borrower or any Subsidiary to any court, governmental agency or 
         instrumentality pursuant to any Environmental Law, (ii) notice, in 
         writing, promptly upon Borrower's or any Subsidiary's receipt of notice 
         or otherwise learning of any claim, demand, action, event, condition, 
         report or investigation indicating any potential or actual liability 
         arising in connection with (x) the non-compliance with or violation of 
         the requirements of any Environmental Law which reasonably could be 
         expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; (y) the release or 
         threatened release of any toxic or hazardous waste into the environment 
         which reasonably could be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect or 
         which release Borrower or any Subsidiary would have a duty to report to 
         any court or government agency or instrumentality, or (iii) the 
         existence of any Environmental Lien on any properties or assets of 
         Borrower or any Subsidiary, and Borrower shall immediately deliver, and 
         shall cause any such Subsidiary to immediately deliver, a copy of any 
         such notice to Administrative Agent. 
 
                  (n) COMPLIANCE AND MAINTENANCE. The Borrower will, and will 
         cause each Subsidiary to, (i) observe and comply in all material 
         respects with all Environmental Laws; (ii) except as provided in 
         Subsections 12(o) and 12(p) below, maintain the Oil and Gas Properties 
         and other assets and properties in good and workable condition at all 
         times and make all repairs, replacements, additions, betterments and 
         improvements to the Oil and Gas Properties and other assets and 
         properties as are needed and proper so that the business carried on in 
         connection therewith may be conducted properly and efficiently at all 
         times in the opinion of the Borrower or any Subsidiary exercised in 
         good faith; (iii) take or cause to be taken whatever actions are 
         necessary or desirable to prevent an event or condition of default by 
         Borrower or any Subsidiary under the provisions of any gas 
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         purchase or sales contract or any other contract, agreement or lease 
         comprising a part of the Oil and Gas Properties or other collateral 
         security hereunder which default could reasonably be expected to result 
         in a Material Adverse Effect; and (iv) furnish Administrative Agent 
         upon request evidence satisfactory to Administrative Agent that there 
         are no Liens, claims or encumbrances on the Oil and Gas Properties, 
         except laborers', vendors', repairmen's, mechanics', worker's, or 
         materialmen's liens arising by operation of law or incident to the 
         construction or improvement of property if the obligations secured 
         thereby are not yet due or are being contested in good faith by 
         appropriate legal proceedings or Permitted Liens. 
 
                  (o) OPERATION OF PROPERTIES. Except as provided in Subsection 
         12(p) and (q) below, the Borrower will and will cause each Subsidiary 
         to, operate, or use reasonable efforts to cause to be operated, all Oil 
         and Gas Properties in a careful and efficient manner in accordance with 
         the practice of the industry and in compliance in all material respects 
         with all applicable laws, rules, and regulations, and in compliance in 
         all material respects with all applicable proration and conservation 
         laws of the jurisdiction in which the properties are situated, and all 
         applicable laws, rules, and regulations, of every other agency and 
         authority from time to time constituted to regulate the development and 
         operation of the properties and the production and sale of hydrocarbons 
         and other minerals therefrom; provided, however, that the Borrower and 
         any such Subsidiary shall have the right to contest in good faith by 
         appropriate proceedings, the applicability or lawfulness of any such 
         law, rule or regulation and pending such contest may defer compliance 
         therewith, as long as such deferment shall not subject the properties 
         or any part thereof to foreclosure or loss. 
 
                  (p) COMPLIANCE WITH LEASES AND OTHER INSTRUMENTS. The Borrower 
         will, and will cause each Subsidiary to, pay or cause to be paid and 
         discharge all rentals, delay rentals, royalties, production payment, 
         and indebtedness required to be paid by Borrower or any Subsidiary (or 
         required to keep unimpaired in all material respects the rights of 
         Borrower or any Subsidiary in the Oil and Gas Properties) accruing 
         under, and perform or cause to be performed in all material respects 
         each and every act, matter, or thing required of Borrower or any 
         Subsidiary by each and all of the assignments, deeds, leases, 
         subleases, contracts, and agreements in any way relating to Borrower or 
         any Subsidiary or any of the Oil and Gas Properties and do all other 
         things necessary of Borrower or any Subsidiary to keep unimpaired in 
         all material respects the rights of Borrower or any Subsidiary 
         thereunder and to prevent the forfeiture thereof or default thereunder; 
         provided, however, that nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to 
         require Borrower or any Subsidiary to perpetuate or renew any oil and 
         gas lease or other lease by payment of rental or delay rental or by 
         commencement or continuation of operations nor to prevent Borrower or 
         any Subsidiary from abandoning or releasing any oil and gas lease or 
         other lease or well thereon when, in any of such events, in the opinion 
         of Borrower or any Subsidiary exercised in good faith, it is not in the 
         best interest of the Borrower or such Subsidiary to perpetuate the 
         same. 
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                  (q) CERTAIN ADDITIONAL ASSURANCES REGARDING MAINTENANCE AND 
         OPERATIONS OF PROPERTIES. With respect to those Oil and Gas Properties 
         which are being operated by operators other than the Borrower or its 
         Subsidiaries, the Borrower or its Subsidiaries shall not be obligated 
         to perform any undertakings contemplated by the covenants and agreement 
         contained in Subsections 12(o) or 12(p) hereof which are performable 
         only by such operators and are beyond the control of the Borrower or 
         its Subsidiaries; however, the Borrower agrees to promptly take, and 
         cause each Subsidiary to take, all reasonable actions available under 
         any operating agreements or otherwise to bring about the performance of 
         any such material undertakings required to be performed thereunder. 
 
                  (r) SALE OF CERTAIN ASSETS/PREPAYMENT OF PROCEEDS. The 
         Borrower or any Subsidiary will immediately pay over to the 
         Administrative Agent for the ratable benefit of the Lenders as a 
         prepayment of principal on the Notes, an amount equal to 100% of the 
         "Release Price" received by Borrower or any Subsidiary from the sale of 
         Borrowing Base Assets. The term "Release Price" as used herein shall 
         mean the Borrowing Base value assigned to the Borrowing Base Assets 
         sold as of the last Borrowing Base determination. Any such prepayment 
         of principal on the Notes required by this Section 12(r), shall not be 
         in lieu of, but shall be in addition to, any mandatory prepayment of 
         principal required to be paid pursuant to Section 9(b) hereof. 
 
                  (s) TITLE MATTERS. As to any Oil and Gas Properties hereafter 
         mortgaged to Administrative Agent, Borrower will, and will cause each 
         Subsidiary to, promptly (but in no event more than thirty (30) days 
         following such mortgaging), furnish Administrative Agent with title 
         opinions and/or title information reasonably satisfactory to 
         Administrative Agent showing good and defensible title of Borrower or 
         any such Subsidiary to such Oil and Gas Properties subject only to 
         Permitted Liens. 
 
                  (t) CURATIVE MATTERS. Within sixty (60) days after the 
         Effective Date with respect to matters listed on Schedule "9" and, 
         thereafter, within sixty (60) days after receipt by Borrower from 
         Administrative Agent or its counsel of written notice of title defects 
         the Administrative Agent reasonably requires to be cured, Borrower 
         shall, and shall cause each Subsidiary to, either (i) provide such 
         curative information, in form and substance satisfactory to 
         Administrative Agent, or (ii) substitute Oil and Gas Properties of 
         value and quality satisfactory to the Administrative Agent for all of 
         Oil and Gas Properties for which such title curative was requested but 
         upon which Borrower or any Subsidiary elected not to provide such title 
         curative information, and, within sixty (60) days of such substitution, 
         provide title opinions or title information satisfactory to the 
         Administrative Agent covering the Oil and Gas Properties so 
         substituted. If the Borrower or any Subsidiary fails to satisfy (i) or 
         (ii) above within the time specified, the loan collateral value 
         assigned by the Lenders to the Oil and Gas Properties for which such 
         curative information was requested shall be deducted from the Borrowing 
         Base resulting in a reduction thereof. 
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                  (u) CHANGE OF PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS. Borrower shall, and 
         shall cause each Subsidiary to, give Administrative Agent at least 
         thirty (30) days prior written notice of its intention to move its 
         principal place of business from the address set forth in Section 17 
         hereof. 
 
                  (v) SALE OF EQUITY. The Borrower or any Subsidiary will 
         immediately pay over to the Administrative Agent for the ratable 
         benefit of the Lenders as a prepayment of principal on the Notes, an 
         amount equal to 100% of the proceeds (net of direct costs of sale) 
         received by Borrower or any Subsidiary from the sale of any equity 
         interest in, or securities of, the Borrower or any such Subsidiary. 
 
         13. NEGATIVE COVENANTS. A deviation from the provisions of this Section 
13 shall not constitute an Event of Default under this Agreement if such 
deviation is consented to in writing by Majority Lenders prior to the date of 
deviation. The Borrower will at all times comply with the covenants contained in 
this Section 13 from the date hereof and for so long as the Commitment is in 
existence or any amount is owed to the Administrative Agent or the Lenders under 
this Agreement or the other Loan Documents. 
 
                  (a) NEGATIVE PLEDGE. Borrower shall not, and shall not allow 
         its Subsidiaries to, without the prior written consent of the Lenders: 
 
                           (i) create, incur, assume or permit to exist any 
                  Lien, security interest or other encumbrance on any of its 
                  assets or properties except Permitted Liens; or 
 
                           (ii) sell, lease, transfer or otherwise dispose of, 
                  in any fiscal year, any of its assets except for (A) sales, 
                  leases, transfers or other dispositions made in the ordinary 
                  course of Borrower's oil and gas businesses, (B) sales made 
                  with the consent of Majority Lenders which are made pursuant 
                  to, and in full compliance with, Section 12(r) hereof; and (C) 
                  sales, leases or transfers or other dispositions (including 
                  those referred to in Section 13(a)(ii)(B)) made by Borrower 
                  and its Subsidiaries which do not exceed $10,000,000 in the 
                  aggregate during any fiscal year. 
 
                  (b) CURRENT RATIO. Borrower shall not allow its ratio of 
         Consolidated Current Assets to Consolidated Current Liabilities to be 
         less than 1.0 to 1.0 as of the end of any fiscal quarter. 
 
                  (c) TOTAL DEBT TO EBITDAX. The Borrower will not allow its 
         ratio of Consolidated Total Debt to Consolidated EBITDAX to be less 
         than 4.0 to 1.0 as of the end of any calendar quarter beginning with 
         the calendar quarter ending March 31, 2001, calculated on a trailing 
         four-quarter basis. 
 
                  (d) CONSOLIDATIONS AND MERGERS. Borrower will not, and will 
         not allow any of its Subsidiaries to, consolidate or merge with or into 
         any other Person, except that 
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         Borrower or any such Subsidiary may merge with another Person if 
         Borrower or such Subsidiary is the surviving entity in a non-hostile 
         merger and if, after giving effect thereto, no Default or Event of 
         Default shall have occurred and be continuing. 
 
                  (e) DEBTS, GUARANTIES AND OTHER OBLIGATIONS. Without the 
         consent of Majority Lenders, Borrower will not, and will not allow any 
         of its Subsidiaries to, incur, create, assume or in any manner become 
         or be liable in respect of any indebtedness, nor will Borrower or any 
         Subsidiary guarantee or otherwise in any manner become or be liable in 
         respect of any indebtedness, liabilities or other obligations of any 
         other person or entity, whether by agreement to purchase the 
         indebtedness of any other person or entity or agreement for the 
         furnishing of funds to any other person or entity through the purchase 
         or lease of goods, supplies or services (or by way of stock purchase, 
         capital contribution, advance or loan) for the purpose of paying or 
         discharging the indebtedness of any other person or entity, or 
         otherwise, except that the foregoing restrictions shall not apply to: 
 
                           (i) the Notes and any renewal or increase thereof, or 
                  other indebtedness of the Borrower and any Subsidiary 
                  heretofore disclosed to Lenders in the Borrower's Financial 
                  Statements or on Schedule "4" hereto; or 
 
                           (ii) taxes, assessments or other government charges 
                  which are not yet due or are being contested in good faith by 
                  appropriate action promptly initiated and diligently 
                  conducted, if such reserve as shall be required by GAAP shall 
                  have been made therefor and levy and execution thereon have 
                  been stayed and continue to be stayed; or 
 
                           (iii) indebtedness not exceeding in the aggregate 
                  outstanding at any time the sum of $10,000,000; or 
 
                           (iv) any renewals or extensions of any of the 
                  foregoing. 
 
                  (f) DISTRIBUTIONS OR DIVIDENDS. Borrower will not (i) declare 
         or pay any cash distribution, or dividend; (ii) purchase, redeem or 
         otherwise acquire for value any of its stock now or hereafter 
         outstanding; (iii) return any capital to its stockholders, or (iv) make 
         any distribution of its assets to its stockholders as such, except the 
         foregoing shall not apply to cash distributions to its owners in 
         amounts not exceeding such owners' income tax and franchise tax 
         liability (calculated at the highest of such owner's actual tax rates) 
         directly attributable to Borrower's income; provided, however, that 
         immediately before and after giving effect thereto no (A) Default or 
         Event of Default or (B) Borrowing Base deficiency or requirement to 
         make any mandatory prepayment of principal pursuant to Section 9(b) 
         hereof, shall exist. 
 
                  (g) LOANS AND ADVANCES. Borrower shall not, and shall not 
         allow any Subsidiary to, make or permit to remain outstanding any loans 
         or advances to or in any person or entity, except that the foregoing 
         restriction shall not apply to: 
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                           (i) loans or advances to any person, the material 
                  details of which have been set forth in the Financial 
                  Statements of the Borrower or any Subsidiary heretofore 
                  furnished to Lenders; or 
 
                           (ii) loans or advances not exceeding $1,000,000 a 
                  year in the aggregate. 
 
                  (h) SALE OR DISCOUNT OF RECEIVABLES. Borrower will not, nor 
         will Borrower allow any of its Subsidiaries to, discount or sell with 
         recourse, or sell for less than the greater of the face or market value 
         thereof, any of its notes receivable or accounts receivable. 
 
                  (i) NATURE OF BUSINESS. Borrower will not, nor will Borrower 
         allow any of its Subsidiaries to, permit any material change to be made 
         in the character of its business as carried on at the date hereof. 
 
                  (j) TRANSACTIONS WITH AFFILIATES. Borrower will not, nor will 
         Borrower allow any of its Subsidiaries to, enter into any transaction 
         with any Affiliate, except transactions upon terms that are no less 
         favorable to it than would be obtained in a transaction negotiated at 
         arm's length with an unrelated third party. 
 
                  (k) RATE MANAGEMENT TRANSACTIONS. Borrower will not, and will 
         not permit any Subsidiary to, enter into any Rate Management 
         Transaction, except the foregoing prohibitions shall not apply to (x) 
         non-speculative transactions consented to in writing by the 
         Administrative Agent, or (y) Pre-Approved Contracts. 
 
                  (l) INVESTMENTS. Borrower shall not make, nor will Borrower 
         allow any of its Subsidiaries to make, any investments in any person or 
         entity, except such restriction shall not apply to investments not 
         exceeding $3,000,000 in the aggregate per year for Borrower and all of 
         its Subsidiaries. 
 
                  (m) AMENDMENT TO CERTIFICATE OF FORMATION OR LIMITED LIABILITY 
         COMPANY AGREEMENT. Without the consent of the Administrative Agent, 
         Borrower will not permit any material amendment to, or any material 
         alteration of, its Certificate of Formation or Limited Liability 
         Company Agreement. Borrower will not allow any Subsidiary to make any 
         material amendment or alteration to any of their Certificates of 
         Formation, Articles of Incorporation, Limited Liability Company 
         Agreements or Bylaws. Borrower shall provide a copy of any such 
         amendment, whether the same requires consent or not pursuant to this 
         Section 13(l), to the Administrative Agent as soon as reasonably 
         possible after adoption thereof. 
 
                  (n) PAYMENT OR PRE-PAYMENT OF OTHER INDEBTEDNESS. Except as 
         otherwise provided for in this Agreement, Borrower shall not make, nor 
         allow any of its Subsidiaries to make, any unscheduled principal 
         payments or redeem any of its 
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         indebtedness (other than indebtedness owed the Lenders hereunder), or 
         redeem any of its equity unless such payment, prepayment, redemption or 
         purchase is approved by Majority Lenders. 
 
                  (o) SALE OF INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES. Other than as may be 
         permitted under Section 13(d) hereof, Borrower will not sell or 
         otherwise transfer any its ownership interests in any of its 
         Subsidiaries. 
 
                  (p) ACQUISITION OR FORMATION OF SUBSIDIARIES. Borrower will 
         not, nor allow any of its Subsidiaries to, acquire or form any 
         Subsidiary unless Administrative Agent shall have consented to such in 
         writing and Borrower and such Subsidiary have complied with Section 
         12(f) hereof. 
 
         14. EVENTS OF DEFAULT. Any one or more of the following events shall be 
considered an "Event of Default" as that term is used herein: 
 
                  (a) The Borrower shall fail to pay when due or declared due 
         the principal of, and the interest on, the Notes, or any fee or any 
         other indebtedness of the Borrower incurred pursuant to this Agreement 
         or any other Loan Document; or 
 
                  (b) Any representation or warranty made by Borrower under this 
         Agreement, or in any certificate or statement furnished or made to the 
         Lenders pursuant hereto, or in connection herewith, or in connection 
         with any document furnished hereunder, shall prove to be untrue in any 
         material respect as of the date on which such representation or 
         warranty is made (or deemed made), or any representation, statement 
         (including financial statements), certificate, report or other data 
         furnished or to be furnished or made by Borrower under any Loan 
         Document, including this Agreement, proves to have been untrue in any 
         material respect, as of the date as of which the facts therein set 
         forth were stated or certified; or 
 
                  (c) Default shall be made in the due observance or performance 
         of any of the covenants or agreements of the Borrower or any Subsidiary 
         contained in the Loan Documents, including this Agreement (excluding 
         covenants contained in Section 12(m) or Section 13 of the Agreement for 
         which there is no cure period), and such default shall continue for 
         more than thirty (30) days; or 
 
                  (d) Default shall be made in the due observance or performance 
         of the covenants of Borrower contained in Section 12(m) or Section 13 
         of this Agreement; or 
 
                  (e) Default shall be made in respect of any obligation for 
         borrowed money, other than the Notes, for which Borrower or any of its 
         Subsidiaries is liable (directly, by assumption, as guarantor or 
         otherwise), or any obligations secured by any mortgage, pledge or other 
         security interest, lien, charge or encumbrance with respect thereto, on 
         any asset or property of Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or in 
         respect of any agreement relating to any such obligations unless 
         Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is not liable for 
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         same (i.e., unless remedies or recourse for failure to pay such 
         obligations is limited to foreclosure of the collateral security 
         therefor), and if such default shall continue beyond the applicable 
         grace period, if any; or 
 
                  (f) Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries shall commence a 
         voluntary case or other proceeding seeking liquidation, reorganization 
         or other relief with respect to itself or its debts under any 
         bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law now or hereafter in effect 
         or seeking an appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator, custodian 
         or other similar official of it or any substantial part of its 
         property, or shall consent to any such relief or to the appointment of 
         or taking possession by any such official in an involuntary case or 
         other proceeding commenced against it, or shall make a general 
         assignment for the benefit of creditors, or shall fail generally to pay 
         its debts as they become due, or shall take any corporate action 
         authorizing the foregoing; or 
 
                  (g) An involuntary case or other proceeding, shall be 
         commenced against Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries seeking 
         liquidation, reorganization or other relief with respect to it or its 
         debts under any bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law now or hereafter 
         in effect or seeking the appointment of a trustee, receiver, 
         liquidator, custodian or other similar official of it or any 
         substantial part of its property, and such involuntary case or other 
         proceeding shall remain undismissed and unstayed for a period of sixty 
         (60) days; or an order for relief shall be entered against Borrower or 
         any of its Subsidiaries under the federal bankruptcy laws as now or 
         hereinafter in effect; or 
 
                  (h) A final judgment or order for the payment of money in 
         excess of $1,500,000 (or judgments or orders aggregating in excess of 
         $1,500,000) shall be rendered against Borrower or any of its 
         Subsidiaries and such judgments or orders shall continue unsatisfied 
         and unstayed for a period of thirty (30) days; or 
 
                  (i) In the event the Total Outstandings shall at any time 
         exceed the Borrowing Base established for the Notes, and the Borrower 
         shall fail to comply with the provisions of Section 9(b) hereof; or 
 
                  (j) A Change of Control shall occur; or 
 
                  (k) An Event of Default shall have occurred under any 
         agreement entered into in connection with a Rate Management 
         Transaction. 
 
         Upon occurrence of any Event of Default specified in Subsections 14(f) 
and (g) hereof, the entire principal amount due under the Notes and all interest 
then accrued thereon, and any other liabilities of the Borrower hereunder, shall 
become immediately due and payable all without notice and without presentment, 
demand, protest, notice of protest or dishonor or any other notice of default of 
any kind, all of which are hereby expressly waived by the Borrower. In any other 
Event of Default, the Administrative Agent, upon request of Majority Lenders, 
shall by notice to the Borrower declare the principal of, and all interest then 
accrued on, the Notes and any other liabilities hereunder to be forthwith due 
and payable, whereupon the same shall 
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forthwith become due and payable without presentment, demand, protest, notice of 
intent to accelerate, notice of acceleration or other notice of any kind, all of 
which the Borrower hereby expressly waives, anything contained herein or in the 
Notes to the contrary notwithstanding. Nothing contained in this Section 14 
shall be construed to limit or amend in any way the Events of Default enumerated 
in the Notes, or any other document executed in connection with the transaction 
contemplated herein. 
 
         Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of any Event of Default, 
the Lenders are hereby authorized at any time and from time to time, without 
notice to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, (any such notice being 
expressly waived by the Borrower), to set-off and apply any and all deposits 
(general or special, time or demand, provisional or final) at any time held and 
other indebtedness at any time owing by any of the Lenders to or for the credit 
or the account of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries against any and all of 
the indebtedness of the Borrower or any Subsidiaries under the Notes and the 
Loan Documents, including this Agreement, irrespective of whether or not the 
Lenders shall have made any demand under the Loan Documents, including this 
Agreement or the Notes and although such indebtedness may be unmatured. Any 
amount set-off by any of the Lenders shall be applied against the indebtedness 
owed the Lenders by the Borrower pursuant to this Agreement and the Notes. The 
Lenders agree promptly to notify the Borrower and the affected Subsidiary after 
any such setoff and application, provided that the failure to give such notice 
shall not affect the validity of such set-off and application. The rights of the 
Lender under this Section are in addition to other rights and remedies 
(including, without limitation, other rights of set-off) which the Lenders may 
have. 
 
         15.      THE AGENTS AND THE LENDERS. 
 
                  (a) APPOINTMENT AND AUTHORIZATION. Each Lender hereby appoints 
         Administrative Agent as its nominee and Administrative Agent, in its 
         name and on its behalf: (i) to act as nominee for and on behalf of such 
         Lender in and under all Loan Documents; (ii) to arrange the means 
         whereby the funds of Lenders are to be made available to the Borrower 
         under the Loan Documents; (iii) to take such action as may be requested 
         by any Lender under the Loan Documents (when such Lender is entitled to 
         make such request under the Loan Documents); (iv) to receive all 
         documents and items to be furnished to Lenders under the Loan 
         Documents; (v) to be the secured party, mortgagee, beneficiary, and 
         similar party in respect of, and to receive, as the case may be, any 
         collateral for the benefit of Lenders; (vi) to promptly distribute to 
         each Lender all material information, requests, documents and items 
         received from the Borrower under the Loan Documents; (vii) to promptly 
         distribute to each Lender such Lender's Pro Rata Part of each payment 
         or prepayment (whether voluntary, as proceeds of insurance thereon, or 
         otherwise) in accordance with the terms of the Loan Documents and 
         (viii) to deliver to the appropriate Persons requests, demands, 
         approvals and consents received from Lenders. Each Lender hereby 
         authorizes Administrative Agent to take all actions and to exercise 
         such powers under the Loan Documents as are specifically delegated to 
         Administrative Agent by the terms hereof or thereof, together with all 
         other powers reasonably incidental thereto. With respect to its 
         Commitments hereunder and the Notes 
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         issued to it, Administrative Agent and any successor Administrative 
         Agent shall have the same rights under the Loan Documents as any other 
         Lender and may exercise the same as though it were not the 
         Administrative Agent; and the term "Lender" or "Lenders" shall, unless 
         otherwise expressly indicated, include Administrative Agent and any 
         successor Administrative Agent in its capacity as a Lender. 
         Administrative Agent and any successor Administrative Agent and its 
         Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money to, act as trustee 
         under indentures of and generally engage in any kind of business with 
         the Borrower and any person which may do business with the Borrower, 
         all as if Administrative Agent and any successor Administrative Agent 
         was not Administrative Agent hereunder and without any duty to account 
         therefor to the Lenders; provided that, if any payments in respect of 
         any property (or the proceeds thereof) now or hereafter in the 
         possession or control of Administrative Agent which may be or become 
         security for the obligations of the Borrower arising under the Loan 
         Documents by reason of the general description of indebtedness secured 
         or of property contained in any other agreements, documents or 
         instruments related to any such other business shall be applied to 
         reduction of the obligations of the Borrower arising under the Loan 
         Documents, then each Lender shall be entitled to share in such 
         application according to its pro rata part thereof. Each Lender, upon 
         request of any other Lender, shall disclose to all other Lenders all 
         indebtedness and liabilities, direct and contingent, of the Borrower to 
         such Lender as of the time of such request. 
 
                  (b) NOTE HOLDERS. From time to time as other Lenders become a 
         party to this Agreement, Administrative Agent shall obtain execution by 
         the Borrower of additional Notes in amounts representing the Commitment 
         of each such new Lender, up to an aggregate face amount of all Notes 
         not exceeding $275,000,000. The obligation of such Lender shall be 
         governed by the provisions of this Agreement, including but not limited 
         to, the obligations specified in Section 2 hereof. From time to time, 
         Administrative Agent may require that the Lenders exchange their Notes 
         for newly issued Notes to better reflect the Commitments of the 
         Lenders. Administrative Agent may treat the payee of any Note as the 
         holder thereof until written notice of transfer has been filed with it, 
         signed by such payee and in form satisfactory to Administrative Agent. 
 
                  (c) CONSULTATION WITH COUNSEL. Lenders agree that 
         Administrative Agent may consult with legal counsel selected by 
         Administrative Agent and shall not be liable for any action taken or 
         suffered in good faith by it in accordance with the advice of such 
         counsel. LENDERS ACKNOWLEDGE THAT GARDERE WYNNE SEWELL LLP IS COUNSEL 
         FOR BANK ONE, BOTH AS ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND AS A LENDER, AND THAT 
         SUCH FIRM DOES NOT REPRESENT ANY OF THE OTHER LENDERS IN CONNECTION 
         WITH THIS TRANSACTION. 
 
                  (d) DOCUMENTS. Administrative Agent shall not be under a duty 
         to examine or pass upon the validity, effectiveness, enforceability, 
         genuineness or value of any of the Loan Documents or any other 
         instrument or document furnished pursuant thereto or in connection 
         therewith, and Administrative Agent shall be entitled to assume that 
         the same are valid, effective, enforceable and genuine and what they 
         purport to be. 
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                  (e) RESIGNATION OR REMOVAL OF ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT. Subject to 
         the appointment and acceptance of a successor Administrative Agent as 
         provided below, Administrative Agent may resign at any time by giving 
         written notice thereof to Lenders and the Borrower, and Administrative 
         Agent may be removed at any time with or without cause by all Lenders 
         (other than Administrative Agent). If no successor Administrative Agent 
         has been so appointed by Majority Lenders (and approved by the 
         Borrower) and has accepted such appointment within 30 days after the 
         retiring Administrative Agent's giving of notice of resignation or 
         removal of the retiring Administrative Agent, then the retiring 
         Administrative Agent may, on behalf of Lenders, appoint a successor 
         Administrative Agent. Any successor Administrative Agent must be 
         approved by Borrower, which approval will not be unreasonably withheld. 
         Upon the acceptance of any appointment as Administrative Agent 
         hereunder by a successor Administrative Agent, such successor 
         Administrative Agent shall thereupon succeed to and become vested with 
         all the rights and duties of the retiring Administrative Agent, and the 
         retiring Administrative Agent, as the case may be, shall be discharged 
         from its duties and obligations hereunder. After any retiring 
         Administrative Agent's resignation or removal hereunder as 
         Administrative Agent, the provisions of this Section 15 shall continue 
         in effect for its benefit in respect to any actions taken or omitted to 
         be taken by it while it was acting as Administrative Agent. To be 
         eligible to be an Administrative Agent hereunder the party serving, or 
         to serve, in such capacity must own a Pro Rata Part of the Commitments 
         equal to the level of Commitment required to be held by any Lender 
         pursuant to Section 28 hereof. 
 
                  (f) RESPONSIBILITY OF ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT. It is expressly 
         understood and agreed that the obligations of Administrative Agent 
         under the Loan Documents are only those expressly set forth in the Loan 
         Documents as to each and that Administrative Agent, shall be entitled 
         to assume that no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is 
         continuing, unless Administrative Agent has actual knowledge of such 
         fact or has received notice from a Lender or the Borrower that such 
         Lender or the Borrower considers that a Default or an Event of Default 
         has occurred and is continuing and specifying the nature thereof. 
         Neither Administrative Agent nor any of its directors, officers, 
         attorneys or employees shall be liable for any action taken or omitted 
         to be taken by them under or in connection with the Loan Documents, 
         except for its or their own gross negligence or willful misconduct. 
         Administrative Agent shall not incur liability under or in respect of 
         any of the Loan Documents by acting upon any notice, consent, 
         certificate, warranty or other paper or instrument believed by it to be 
         genuine or authentic or to be signed by the proper party or parties, or 
         with respect to anything which it may do or refrain from doing in the 
         reasonable exercise of its judgment, or which may seem to it to be 
         necessary or desirable. 
 
                  Administrative Agent shall not be responsible to Lenders for 
         any of the Borrower's recitals, statements, representations or 
         warranties contained in any of the Loan Documents, or in any 
         certificate or other document referred to or provided for in, or 
         received by any Lender under, the Loan Documents, or for the value, 
         validity, 
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         effectiveness, genuineness, enforceability or sufficiency of or any of 
         the Loan Documents or for any failure by the Borrower to perform any of 
         its obligations hereunder or thereunder. Administrative Agent may 
         employ agents and attorneys-in-fact and shall not be answerable, except 
         as to money or securities received by it or its authorized agents, for 
         the negligence or misconduct of any such agents or attorneys-in-fact 
         selected by it with reasonable care. 
 
                  The relationship between Administrative Agent and each Lender 
         is only that of Administrative Agent and principal and has no fiduciary 
         aspects. Nothing in the Loan Documents or elsewhere shall be construed 
         to impose on Administrative Agent any duties or responsibilities other 
         than those for which express provision is therein made. In performing 
         its duties and functions hereunder, Administrative Agent does not 
         assume and shall not be deemed to have assumed, and hereby expressly 
         disclaims, any obligation or responsibility toward or any relationship 
         of agency or trust with or for the Borrower or any of its beneficiaries 
         or other creditors. As to any matters not expressly provided for by the 
         Loan Documents, Administrative Agent shall not be required to exercise 
         any discretion or take any action, but shall be required to act or to 
         refrain from acting (and shall be fully protected in so acting or 
         refraining from acting) upon the instructions of all Lenders and such 
         instructions shall be binding upon all Lenders and all holders of the 
         Notes; provided, however, that Administrative Agent shall not be 
         required to take any action which is contrary to the Loan Documents or 
         applicable law. 
 
                  Administrative Agent shall have the right to exercise or 
         refrain from exercising, without notice or liability to the Lenders, 
         any and all rights afforded to Administrative Agent by the Loan 
         Documents or which Administrative Agent may have as a matter of law; 
         provided, however, Administrative Agent shall not (i) except as 
         provided in Section 7(b) hereof, without the consent of Required 
         Lenders designate the amount of the Borrowing Base (except for increase 
         thereof) or (ii) without the consent of Majority Lenders, take any 
         other action with regard to amending the Loan Documents, waiving any 
         default under the Loan Documents or taking any other action with 
         respect to the Loan Documents which requires consent of Majority 
         Lenders. Provided further, however, that no amendment, waiver, or other 
         action shall be effected pursuant to the preceding clause (ii) without 
         the consent of all Lenders which: (i) would increase the Borrowing Base 
         or decrease the Monthly Commitment Reduction, (ii) would reduce any 
         fees hereunder, or the principal of, or the interest on, any Lender's 
         Note or Notes, (iii) would postpone any date fixed for any payment of 
         any fees hereunder, or any principal or interest of any Lender's Note 
         or Notes, (iv) would materially increase any Lender's obligations 
         hereunder or would materially alter Administrative Agent's obligations 
         to any Lender hereunder, (v) would release Borrower from its obligation 
         to pay any Lender's Note or Notes, (vi) would change the definition of 
         Majority or Required Lenders, (vii) would amend, modify or change any 
         provision of this Agreement requiring the consent of all the Lenders, 
         (viii) would waive any of the conditions precedent to the Effective 
         Date or the making of any Loan or issuance of any Letter of Credit or 
         (ix) would extend the Maturity Date or (x) would amend this sentence or 
         the previous 
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         sentence. Administrative Agent shall not have liability to Lenders for 
         failure or delay in exercising any right or power possessed by 
         Administrative Agent pursuant to the Loan Documents or otherwise unless 
         such failure or delay is caused by the gross negligence of the 
         Administrative Agent, in which case only the Administrative Agent 
         responsible for such gross negligence shall have liability therefor to 
         the Lenders. 
 
                  (g) INDEPENDENT INVESTIGATION. Each Lender severally 
         represents and warrants to the Agents that it has made its own 
         independent investigation and assessment of the financial condition and 
         affairs of the Borrower in connection with the making and continuation 
         of its participation hereunder and has not relied exclusively on any 
         information provided to such Lender by the Agents in connection 
         herewith, and each Lender represents, warrants and undertakes to Agents 
         that it shall continue to make its own independent appraisal of the 
         credit worthiness of the Borrower while the Notes are outstanding or 
         its commitments hereunder are in force. The Agents shall not be 
         required to keep themselves informed as to the performance or 
         observance by the Borrower of this Agreement or any other document 
         referred to or provided for herein or to inspect the properties or 
         books of the Borrower. Other than as provided in this Agreement, the 
         Agents shall not have any duty, responsibility or liability to provide 
         any Lender with any credit or other information concerning the affairs, 
         financial condition or business of the Borrower which may come into the 
         possession of Administrative Agent. 
 
                  (h) INDEMNIFICATION. Lenders agree to indemnify the Agents, 
         ratably according to their respective Commitments on a Pro Rata basis, 
         from and against any and all liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, 
         penalties, actions, judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements 
         of any proper and reasonable kind or nature whatsoever which may be 
         imposed on, incurred by or asserted against any of the Agents in any 
         way relating to or arising out of the Loan Documents or any action 
         taken or omitted by Administrative Agent under the Loan Documents, 
         provided that no Lender shall be liable for any portion of such 
         liabilities, obligations, losses, damages, penalties, actions, 
         judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements resulting from any 
         of the Agent's gross negligence or willful misconduct. Each Lender 
         shall be entitled to be reimbursed by the Agents for any amount such 
         Lender paid to the Agents under this Section 15(h) to the extent the 
         Agents have been reimbursed for such payments by the Borrower or any 
         other Person. THE PARTIES INTEND FOR THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION TO 
         APPLY TO AND PROTECT THE AGENTS FROM THE CONSEQUENCES OF ANY LIABILITY 
         INCLUDING STRICT LIABILITY IMPOSED OR THREATENED TO BE IMPOSED ON THE 
         AGENTS AS WELL AS FROM THE CONSEQUENCES OF ITS OWN NEGLIGENCE, WHETHER 
         OR NOT THAT NEGLIGENCE IS THE SOLE, CONTRIBUTING OR CONCURRING CAUSE OF 
         ANY SUCH LIABILITY. 
 
                  (i) BENEFIT OF SECTION 15. The agreements contained in this 
         Section 15 are solely for the benefit of Administrative Agent and the 
         Lenders and are not for the benefit of, or to be relied upon by, the 
         Borrower, any affiliate of the Borrower or any other person. 
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                  (j) PRO RATA TREATMENT. Subject to the provisions of this 
         Agreement, each payment (including each prepayment) by the Borrower and 
         collection by Lenders (including offsets) on account of the principal 
         of and interest on the Notes and fees provided for in this Agreement, 
         payable by the Borrower shall be made Pro Rata; provided, however, in 
         the event that any Defaulting Lender shall have failed to make an 
         Advance as contemplated under Section 3 hereof and Administrative Agent 
         or another Lender or Lenders shall have made such Advance, payment 
         received by Administrative Agent for the account of such Defaulting 
         Lender or Lenders shall not be distributed to such Defaulting Lender or 
         Lenders until such Advance or Advances shall have been repaid in full 
         to the Lender or Lenders who funded such Advance or Advances. 
 
                  (k) ASSUMPTION AS TO PAYMENTS. Except as specifically provided 
         herein, unless Administrative Agent shall have received notice from the 
         Borrower prior to the date on which any payment is due to Lenders 
         hereunder that the Borrower will not make such payment in full, 
         Administrative Agent may, but shall not be required to, assume that the 
         Borrower has made such payment in full to Administrative Agent on such 
         date and Administrative Agent may, in reliance upon such assumption, 
         cause to be distributed to each Lender on such due date an amount equal 
         to the amount then due such Lender. If and to the extent the Borrower 
         shall not have so made such payment in full to Administrative Agent, 
         each Lender shall repay to Administrative Agent forthwith on demand 
         such amount distributed to such Lender together with interest thereon, 
         for each day from the date such amount is distributed to such Lender 
         until the date such Lender repays such amount to Administrative Agent, 
         at the interest rate applicable to such portion of the Loan. 
 
                  (l) OTHER FINANCINGS. Without limiting the rights to which any 
         Lender otherwise is or may become entitled, such Lender shall have no 
         interest, by virtue of this Agreement or the Loan Documents, in (a) any 
         present or future loans from, letters of credit issued by, or leasing 
         or other financial transactions by, any other Lender to, on behalf of, 
         or with the Borrower (collectively referred to herein as "Other 
         Financings") other than the obligations hereunder; (b) any present or 
         future guarantees by or for the account of the Borrower which are not 
         contemplated by the Loan Documents; (c) any present or future property 
         taken as security for any such Other Financings; or (d) any property 
         now or hereafter in the possession or control of any other Lender which 
         may be or become security for the obligations of the Borrower arising 
         under any loan document by reason of the general description of 
         indebtedness secured or property contained in any other agreements, 
         documents or instruments relating to any such Other Financings. 
 
                  (m) INTERESTS OF LENDERS. Nothing in this Agreement shall be 
         construed to create a partnership or joint venture between Lenders for 
         any purpose. The Agents, Lenders and the Borrower recognize that the 
         respective obligations of Lenders under the Commitments shall be 
         several and not joint and that neither the Agents nor any of Lenders 
         shall be responsible or liable to perform any of the obligations of the 
         other under this Agreement. Each Lender is deemed to be the owner of an 
         undivided interest in and 
 
                                       50 



   56 
 
         to all rights, titles, benefits and interests belonging and accruing to 
         Administrative Agent under the Security Instruments, including, without 
         limitation, liens and security interests in any collateral, fees and 
         payments of principal and interest by the Borrower under the 
         Commitments on a Pro Rata basis. Each Lender shall perform all duties 
         and obligations of Lenders under this Agreement in the same proportion 
         as its ownership interest in the Loans outstanding at the date of 
         determination thereof. 
 
                  (n) INVESTMENTS. Whenever Administrative Agent in good faith 
         determines that it is uncertain about how to distribute to Lenders any 
         funds which it has received, or whenever Administrative Agent in good 
         faith determines that there is any dispute among the Lenders about how 
         such funds should be distributed, Administrative Agent may choose to 
         defer distribution of the funds which are the subject of such 
         uncertainty or dispute. If Administrative Agent in good faith believes 
         that the uncertainty or dispute will not be promptly resolved, or if 
         Administrative Agent is otherwise required to invest funds pending 
         distribution to the Lenders, Administrative Agent may invest such funds 
         pending distribution (at the risk of the Borrower). All interest on any 
         such investment shall be distributed upon the distribution of such 
         investment and in the same proportions and to the same Persons as such 
         investment. All monies received by Administrative Agent for 
         distribution to the Lenders (other than to the Person who is 
         Administrative Agent in its separate capacity as a Lender) shall be 
         held by the Administrative Agent pending such distribution solely as 
         Administrative Agent for such Lenders, and Administrative Agent shall 
         have no equitable title to any portion thereof. 
 
         16. EXERCISE OF RIGHTS. No failure to exercise, and no delay in 
exercising, on the part of the Administrative Agent or the Lenders, any right 
hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial 
exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise 
of any other right. The rights of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders 
hereunder shall be in addition to all other rights provided by law. No 
modification or waiver of any provision of the Loan Documents, including this 
Agreement, or the Notes nor consent to departure therefrom, shall be effective 
unless in writing, and no such consent or waiver shall extend beyond the 
particular case and purpose involved. No notice or demand given in any case 
shall constitute a waiver of the right to take other action in the same, similar 
or other circumstances without such notice or demand. 
 
         17. NOTICES. Any notices or other communications required or permitted 
to be given by this Agreement or any other documents and instruments referred to 
herein must be given in writing (which may be by facsimile transmission) and 
must be personally delivered or mailed by prepaid certified or registered mail 
to the party to whom such notice or communication is directed at the address of 
such party as follows: (a) BORROWER: GREAT LAKES ENERGY PARTNERS, L.L.C., 125 
State Route 43, Hartville, Ohio 44632, Attention: Thomas W. Stoelk, Chief 
Financial Officer, Facsimile No. (330) 877-4586; (b) Administrative Agent: BANK 
ONE, NA, 1717 Main Street, Dallas, Texas 75201, Facsimile No. (214) 290-2332, 
Attention: Wm. Mark Cranmer, Vice President. Any such notice or other 
communication shall be deemed to have been given (whether actually received or 
not) on the day it is personally delivered or 
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delivered by facsimile as aforesaid or, if mailed, on the third day after it is 
mailed as aforesaid. Any party may change its address for purposes of this 
Agreement by giving notice of such change to the other party pursuant to this 
Section 17. Any notice required to be given to the Lenders shall be given to the 
Administrative Agent and distributed to all Lenders by the Administrative Agent. 
 
         18. EXPENSES. The Borrower shall pay (i) all reasonable and necessary 
out-of-pocket expenses of the Administrative Agent, including reasonable fees 
and disbursements of special counsel for the Administrative Agent, in connection 
with the preparation of this Agreement, any waiver or consent hereunder or any 
amendment hereof or any default or Event of Default or alleged default or Event 
of Default hereunder, (ii) all reasonable and necessary out-of-pocket expenses 
of the Administrative Agent, including reasonable fees and disbursements of 
special counsel for the Administrative Agent in connection with the preparation 
of any participation agreement for a participant or participants requested by 
the Borrower or any amendment thereof and (iii) if an Event of Default occurs 
and is continuing, all reasonable and necessary out-of-pocket expenses incurred 
by the Lenders, including fees and disbursements of counsel, in connection with 
such default and Event of Default and collection and other enforcement 
proceedings resulting therefrom. THE BORROWER HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT GARDERE 
WYNNE SEWELL LLP IS SPECIAL COUNSEL TO BANK ONE, AS ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND AS 
A LENDER, UNDER THIS AGREEMENT AND THAT IT IS NOT COUNSEL TO, NOR DOES IT 
REPRESENT THE BORROWER IN CONNECTION WITH THE TRANSACTIONS DESCRIBED IN THIS 
AGREEMENT. The Borrower is relying on separate counsel in the transaction 
described herein. The Borrower shall indemnify the Lenders against any transfer 
taxes, document taxes, assessments or charges made by any governmental authority 
by reason of the execution, delivery and filing of the Loan Documents. The 
obligations of this Section 18 shall survive any termination of this Agreement, 
the expiration of the Loans and the payment of all indebtedness of the Borrower 
to the Lenders hereunder and under the Notes. 
 
         19. INDEMNITY. The Borrower agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the 
Agents and the Lenders and their respective officers, employees, agents, 
attorneys and representatives (singularly, an "Indemnified Party", and 
collectively, the "Indemnified Parties") from and against any loss, cost, 
liability, damage or expense (including the reasonable fees and out-of-pocket 
expenses of counsel to the Lenders, including all local counsel hired by such 
counsel) ("Claim") incurred by the Lenders in investigating or preparing for, 
defending against, or providing evidence, producing documents or taking any 
other action in respect of any commenced or threatened litigation, 
administrative proceeding or investigation under any federal securities law, 
federal or state environmental law, or any other statute of any jurisdiction, or 
any regulation, or at common law or otherwise, which is alleged to arise out of 
or is based upon any acts, practices or omissions or alleged acts, practices or 
omissions of the Borrower or its agents or arises in connection with the duties, 
obligations or performance of the Indemnified Parties in negotiating, preparing, 
executing, accepting, keeping, completing, countersigning, issuing, selling, 
delivering, releasing, assigning, handling, certifying, processing or receiving 
or taking any other action with respect to the Loan Documents and all documents, 
items and materials contemplated thereby even if any of the foregoing arises out 
of an Indemnified Party's ordinary 
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negligence. The indemnity set forth herein shall be in addition to any other 
obligations or liabilities of the Borrower to the Agents and the Lenders 
hereunder or at common law or otherwise, and shall survive any termination of 
this Agreement, the expiration of the Loans and the payment of all indebtedness 
of the Borrower to the Lenders hereunder and under the Notes, provided that the 
Borrower shall have no obligation under this Section to the Lenders with respect 
to any of the foregoing arising out of the gross negligence or willful 
misconduct of the Lenders. If any Claim is asserted against any Indemnified 
Party, the Indemnified Party shall endeavor to notify the Borrower of such Claim 
(but failure to do so shall not affect the indemnification herein made except to 
the extent of the actual harm caused by such failure). The Indemnified Party 
shall have the right to employ, at the Borrower's expense, counsel of the 
Indemnified Parties' choosing and to control the defense of the Claim. The 
Borrower may at its own expense also participate in the defense of any Claim. 
Each Indemnified Party may employ separate counsel in connection with any Claim 
to the extent such Indemnified Party believes it reasonably prudent to protect 
such Indemnified Party. THE PARTIES INTEND FOR THE PROVISIONS OF THIS SECTION TO 
APPLY TO AND PROTECT EACH INDEMNIFIED PARTY FROM THE CONSEQUENCES OF ANY 
LIABILITY INCLUDING STRICT LIABILITY IMPOSED OR THREATENED TO BE IMPOSED ON 
ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AS WELL AS FROM THE CONSEQUENCES OF ITS OWN NEGLIGENCE, 
WHETHER OR NOT THAT NEGLIGENCE IS THE SOLE, CONTRIBUTING, OR CONCURRING CAUSE OF 
ANY CLAIM. 
 
         20. GOVERNING LAW. THIS AGREEMENT IS BEING EXECUTED AND DELIVERED, AND 
IS INTENDED TO BE PERFORMED, IN DALLAS, DALLAS COUNTY, TEXAS, AND THE 
SUBSTANTIVE LAWS OF TEXAS SHALL GOVERN THE VALIDITY, CONSTRUCTION, ENFORCEMENT 
AND INTERPRETATION OF THIS AGREEMENT AND ALL OTHER DOCUMENTS AND INSTRUMENTS 
REFERRED TO HEREIN, UNLESS OTHERWISE SPECIFIED THEREIN. 
 
         21. INVALID PROVISIONS. If any provision of this Agreement is held to 
be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable under present or future laws effective 
during the term of this Agreement, such provisions shall be fully severable and 
this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such illegal, invalid or 
unenforceable provision had never comprised a part of this Agreement, and the 
remaining provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and 
shall not be affected by the illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision or by 
its severance from this Agreement. 
 
         22. MAXIMUM INTEREST RATE. Regardless of any provisions contained in 
this Agreement or in any other documents and instruments referred to herein, the 
Lenders shall never be deemed to have contracted for or be entitled to receive, 
collect or apply as interest on the Notes any amount in excess of the Maximum 
Rate, and in the event any Lender ever receives, collects or applies as interest 
any such excess, or if an acceleration of the maturities of any Notes or if any 
prepayment by the Borrower results in the Borrower having paid any interest in 
excess of the Maximum Rate, such amount which would be excessive interest shall 
be applied to the reduction of the unpaid principal balance of the Notes for 
which such excess was received, collected or applied, and, if the principal 
balance of such Note is paid in full, any remaining excess shall forthwith be 
paid to the Borrower. All sums paid or agreed to be paid to the Lenders 
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for the use, forbearance or detention of the indebtedness evidenced by the Notes 
and/or this Agreement shall, to the extent permitted by applicable law, be 
amortized, prorated, allocated and spread throughout the full term of such 
indebtedness until payment in full so that the rate or amount of interest on 
account of such indebtedness does not exceed the Maximum Rate. In determining 
whether or not the interest paid or payable under any specific contingency 
exceeds the Maximum Rate of interest permitted by law, the Borrower and the 
Lenders shall, to the maximum extent permitted under applicable law, (i) 
characterize any non-principal payment as an expense, fee or premium, rather 
than as interest; and (ii) exclude voluntary prepayments and the effect thereof; 
and (iii) compare the total amount of interest contracted for, charged or 
received with the total amount of interest which could be contracted for, 
charged or received throughout the entire contemplated term of the Note at the 
Maximum Rate. 
 
         23. AMENDMENTS. This Agreement may be amended only by an instrument in 
writing executed by an authorized officer of the party against whom such 
amendment is sought to be enforced. 
 
         24. MULTIPLE COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in a number 
of identical separate counterparts, each of which for all purposes is to be 
deemed an original, but all of which shall constitute, collectively, one 
agreement. No party to this Agreement shall be bound hereby until a counterpart 
of this Agreement has been executed by all parties hereto. 
 
         25. CONFLICT. In the event any term or provision hereof is inconsistent 
with or conflicts with any provision of the Loan Documents, the terms or 
provisions contained in this Agreement shall be controlling. 
 
         26. SURVIVAL. All covenants, agreements, undertakings, representations 
and warranties made in the Loan Documents, including this Agreement, the Notes 
or other documents and instruments referred to herein shall survive all closings 
hereunder and shall not be affected by any investigation made by any party. 
 
         27. PARTIES BOUND. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to 
the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors, assigns, 
heirs, legal representatives and estates, provided, however, that the Borrower 
may not, without the prior written consent of all of the Lenders, assign any 
rights, powers, duties or obligations hereunder. 
 
         28. ASSIGNMENTS AND PARTICIPATIONS. 
 
                  (a) ASSIGNMENTS. Each Lender shall have the right to sell, 
         assign or transfer all or any part of its Note or Notes, its Commitment 
         and its rights and obligations hereunder to one or more Affiliates, 
         banks, financial institutions, pension plans, insurance companies, 
         investment funds, or similar Persons who are Eligible Assignees or to a 
         Federal Reserve Bank; PROVIDED, that in connection with each sale, 
         assignment or transfer (other than to an Affiliate, a Lender or a 
         Federal Reserve Bank), shall require the consent of Administrative 
         Agent and the Borrower, which consents will not be unreasonably 
         withheld; provided, however, that if an Event of Default has occurred 
         and is continuing, 
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         the consent of the Borrower shall not be required. Any such assignee, 
         transferee or recipient shall have, to the extent of such sale, 
         assignment, or transfer, the same rights, benefits and obligations as 
         it would if it were such Lender and a holder of such Note, Commitment 
         and rights and obligations, including, without limitation, the right to 
         vote on decisions requiring consent or approval of all Lenders, 
         Required Lenders or Majority Lenders and the obligation to fund its 
         Commitment; provided, that (1) each such sale, assignment, or transfer 
         (other than to an Affiliate, a Lender or a Federal Reserve Bank) shall 
         be in an aggregate principal amount not less than $5,000,000, (2) each 
         remaining Lender shall at all times maintain Commitment then 
         outstanding in an aggregate principal amount at least equal to 
         $5,000,000; (3) each such sale, assignment or transfer shall be of a 
         Pro Rata portion of such Lender's Commitment, (4) no Lender may offer 
         to sell its Note or Notes, Commitment, rights and obligations or 
         interests therein in violation of any securities laws; and (5) no such 
         assignments (other than to a Federal Reserve Bank) shall become 
         effective until the assigning Lender and its assignee delivers to 
         Administrative Agent and Borrower an Assignment and Acceptance and the 
         Note or Notes subject to such assignment and other documents evidencing 
         any such assignment. An assignment fee in the amount of $3,500 for each 
         such assignment (other than to an Affiliate, a Lender or the Federal 
         Reserve Bank) will be payable to Administrative Agent by assignor or 
         assignee. Within five (5) Business Days after its receipt of copies of 
         the Assignment and Acceptance and the other documents relating thereto 
         and the Note or Notes, the Borrower shall execute and deliver to 
         Administrative Agent (for delivery to the relevant assignee) a new Note 
         or Notes evidencing such assignee's assigned Commitment and if the 
         assignor Lender has retained a portion of its Commitment, a replacement 
         Note in the principal amount of the Commitment retained by the assignor 
         (except as provided in the last sentence of this paragraph (a) such 
         Note or Notes to be in exchange for, but not in payment of, the Note or 
         Notes held by such Lender). On and after the effective date of an 
         assignment hereunder, the assignee shall for all purposes be a Lender, 
         party to this Agreement and any other Loan Document executed by the 
         Lenders and shall have all the rights and obligations of a Lender under 
         the Loan Documents, to the same extent as if it were an original party 
         thereto (except that an Affiliate of Borrower shall not have the right 
         to vote as a Lender on matters that other Lenders have the right to 
         vote on under the provisions of the Agreement), and no further consent 
         or action by Borrower, Lenders or the Administrative Agent shall be 
         required to release the transferor Lender with respect to its 
         Commitment assigned to such assignee and the transferor Lender shall 
         henceforth be so released. 
 
                  (b) PARTICIPATIONS. Each Lender shall have the right to grant 
         participations in all or any part of such Lender's Notes and Commitment 
         hereunder to one or more pension plans, investment funds, insurance 
         companies, financial institutions or other Persons, provided, that: 
 
                           (i) each Lender granting a participation shall retain 
                  the right to vote hereunder, and no participant shall be 
                  entitled to vote hereunder on decisions 
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                  requiring consent or approval of Lenders, Required Lenders or 
                  Majority Lenders (except as set forth in (iii) below); 
 
                           (ii) in the event any Lender grants a participation 
                  hereunder, such Lender's obligations under the Loan Documents 
                  shall remain unchanged, such Lender shall remain solely 
                  responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of 
                  such obligations, such Lender shall remain the holder of any 
                  such Note or Notes for all purposes under the Loan Documents, 
                  and Administrative Agent, each Lender and Borrower shall be 
                  entitled to deal with the Lender granting a participation in 
                  the same manner as if no participation had been granted; and 
 
                           (iii) no participant shall ever have any right by 
                  reason of its participation to exercise any of the rights of 
                  Lenders hereunder, except that any Lender may agree with any 
                  participant that such Lender will not, without the consent of 
                  such participant (which consent may not be unreasonably 
                  withheld) consent to any amendment or waiver requiring 
                  approval of all Lenders. 
 
                  (c) FINANCIAL INFORMATION. It is understood and agreed that 
         any Lender may provide to assignees and participants and prospective 
         assignees and participants financial information and reports and data 
         concerning Borrower's properties and operations which was provided to 
         such Lender pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
                  (d) ASSIGNEES' AND PARTICIPANTS' INDEMNITY. Upon the 
         reasonable request of either Administrative Agent or Borrower, each 
         Lender will identify those to whom it has assigned or participated any 
         part of its Notes and Commitment, and provide the amounts so assigned 
         or participated. 
 
         29. CHOICE OF FORUM; Consent to Service of Process and Jurisdiction. 
THE OBLIGATIONS OF BORROWER UNDER THE LOAN DOCUMENTS ARE PERFORMABLE IN DALLAS 
COUNTY, TEXAS. ANY SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING AGAINST THE BORROWER WITH RESPECT 
TO THE LOAN DOCUMENTS OR ANY JUDGMENT ENTERED BY ANY COURT IN RESPECT THEREOF, 
MAY BE BROUGHT IN THE COURTS OF THE STATE OF TEXAS, COUNTY OF DALLAS, OR IN THE 
UNITED STATES COURTS LOCATED IN DALLAS COUNTY, TEXAS AND THE BORROWER HEREBY 
SUBMITS TO THE NON-EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF SUCH COURTS FOR THE PURPOSE OF ANY 
SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING. THE BORROWER HEREBY IRREVOCABLY CONSENTS TO 
SERVICE OF PROCESS IN ANY SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING IN SAID COURT BY THE 
MAILING THEREOF BY LENDER BY REGISTERED OR CERTIFIED MAIL, POSTAGE PREPAID, TO 
THE BORROWER, AS APPLICABLE, AT THE ADDRESS FOR NOTICES AS PROVIDED IN SECTION 
17. THE BORROWER HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY OBJECTION WHICH IT MAY NOW OR 
HEREAFTER HAVE TO THE LAYING OF VENUE OF ANY SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING 
OUT OF OR RELATING TO ANY LOAN 
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DOCUMENT BROUGHT IN THE COURTS LOCATED IN THE STATE OF TEXAS, COUNTY OF DALLAS, 
AND HEREBY FURTHER IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY CLAIM THAT ANY SUCH SUIT, ACTION OR 
PROCEEDING BROUGHT IN ANY SUCH COURT HAS BEEN BROUGHT IN AN INCONVENIENT FORUM. 
 
         30. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. THE BORROWER HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST 
EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY 
LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS 
CONTEMPLATED HEREBY. 
 
         31. OTHER AGREEMENTS. THIS WRITTEN CREDIT AGREEMENT REPRESENTS THE 
FINAL AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES AND MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF 
PRIOR, CONTEMPORANEOUS, OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES. THERE ARE 
NO UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS BETWEEN THE PARTIES. 
 
         32. FINANCIAL TERMs. All accounting terms used in this Agreement which 
are not specifically defined herein shall be construed in accordance with GAAP. 
 
         33. JOINDER OF GUARANTORS. The Guarantors are executing this Restated 
Credit Agreement to (i) consent and agree to the execution of this Restated 
Credit Agreement and the other documents to be executed in connection herewith, 
(ii) acknowledge and agree to the provisions of this Restated Credit Agreement, 
(iii) ratify and confirm their respective Guaranties, and (iv) agree that their 
respective Guaranties shall remain in full force and effect and shall continue 
to be the legal, valid and binding obligation of each such Guarantor enforceable 
against each such Guarantor in accordance with the terms of each such Guaranty. 
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         IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be 
duly executed as of the day and year first above written. 
 
                                    BORROWER: 
                                    --------- 
 
                                    GREAT LAKES ENERGY PARTNERS, L.L.C., a 
                                    Delaware  limited liability company 
 
 
                                    By: 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                    Name: 
                                         --------------------------------------- 
                                    Title: 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
 
                                   GUARANTORS: 
                                   ----------- 
 
                                   OCEANA EXPLORATION COMPANY, L.C. 
 
                                    By:  Great Lakes Energy Partners, L.L.C., 
                                         manging member 
 
 
                                         By: 
                                            ------------------------------------ 
                                         Name: 
                                              ---------------------------------- 
                                         Title: 
                                               --------------------------------- 
 
                                    OHIO INTRASTATE GAS TRANSMISSION 
                                    COMPANY 
 
 
                                    By: 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                    Name: 
                                         --------------------------------------- 
                                    Title: 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
 
                                    GREAT LAKES GAS TRANSPORT LLC 
 
 
                                    By: 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                    Name: 
                                         --------------------------------------- 
                                    Title: 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
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                                    ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT: 
                                    --------------------- 
 
                                    BANK ONE, NA 
 
 
                                    By: 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                             Wm. Mark Cranmer 
                                             Vice President 
 
                                    SYNDICATION AGENT: 
                                    ------------------ 
 
                                    THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK 
                                    (successor by merger to Chase Bank of 
                                     Texas National Association) 
 
 
 
                                    By: 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                    Name: 
                                         --------------------------------------- 
                                    Title: 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
 
                                    DOCUMENTATION AGENT: 
                                    ------------------- 
 
                                    BANKERS TRUST COMPANY 
 
 
                                    By: 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                    Name: 
                                         --------------------------------------- 
                                    Title: 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
 
                                    MANAGING AGENTS: 
                                    --------------- 
 
                                    CREDIT LYONNAIS NEW YORK BRANCH 
 
 
                                    By: 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                    Name: 
                                         --------------------------------------- 
                                    Title: 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
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                                    THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA 
 
 
                                    By: 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                    Name: 
                                         --------------------------------------- 
                                    Title: 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
 
                                    LENDERS: 
                                    -------- 
 
                                    BANK ONE, NA, 
                                    a national banking association 
 
 
                                    By: 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                             Wm. Mark Cranmer 
                                             Vice President 
 
                                    THE CHASE MANHATTAN BANK 
                                    (successor by merger to Chase Bank of 
                                     Texas National Association) 
 
 
 
                                    By: 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                    Name: 
                                         --------------------------------------- 
                                    Title: 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
 
                                    BANKERS TRUST COMPANY 
 
 
                                    By: 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                    Name: 
                                         --------------------------------------- 
                                    Title: 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
 
                                    THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA 
 
 
                                    By: 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                    Name: 
                                         --------------------------------------- 
                                    Title: 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
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                                    BANK OF SCOTLAND 
 
 
                                    By: 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                    Name: 
                                         --------------------------------------- 
                                    Title: 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
 
                                    CREDIT LYONNAIS NEW YORK BRANCH 
 
 
                                    By: 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                    Name: 
                                         --------------------------------------- 
                                    Title: 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
 
                                    FORTIS CAPITAL CORP. 
 
 
                                    By: 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                    Name: 
                                         --------------------------------------- 
                                    Title: 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
 
 
                                    By: 
                                       ----------------------------------------- 
                                    Name: 
                                         --------------------------------------- 
                                    Title: 
                                          -------------------------------------- 
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